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CHINA NICKEL RESOURCES i B 85 B R

China Nickel Resources is a leading integrated hi-tech special steel, non-ferrous metal FREEEATEAREMB((HE]) —RELN
and mineral enterprise in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company was 4 & o2 AN = A —
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock ;E?E%E%E%i%gﬁié o th(%%x;jﬁ’;;

Exchange”) in 2005 (stock code: 2889.HK) and is the first non-state-owned mineral-
resources exploration, development, and processing enterprises, and is the first hi-tech

R ET(RMHRSE - 2889.HK) - B EIE —KIEH

special steel producer in the PRC listed abroad. Our businesses are now vertically ﬁﬁ%?}ﬁ}ﬁ%%ﬁ;ﬁﬁ%ﬂbﬂlﬁ% PR 9?_\
integrated from mining to ferrous and non-ferrous metal production. We have REFI EMRRB AT AEER - REROTK
successfully transformed from a traditional special steel manufacturer to a leading HABINBRENERCEBAENEERS  BHER
integrated mineral-resources exploration and processing enterprise in the PRC. Our A ERRIIEA A HELENBELSRIDG

businesses include ore trading, ore processing, ferrous and non-ferrous metallurgy. Our MINTEA0E  ¥BaEBAES BAMI -

products have been extended to stainless steel, tool steel, bearing steel, gearing steel, PEULEELEBLE  ERRECERETSH -

and high strength alloy steel; and these products are widely used in metallurgy, I@Eﬁﬂ A - ﬁ?fl’l REHEASHE 2=
automobile, ship-building, petrochemical, buildings, bridges, railway transportation and Y ’ SR AS « EE . SR - b - A
infrastructures. The Group has successfully developed a number of innovative and B B2 - A® Q & - o
patented technologies. For example, we used our own technology to extract valuable ﬁt’{{ ﬁﬂx*ﬁ, ﬁ[]?k ﬁﬁ 7%.)@%%@}%&
metals from the multi-element low-grade ore; which is able to produce high strength TR B F A A - I fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂgﬁ\iﬂgqﬂ
and high-value-added NiCr based alloy steel products from inferior ore resources. The RREE2E YMNALERERELSHINER
Group capitalises on its own exclusive offtake right on mineral resources and MEREKNNEEAEESMER SEKITE S
technological advantages to enter into the mineral resources and ore processing HMEEESRBREERNMEMNERE ABESRM
industries. With the long-term exclusive offtake agreement entered into with an BANMTAE - ZRENE—EREITIHESRS
!ndonesm mine, thg Grgup is actively expanding in .the PRC ano! overseas and is seeklng R . @ FE BRI ERIER - BT
iron and nickel mine investment and partnership opportunities in Southeast Asia. FETHESHS SRR ERAEEE - B

Currently, the Group has subsidiaries and offices in the PRC, Hong Kong, Singapore,
and Indonesia with a global workforce of over 1,200 people.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFBEHME

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION B ERSE

PEEERERBRAR(ARAR ) KA B
RE (AT [AEE DR BEDEYRFE
WIETXHEMBEERRZEAMES - &

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of China Nickel Resources Holdings
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter

collectively referred as to the “Group”) for the last five financial

years prepared on the basis set out in the note below is as

E -~ BERIHERED BT

follows:
Results &
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—EB—=F —T——F _F2—F ZF2-FF _TTNF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
FET FET FAT FET FBTT
Revenue Wz 1,635,170 1,810,036 3,114,804 1,774,127 1,007,415
Cost of sales SHE A (1,664,620) (1,656,057) (2,718,530) (1,578,579) (1,230,037)
Gross (loss)/profit (F8) EF (29,450) 153,979 396,274 195548  (222,622)
Other gains/(loss), net Huplezs, (E518)
FEE 49,477 (100,414) 180,356 84,187 107,933
Selling and distribution SHE K& AR
costs (5,196)  (19,225)  (52,109)  (26,946)  (28,267)
Administrative expenses THAX (284,672) (243,040) (155,727) (169,146)  (152,064)
Finance income BEUWA 17,735 20,546 11,767 9,510 17,460
Finance costs A& KA (280,927) (356,547) (246,868) (104,470) (98,162)
Other expenses B (67,737)  (10,981) (18,639) (31,982) (119,872
Gain on disposal of HE—EH B A ]
a subsidiary 2B - 675,291 - - -
Impairment losses on M BB R
property,plant and BEEE
equipment (726,185) (151,883) - (4,937) (2,951)
Share of (loss)/profit of e /N
an associate (E38) % 7 (13,508) 851 4,230 21,613 —
(Loss)/profit before tax ~ BRBiAT (&518) %% (1,340,463)  (31,423) 119,284 (26,623)  (498,545)
Income tax (expense)/credit FrEE (k) &EI1E (25,043) (248,293) (38,181) 29,584 123,421
(Loss)/profit for the year F[E (&18) a5 (1,365,506) (279,716) 81,103 2,961  (375,124)
Attributable to: B
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZEPN (1,366,411)  (278,301) 79,856 1,695  (376,925)
Non-controlling interests Bl iy ey 905 (1,415) 1,247 1,266 1,801
(1,365,506) (279,716) 81,103 2,961  (375,124)
Dividends ’RE - 23,043 - 4,588 -

4 GEKRSFRERERAT —E-ZFFERE



Five-Year Financial Summary

A FRBHRE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

BE  BERFERES

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

—®-=F -F--F “F—4F —FT-TF “FEINE

HK$’000 HK$OOO HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FRERT TAETT TBTT THETT TETT

Total assets BE 6,316,918 7,824,022 8,151,068 8,276,075 7,608,257

Total liabilities mafE 3,498,941 3,819,426 3,721,760 3,761,591 3,210,296

Non-controlling interests FEERR A 9,450 18,005 150,004 141,699 137,682

Net assets FEE 2,817,977 4,004,596 4,429,308 4,514,483 4,397,961

Note: e

The consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2009, KREBREBE-_ZEENGFE —FT—FF —FT——FRKR-F

2010, 2011 and 2012 are extracted from the Annual Report 2009, 2010, 2011 and
2012 of the Company respectively (as restated from RMB to HK$) while those for
the year ended 31 December 2013 were prepared based on the consolidated
income statement and consolidated statement of financial position as set out on
page 67 and pages 69 to 71. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.
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Corporate Responsibility
TEEE

UNLIMITED COMMITMENT WITH LIMITED ERER BEEER
RESOURCES

It is the responsibility of an enterprise to utilise limited resources i N2 B ETZ N REAAISHEBR AR ER LR
an efficient way and protect the environment with dedication and  #:1Big - KEBBE—EFRZ & [ EEAR =
creativity. Aiming to fulfil unlimited commitment with limited (FT&[R |E—1=45  E IR FERHFHIBENRE
resources, the Group has devoted efforts in the research and  fiffE R B RER Y EEN MG FIH -
development of new and green technologies and products in  pliEF|sEkk « EHEHERERBAFRES
order to realise the targets of high recovery rate, low emission as BiZ . B EHZ AEFEEFHEZFEREE
well as resources recycling with effective and comprehensive use & A5 38 & 25 5 i = 1) & B 2R -

of resources. The management believes that the Group is able to

bring satisfactory economic returns for the investors through

proper use of limited resources.

6 TEKSEFRERERAT —E-ZFFERE



Recognition and Awards
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Projects Progress

HHER

THE PRC

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited (“East
Harvest Mining”), a subsidiary of the Company, commenced the
construction of a new production plant on 28 October 2009. The
first production line of Lianyungang project started trial production
in the second half year of 2012. The plant produces nickel fine
powder. This product can be treated as finished product for direct
sales; alternatively, it can be treated in a blast furnace and
possessed into a nickel-iron alloy fluid, which becomes a high-
quality raw material for the production of stainless steel. The
Lianyungang project applies low carbon metallurgical technology
developed by the Group. Ordinary coal, rather than coke used in
traditional process, is used in the reduction purification process,
under which the consumption of carbon may decrease by up to
40%. In addition, the plant can utilise low grade nickel ore for
production, the cost of which is much lower than that used in
traditional production process. The project is highly recognised by
the local government. Moreover, the plant is situated at the
Lianyungang port and benefits from geographical advantages.
Ores and other raw materials from overseas can be conveniently
transported to the plant, largely reducing the inland transportation
costs and logistics pressure. This project will play an important
role in the Group’s development of an operating mode with high
efficiency and low costs.

Although the Lianyungang plant is ready for commercial
production, it would not be profitable in the short term due to
depression in nickel price. Therefore, management has decided
to postpone the production plan to a later period when the nickel
price rebound. Due to suspension of production together with the
Export Ban (as defined in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 January 2014), the expected recoverable amount of the
plant decreased from last year. As a result, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”) made a provision for
impairment of the property, plant and equipment of the plant
amounted to HK$530.4 million in 2013.

8 TERKSEFERARAT —E-ZFFERE
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Projects Progress

HHER

OVERSEAS

PT. Mandan Steel , our wholly owned subsidiary, is incorporated
in Indonesia and is the future processing and manufacturing arm
in overseas. PT. Mandan Steel is also recognised as a key iron
and steel mill construction project of Indonesia with strong
support from the Indonesian central government, and offers
manufacturing capability that is valuable considering the new
mining regulations in Indonesia. The PT. Batulicin Steel, our
subsidiary incorporated in Indonesia will produce steel bar for
concrete reinforcement to capture the market opportunities in
Indonesia. This processing facility can save shipping fee, loading
and unloading charges and inland port charges. The Stage |
development is facilitated and based on the overall relocation of
the equipment from Luoyang Yongan Special Steel Company
Limited (“Yongan Special Steel”), a former wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. To ensure high quality, environmental
protection, energy efficiency and low production cost, new
equipment will be added to existing equipment and some existing
facilities will be modified.

Due to the Export Ban together with the delay in disposal of 30%
equity interest of S.E.A. Mineral Limited (“SEAM”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, the Group is seeking other financing
sources to facilitate the development of the project. The Directors
expect that the Stage 1 of the project can be completed within 18
months after the funding from other financing sources is available.

=4

AARENEFMAKZZEENE R FPT.
Mandan Steel AAXNEERRAEFINNT RAE
# © PT. Mandan Steel TMERRE & EE & 2 i
BIMGERIER - SRHERRBTSE NI
BEHEMIHRFESRTE TIREETENERL - K
A A 1E ENJE 5% 0 A 32 &9 B B8 2 &1 PT. Batulicin
Steel & AEEMAEMBR B Z A ML
JER) TG o 10 T % A] B0 B AR -
RHERERAESODER - F—RERESE
BIREENRAQFRI2EN B R REE KL
AR AR (KR )RENEEENLTE -
AREFEEEER RR RAEREEEK
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INEIEER ©
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Dear Shareholders,

| hereby present the Annual Report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2013 and extend my gratitude to all the
shareholders on behalf of the Board of China Nickel Resources
Holdings Company Limited.

REVIEW

2013 is a year full of challenges for both the market and the
Group. The overall global macro-economic environment improved,
with slow recovery in the world major economies represented by
the United States and the Europe. The PRC economy continued
to slow down, with the gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth
rate falling to 7.7% which nevertheless showed a trend of
stabilisation.

During the year, the commodity price of iron ore also experienced
significant fluctuations. The ore trading business continued to
make significant contribution to the Group’s profitability and cash
flows. Both revenue and sales volume reached record high in
2013. However, the Export Ban which was implemented in early
2014 by the relevant governmental authorities of Indonesia has
casted significant doubt on the Group’s financial performance and
cash flows in 2014.

Besides, there was also a sign of slowdown of the PRC’s
economy that the demand for the iron and steel in the PRC in
2013 was sluggish. The steel-making business continued to be
hindered by over-supply issue and the structural reform of the
PRC’s economy. Prices of steel products also dropped
significantly as a result of the steel manufacturers cut their
inventory level. Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Company
Limited (“Yongtong Special Steel”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group, took the opportunity of weak market demand to re-
adjust its product mix and upgrade its production facilities in
2013. This led to low production and sales volume in 2013.

The above unfavourable factors brought substantial negative
impacts to the Group’s operational and financial performance in
the coming year. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Group’s turnover dropped when compared with last year and the
Group recorded a substantial loss mainly due to the significant
provision for impairment losses of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments of HK$746.9 million.

SRR
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Although the financial results of the Group recorded unexpectedly
substantial loss due to the above-mentioned reasons, the Group
still completed a re-adjustment of product mix and upgrade of
production facilities to focus on the production of high-end alloy,
bearing steel and high strength stainless structural steel products
catering for household, electricity, communications, photovoltaic
and animal husbandry uses etc., which will generate higher
margin with lesser impact affected by macro economy. The Group
has achieved multiple patents relating with the new products, and
also made certain progress in market expansion by obtaining new
bulk orders placed by Taiwan market.

PROSPECTS

We expect the economy of the PRC will continue its healthy
growth trend under a novel general thinking of the new leadership
and the demand and profitability of our steel products will rebound
in future.

In a longer term, we expect the PRC will continue its
modernisation and urbanisation that the demand of high quality
steel products for public infrastructure and equipment
manufacturing will increase steadily. This definitely will bring
enormous business opportunities for our Group.

In 2013, Yongtong Special Steel, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group, completed the production facilities upgrade and the
product transformation to achieve an annual production capacity
of 500,000 tonnes high quality special steel products. In the short
and medium term, the Group has made certain progress in new
project financing and will strive to complete the overseas steel mill
projects as planned.

We believe that after the technology industrialisation and
modernisation of steel products, the Group will have a stronger
competitive advantage in the industry.

| have confident to achieve our restated performance targets

through the cooperation with all staff to bring fruitful returns to our
shareholders.

Dong Shutong
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 7 October 2014

12 FESRERZERERAT  —S—ZFEFEHRS

BEALERRAEPRBRHZENEE &6
MEKTEREENFHELNREERBNTT
B ARKKBEREESES DN - HREIAR
BAERE - EN BA - ARAREHERSR
MERETHEENER  YEERMERE
BEZREN - HBERMNEER  IXLBELHE
P EHER D - EEAEMISREERT MBS —
TER  CEFEREEMGESHENIE -

ARERRE

BPEATBREERERBEENHERET G
ERETHERRER  HRNEENHERNT
S 58

FEME - BT IR P B A A IR K1 Sk
L AARBIREBREXSRTERE &
MEPHERmENEERNTR - EHAEE
TRAENHEKS -

—TFFR FENEETFRTKBERH
STREERBNIA - ERBESFESOEM
S ERH - PRESR SECKEHRAR
B HEBRGHEEER  UKE LTS THE
SN SERRIR B o

HPIREERMEREMBRICTRIL - KE
BETEARSEGNHNBHFES -

AABELEREI -REXREEBR
REESEH DR

21ike

TEFREE
EEE

&5 —FT—NF+A+H



Management
Discussion and
Analysis

EEENWED T

AT RRL I

m
I |

— Wainlain & Yocus On =
Cosl Contrals In The Coming Q@W




Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS BEEE
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2013 2012
—E—-= —EF——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue Wz 1,635,170 1,810,036
Gross (Loss)/Profit E8),F (29,450) 153,979
(Loss)/Earnings before Interest, Tax, BRFE - TRIE - TEREERZ
Depreciation and Amortisation® (E518) B A (80,049) (12,323)
Loss before Tax LRI (1,340,463) (31,423
Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of RATIHEE A AEREE
the Company (1,366,411) (278,301)
Gross (Loss)/Profit Margin E(B) FIE -1.8% 8.5%
EBITDA Margin EBITDA % -4.9% -0.7%
# (Loss)/Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation ~ * BRFS - BHIE - T8 REEHAT (B518), & F (TEBITDAL)

(“EBITDA”) also excluded impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments of HK$746.9 million (2012:
HK$151.9 million) and a gain on disposal of Luoyang Yongan Special Steel
Co., Ltd, a former subsidiary of the Group in the PRC, of HK$675.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT ANALYSIS

In 2013, the PRC’s steel market continued to be negatively
affected by over-supply and the structural reform of the PRC’s
economy. As a result, price and demand of steel products
remained low which narrowed the profit margins for most steel
products.

The weak demand for steel products in the PRC created immense
pressure on the commodity prices of iron ores. Overall, the iron
ores market was more stable in 2013 and the Group sold
approximately 3.5 million dry tonnes of iron ores, representing an
increase of 1.1 million dry tonnes when compared with 2012.

We remain pessimistic about the steel market in the PRC in the
short term due to the continuation of over-supply and the
structural reform of the PRC’s economy. We expect the prices of
steel products and iron ores will not have significant rebound in
the near future. However, in the long term, we expect the global
economy will gradually recover and the economy of the PRC wiill
maintain its healthy growth trend under the new leadership. Going
forward, domestic market in the PRC will become quality-
oriented, which will impose higher requirements on products in
terms of environmental-friendliness, safety and durability,
sustainability and recycling. We expect that quantitative demand
for high quality steel products will increase significantly in the long
run, and product development will incline to the high-end market.

To capture these business opportunities, the Group has shifted to
the production of high quality iron and steel products through the
application of more environmental-friendly production method.
Moreover, the Group had completed a re-adjustment of product
mix and upgrade of production facilities in 2013 to focus on the
production of steel products catering for household, photovoltaic
and animal husbandry uses etc. The Directors believe that the re-
adjustment of product mix and upgrade of production facilities will
help the Group to capture the increasing demand in high-end
steel products. The Directors believe that the demand of our
special steel, alloy steel and stainless steel products will increase
in the future.

However, as the current operating environment as a whole
remains weak, the Directors have reviewed the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and prepaid land
lease payments in the Group’s plants in Zhengzhou and made a
provision for impairment of HK$211.4 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Project Progress

In the PRC

East Harvest Mining, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
has constructed a production plant to produce nickel fine powder.
The first production line of the production plant had started trial
production in the second half year of 2012. The nickel fine powder
can be treated as finished product for direct sales; alternatively, it
can be treated in a blast furnace and possessed into nickel-iron
alloy fluid, which becomes a high-quality raw material for the
production of stainless steel. The Lianyungang plant applies low
carbon metallurgical technology developed by the Group.
Ordinary coal, rather than coke used in traditional process, is
used in the reduction purification process, under which the
consumption of carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In addition,
the plant can utilise low grade nickel ore for production, the cost
of which is much lower than that used in traditional production
process. The project is highly recognised by the local government.
Moreover, the plant is situated at the Lianyungang port and
benefits from geographical advantages. Ores and other raw
materials from overseas can be conveniently transported to the
plant, largely reducing the inland transportation costs and logistics
pressure.

Although the Lianyungang plant is ready for commercial
production, it would not be profitable in the short term due to
depression in nickel price. Therefore, management has decided
to suspend the production plan to a later period when the nickel
price rebound. Due to suspension of production together with the
Export Ban, the expected recoverable amount of the plant
decreased from last year. As a result, the Directors made a
provision for impairment of the property, plant and equipment of
the plant amounted to HK$530.4 million in 2013.

In Indonesia

PT. Mandan Steel, our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in
Indonesia, is our future processing and manufacturing arm in
overseas. PT. Mandan Steel is also recognised as a key iron and
steel mill construction project of Indonesia with strong support
from Indonesia central government, and offers manufacturing
capability that is valuable considering the new mining regulations
in Indonesia. The steel mill project will produce steel bar for
concrete reinforcement to capture the market opportunities in
Indonesia. This processing facility can save shipping fee, loading
and unloading charges and inland port charges. The Stage 1
development is facilitated and based on the overall relocation of
the equipment from Yongan Special Steel, a former wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. To ensure high quality, environmental
protection, energy efficiency and low production cost, new
equipment will be added to existing equipment and some existing
facilities will be modified. Due to the Export Ban together with the
delay in disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, the Group is seeking other financing
sources to facilitate the development of the project. The Directors
expect that the Stage 1 of the project can be completed within 18
months after the funding from other financing sources is available.
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Business Development

Ore trading business

The Group purchases ores from Indonesia through an exclusive
offtake agreement at fixed price for self-use or for sale, and has
started selling ores to third parties since the end of 2009. The ore
trading business had a remarkable contribution to our profitability
and cash flows in the past few years due to strong demand from
the PRC customers. In 2013, the Group’s ore trading business
continued to make a significant contribution to our profitability and
cash flows. In 2013, approximately 91% of the turnover of the
Group was derived from the ore trading business.

However, pursuant to the relevant regulations promulgated in
Indonesia, unprocessed ore export by mining business licence
holders in Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) was banned from 12 January
2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing
and refining domestically according to Government Regulation
No. 23 of 2010 regarding implementation of activities of business
of minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and
smelting in accordance with Law No. 4 of 2009 regarding
minerals and coal mining (“Export Ban”). Due to the Export Ban,
the ore trading business of the Group has been interrupted and it
is anticipated that this will have a continuous significant negative
impact on the financial and operating results of the Group.

It is possible that the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may
be amended but there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be
uplifted in near future. While the Group will continue to identify and
develop ore supplies from other sources for trading and self-
manufacturing purposes, we expect that the revenue from our ore
trading business in 2014 will be significantly lower than that in
2013 if the Export Ban is not uplifted in the near future.

Steel-making operations

For the steel-making operations of the Group, both the sales
volume and profit margins of stainless steel base materials and
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot continued to be low during the year as a
result of weak demand and intense competition in the PRC. In
addition, the production plant of our Yongtong Special Steel took
the opportunity of weak market demand to re-adjust its product
mix and upgrade its production facilities during March to
November 2013. This also led to low production and sales volume
in 2013. Since early of May 2014, the Group’s steel-making
operations has resumed its production gradually.

While we expect the keen competition in the PRC’s steel market
will continue in 2014, the demand for steel products will gradually
pick up. The Group is actively developing new high value-added
steel products and identifying overseas markets with growth
potentials to strengthen our product portfolio and reduce market
concentration risk.
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Financing Arrangement

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$1,243.2 million. The Group has been actively
negotiating with PRC and overseas banks and institutional
investors for new borrowings and renewal of existing borrowings
when they fall due. During the year, the Group had successfully
obtained bank and other borrowings of HK$1,598.6 million to
finance our operation and for repayment of our borrowings when
they fall due. Based on management’s past experience, the
Group did not encounter significant difficulties in renewing the
borrowings.

In addition, based on the framework agreement with a potential
investor for the disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, the aggregate consideration will
be approximately RMB900 million. The transaction is still in
progress due to the rapid change in operating and regulatory
environment of our subsidiary, and the potential investor needs
more time for conducting due diligence work. The Directors
expect that the transaction will be completed by the end of 2014
and believe that the above financing arrangements can improve
the liquidity and financial position of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and sales volume
Major products of the Group were stainless steel base materials,
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot, ferro-nickel alloys and limonitic ores. The
table below sets out the turnover and sales volume of our
products for the years indicated:

Turnover

mMEZH

HE-_T—=F+-A=+—H8B KEHZH&
FREFEANI2I32AEET  AEFEDH
FEIER NBIMNEITA R BT E EERER
FERNREEHNREERESR - FR - A&
B EFES1,5986 A& BILZRITERLHE
HEE  UWBENAEENKEES MEKE
B -RERMEEBNBEILER  A£BEEE
FEBAEARBIE R E AR -

BESN - IR PR AN SR [ B AT B E F] AR Rk
BRUHESAREBEEBROAREOOEETHER
EE2EMNBARBFREI0% R ° ENHK
MMBARNKEERELREERRSE 2
SINEETTH  MEKEEFTEEZRBEAETT
ERES EZEFENXIHEN _T-OFFE
SeRK - WARE LB E R A A EAKRE 2R
PET MPBEAR

Bt %5 [0 B

EEENEE
AEBZI2ERASTHMER RS 2H
i RES S NBEE - TR AEEEM
RIIRFEZEXBRHE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=1+—BHLFE

2013 2012
—EgE—= —_EF—=
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FHT % T T %
Mineral Resources: ETYER :
Limonitic ores 1R R 1,493,930 91% 1,127,900 62%
Iron and Steel Products: meEEm -
Stainless steel base materials NG Bkt 19,446 1% 379,096 21%
Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot and 884 4 4 R H b
others 42,277 3% 162,716 9%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot RIS T 79,517 5% 140,324 8%
Total #st 1,635,170 100% 1,810,036 100%

18 HFERERZRERAT —S—ZFEFEHRS



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERE WD

Sales volume

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-H=+—HLEE

2013 2012
—_Z2—= —_F—=
(tonnes) % (tonnes) %
(AWE) % (AWE) %
Mineral Resources: BYER :
Limonitic ores 1BEE 3,532,417 100% 2,443,447 96%
Iron and Steel Products: MERMA
Stainless steel base materials NG5 8 E okt 3,808 0% 46,328 2%
Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot and 884 4 4z & H b
others 10,371 0% 29,296 1%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot RiRE T 8,281 0% 13,469 1%
Total w@et 3,554,877 100% 2,532,540 100%

The Group’s turnover in 2013 decreased by HK$174.8 million, or
9.7%, to approximately HK$1,635.2 million (2012: HK$1,810.0
million). The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in sales
of stainless steel base materials, ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot and
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot.

During the year, the Group’s ore trading business continued to be
the key profit and cash flows contributor of the Group. In 2013,
the Group sold 3,532,417 dry tonnes of ores (2012: 2,443,447
dry tonnes) and achieved a turnover of HK$1,493.9 million (2012:
HK$1,127.9 million).

Pursuant to the Export Ban in Indonesia, unprocessed iron ore
export from PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan”) to our Group has been
suspended from 12 January 2014 onwards. The ore trading
business of the Group has been interrupted and it is anticipated
that this will have a significant negative impact on the financial and
operating results of the Group in 2014 and after. It is possible that
the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may be amended but
there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be uplifted in future.

In addition, as a result of the weak demand and intense market
competition in the PRC, both the sales volume and profit margins
of our steel products remained low during the year.

The Group’s sales volume of stainless steel base materials and
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot in 2013 decreased by approximately 42,520
tonnes and 5,188 tonnes, or 91.8% and 38.5%, to approximately
3,808 tonnes and 8,281 tonnes respectively (2012: 46,328 tonnes
and 13,469 tonnes). The Group’s sales volume of limonitic ores in
2013 increased by approximately 1.1 million dry tonnes, or 44.6%
to approximately 3.5 million dry tonnes (2012: 2.4 million dry
tonnes). During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group’s
average selling price per tonne for stainless steel base materials
and Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot were HK$5,107 (2012: HK$8,183) and
HK$9,602 (2012: HK$10,418) respectively while the average unit
selling price per dry tonne for limonitic ores was HK$423 (2012:
HK$462).

AEBR-_ZE—ZF2EXERI17488 8
BITE9.7%E41,635.2A8 B T(ZE——F
1,8100E&AETT) TERHNTHMELR

TR AEENEAESEBEEAREER
BIrEXEFLRBELRE RIT—=F K&
BEH 35324178 AEEEALA(ZE— —F :
2,443 4475, AME) - WEEIS1,493.0B&EBLZ
BEE(ZE—CZF 11219\ EBT) °
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BN T —F REE B REEEBETR
EREETE - HEMEMRERII S
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HEEBD R ATELE AMESA107TBT(ZE——F
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Cost of sales
The cost of sales in 2013 increased by HK$8.5 million, or 0.5%,

HERA

RZTE—=%F" iﬁ’iﬁi$iﬁﬂﬂ8 5@%‘%}57_5%

to approximately HK$1,664.6 million (2012: HK$1,656.1 million). 05% % #)16646EH & B (=T — — & :
The increase in cost of sales was mainly due to impairment losses ~ 1,656.1 F &5 1) o 445 ik 2 1 jJDsz -
of inventories of HK$88.8 million (2012: HK$19.1 million) Z—=F®RATHEFE maﬁéﬂass 8sEEBIL(Z
recognised in 2013 and partially offsetted by decrease in sales ZT——4 : 191 BEETT) @ D AR
volume. I o

The unit costs of sales for stainless steel base materials and Ni-Cr A =T —=4F » REEMER R8RS S it H

alloy steel ingot were HK$6,684 and HK$12,138 per tonne

%hﬁﬁ%ﬁ$ EU%#WEG,GS%%E&QJSS

respectively in 2013 (2012: HK$9,059 and HK$12,345 per tonne (=T — 4% : H R AEFME,0597% T &
respectively). The unit cost of limonitic ores in 2013 increased by 12,345 /%E) 0_9?\— = REER BRI
HK$36 per dry tonne, or 10.0%, to HK$397 per dry tonne (2012: 7 tﬁi I8 12 AN 3678 7T 3 10.0% & B 52 A R
HK$361 per dry tonne). AT (ZF—ZF : BERAME361ETT) ©

The table below shows a breakdown of our costs of sales for the
year:

TRA/ARBNEANZHERARA :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-HA=+—HLEE

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——4F

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

FET % FETT %

Raw materials BEAE 1,333,415 80% 1,217,795 74%

Fuel and Freight R B B 163,230 10% 189,862 1%

Utilities IKE B 21,223 1% 69,250 4%

Depreciation e 41,865 3% 99,853 6%

Staff costs 8 T kA 10,060 1% 42,502 3%

Impairment losses of inventories  F & R{AEE 88,765 5% 19,077 1%

Others Hih 6,062 0% 17,718 1%

Total st 1,664,620 100% 1,656,057 100%
Gross (loss)/profit (B8) =5

The unit gross losses for stainless steel base materials and Ni-Cr
alloy steel ingot in 2013 were HK$1,578 and HK$2,536 per tonne
respectively (2012: unit gross loss of HK$877 and HK$1,927 per
tonne respectively). The unit gross loss margin of these products
was mainly due to decrease in selling price as a result of weak
steel demand in the PRC. The unit gross profit for limonitic ores in
2013 was HK$26 per dry tonne (2012: HK$101 per dry tonne).
Decrease in the unit gross profit for limonitic ores in 2013 was
primarily due to decrease in selling price and increase in average
unit cost. As a result of the above factors, the Group’s gross profit
(excluding impairment losses of inventories) decreased from
HK$173.1 million in 2012 to HK$59.3 million in 2013.
Furthermore, impairment losses of inventories of HK$88.8 million
(2012: HK$19.1 million) was recognised for the year.
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Other gains/(losses), net

Other gains in 2013 was HK$49.5 million (2012: losses of
HK$100.4 million). The difference was mainly due to gain of
HK$46.7 million (2012: loss of HK$21.7 million) in fair value of
derivative financial instruments. On the other hand, there was a
loss of HK$77.8 million on cancellation of warrants in 2012 but
not in 2013.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses in 2013 decreased by HK$14.0
million to HK$5.2 million (2012: HK$19.2 million), representing
0.3% of turnover (2012: 1.1%). Decrease in selling and distribution
expenses was mainly due to the reduction in sale of iron and steel
products.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses in 2013 increased by HK$41.7 million, or
17.1%, to HK$284.7 million (2012: HK$243.0 million),
representing 17.4% of turnover (2012: 13.4%). The increase in
administrative expenses was mainly due to the increase in non-
production depreciation charges upon re-adjustment the product
mix and upgrade the production facilities during the year.

Finance costs, net

Net finance costs in 2013 decreased by HK$72.8 million, or
21.7% to HK$263.2 million (2012: HK$336.0 million). Decrease in
net finance costs charged to the consolidated income statement
in 2013 was mainly due to conversion of convertible bonds at
nominal value of HK$143.3 million into the Company’s 247.0
million new shares and the repayment of the principal amount of
senior bonds of HK$488.7 million during the year.

Other expenses

Other expenses in 2013 increased by HK$56.7 million, or 516.9%,
to HK$67.7 million (2012: HK$11.0 million). The increase in other
expenses is mainly due to the provision of impairment for (i)
prepaid land lease payments of HK$20.7 million (2012: Nil); (ii)
prepayments and other receivables of HK$11.6 million (2012: Nil);
and (iii) trade receivables of HK$16.3 million (2012: reversal of
provision of impairment of HK$1.3 million) in 2013.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
During the year, the Group recorded an impairment loss on its
property, plant and equipment totalling HK$726.2 million (2012:
HK$151.9 million). Details of the background of the impairment
was discussed above.

Loss before income tax

As a result of the factors discussed above, the loss before tax for
the year ended 31 December 2013 was HK$1,340.5 million
(2012: HK$31.4 million). The Group’s loss before tax margin was
82.0% (2012: 1.7%). The loss before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (EBITDA) margin was —4.9% (2012: -0.7%).
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Income tax expense

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company and its
subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong is 16.5% based on
existing legislation. The entities within the Group which operate in
the PRC, Singapore and Indonesia are subject to corporate
income tax at rates of 10% to 25% for the year ended 31
December 2013. In 2012, there was a deferred tax of HK$187.0
million charged to the income statement in connection with the
disposal of Yongan Special Steel. Since there was no such
significant deferred tax item in 2013, income tax expense for 2013
decreased significantly when compared with last year.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to shareholders
As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s 2013 loss
for the year was HK$1,365.5 million (2012: HK$279.7 million) and
the 2013 loss attributable to shareholders was HK$1,366.4 million
(2012: HK$278.3 million).

Key financial ratios
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31 December

BE+t=-A=1+—BHLEE

Notes 2013 2012
(i —E-=F —_T-_fF
Current ratio &)L 2 1 49% 80%
Inventory turnover days ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁi} HEL 2 104 days H 155 days H
Debtor turnover days FEY AR B EE B 24 3 24 days H 22 days B
Creditor turnover days i3 1‘JLBE FEEEA=E 4 169 days H 181 days B
Interest cover BT SIS 8 5 -4.1 times & 0.9 times &
Interest-bearing gearing ratio BN ém,ﬁi (B 6 79% 55%
Debt to EBITDA ratio %%Eﬁi EBITDA =& 7 -27.6 times & -179.2 times &
Net debt/Capital and net debt ratio 5 %/é(ZlKEﬁi@E (s 8 47% 43%
Notes: Bz -
1. Current assets/Current liabilities x 100% 1. HRBEE/ REBE X 100%
Inventories (2
2. 5 365 H
2 Cost of sales x 365 days HERA *
Trade and notes receivables EUER SR R BN R T
3. 365 H
3. T x 365 days EEm X 365
Trade and notes payables FERBRR R BN RE
4 Cost of sales x 365 days + SHERAR X 3651
5 Loss before interest and tax s BRI B R EIERTE R
' Net interest expense ' e FE
Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings TEERMEMER
6. (including convertible bonds) % 100% 6. (BETRRES) 100%
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent ? SYNSIE RPN AE 20 X °
7 Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (including convertible bonds) FEERRAEMEE (BIEMBRRES)
. EBITOA £ EBITDA
Net debt* . BEFE" o
& Capital and net debt X 100% 8. R RERTE x 100%

*  Net debt included bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds (the liability
component), trade and notes payables and other payables and accruals less
cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2013 mainly
comprised plant and machinery, buildings and construction in
progress. The decrease in balance to HK$1,928.1 million (2012:
HK$2,574.3 million) was mainly due to the depreciation charges
for the year of HK$133.8 million and impairment of property, plant
and equipment of HK$726.2 million due to change in product mix
and production plan as a result of weak steel demand and
prolonged depression in Nickel price together with the Export
Ban.

Intangible asset

The intangible asset solely represents the unamortised amount of
the exclusive offtake right from Yiwan secured by the Group in
May 2007. The decrease in balance to HK$2,387.8 million (2012:
HK$2,498.9 million) during the year was due to amortisation for
the year based on the unit of purchase method and the exchange
realignment.

Inventories

The inventory turnover days decreased from 155 days in 2012 to
104 days in 2013. As at 31 December 2013, inventories balance
decreased by HK$227.4 million, or 32.4%, to HK$474.6 million
(2012: HK$702.0 million). Decrease in inventory balance was
mainly due to write down of inventories to their net realisable value
in 2013 amounted to HK$88.8 million and management’s effort to
reduce inventory level to improve the Group’s working capital
efficiency.

Trade and notes receivables

The debtor turnover days increased from 22 days in 2012 to 24
days in 2013. As at 31 December 2013, trade and notes
receivables balance decreased by HK$2.8 million, or 2.5%, to
HK$108.4 million (2012: HK$111.2 million).

Prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2013, prepayments and other receivables
balance decreased by HK$805.9 million, or 79.1%, to HK$213.5
million (2012: HK$1,019.4 million). The decrease in prepayments
and other receivables balance was mainly due to that the
receivables arising from disposal of Yongan Special Steel of
HK$752.1 million as at 31 December 2012 was fully settled in
2013.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
The aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents and pledged
time deposits increased by approximately HK$307.0 million, or
50.7%, to approximately HK$913.0 million as at 31 December
2013 when compared to that as at 31 December 2012. It was
mainly due to the proceeds from disposal of Yongan Special Steel
received.
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Trade and notes payables

The creditor turnover days decreased from 181 days in 2012 to
169 days in 2013. As at 31 December 2013, trade and notes
payables balance decreased by HK$48.8 million, or 6.0%, to
HK$772.2 million (2012: HK$821.0 million). The decrease in trade
and notes payables balance was mainly due to fewer purchases
were made by the Group in 2013. The trade payables are
unsecured, interest-free and are normally settled on terms of 60
to 180 days while the bank bills are generally on terms of 90 to
180 days.

Convertible bonds

Decrease in the convertible bonds balance from HK$177.7 million
as at 31 December 2012 to HK$129.2 million as at 31 December
2013 was mainly attributable to convertible bonds in the nominal
amount of HK$143.3 million were converted into 247.0 million
new shares of the Company in year 2013.

Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2013, total bank and other borrowings
balance increased by HK$50.6 million, or 2.5%, to HK$2,081.6
million (2012: HK$2,031.0 million). During the year, the Group
used certain long-term bank and other borrowings to refinance
the short-term borrowings when they fall due.

Liquidity, going concern and capital resources

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group incurred a
loss of approximately HK$1,365.5 million and had a net operating
cash outflow of approximately HK$100.0 million. As at 31
December 2013, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$1,243.2 million. Its total bank and other
borrowings amounted to HK$2,081.6 million, out of which
HK$1,201.4 million will be due within 12 months. The cash and
cash equivalents of the Group amounted to HK$54.1 million as at
31 December 2013.

Following the 2014 Export Ban which may substantially affect the
Group’s cash generating ability from operations and from long-
term and short-term borrowings, the Group’s working capital may
further affect and may have foreseeable financial difficulties in
coming 12 months period.

However, following the Export Ban, a series of remedial measures
to mitigate the liquidity pressure were taken in 2014 to improve its
financial and liquidity position of the Group, details of which are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report section headed
“Going concern and mitigation measures”. Please also refer to the
details regarding uncertainties on the going concern of the Group
as stipulated in the section headed “Going Concern” in note
2.1(a).
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Our working capital has been principally sourced from cash
generated from operations and from long-term and short-term
borrowings. We also utilise advances received from our customers
to finance part of our working capital requirements. As at 31
December 2013, the advances from customers amounted to
HK$147.8 million.

As at 31 December 2013, we had current liabilities of HK$2,457.8
million, of which HK$1,201.4 million were bank and other
borrowings repayable within one year and HK$772.2 million were
trade and notes payables in respect of purchase of raw materials.

Foreign currency risk

Since 2004, the Group has begun the purchase of iron ore from
overseas suppliers. The Group’s purchase and sales contracts of
ore trading business are principally denominated in United States
dollar (“USD”) and purchase and sales of iron and steel products
are mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). As at 31 December
2013, the convertible bonds and senior bonds were denominated
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) while bank and other borrowings
were mainly denominated in RMB, HK$ and USD, and other
assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group did not enter into any
hedging transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign
currency as the Directors considered the Group had no significant
foreign currency risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the
foreign currency risk and consider using necessary financial
instruments for hedging purposes if they foresee the foreign
currency risk is significant.
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DIRECTORS =5

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Dong Shutong, aged 63, was appointed as Director of the BEZ\ %4 635 R_ZEZEWFE=A+,<H
Company on 16 March 2004 and is currently an Executive EZFARANFEE  WARNATHRITES -

Director, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, a member of & - &% - FNEZEe@kE RIEZETES T
the Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination [Fo B & 4|z AEE 2 BB LKA E LE
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for formulating the % - & ARNEFHAIPFA - BRE—NLNIL=%F
Group’s overall business plans and strategies. Mr. Dong is the  #BIE{F AN B2 E B A 7 Z5 M sk @4 i
founder of the Group. He has been the Director of Zhengzhou AR AR ([kBEMN | NZFKMEBE AR ZE
Yongtong Special Steel Company Limited (“Yongtong Special =X —EHA2BLEZZENF 2 EEBEHEE
Steel”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and  {E o R — L\ FETEEE T 2054 Rt
a number of subsidiaries of the Company since 1993. He was (Z BB AT ZEI&KIE N B H & ER ATEER -

involved in the management and day-to-day operations on a full ZAGIEIE ALAe TXMBEEESX2TENR
time basis. He served as the vice manager and senior economics F EB#{E 75 c ELENRN — N NZBFEIRESR
and technology consultant of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry A2 84 ERBE LSRR @ ZAHE
Metallurgy News Information Development Company (8& T3 T EQR SHECEREEABE 2 EE - X
A S AT {Z B B3 A F)) in 1989. Formerly, the said company — A A - KRESEANF =B TEREE
was the Ministry’s department responsible for news and major ¥ AT ZHAKIE  Z AT T ERETER Y
reports about the metallurgical industry. Mr. Dong was also #f% « R— A N\WUE+AZ -_ZZPEP A H
appointed as the director of Synthesis Department of the World [ T AR Z 2 BINE P E A A FTIE o AR
Metallurgical Products Exhibition in 1990. The said organization 7 X Z K AL ERLREEBWMAME « BHR
was primarily involved in the activities relating to exhibitions of  —h, \UEZE =T PUEE Al N & FEE
metallurgical products. In 1992, he was appointed as the general —FZFHRKX - A _ETZE - FiRIETREZERF
manager of Henan Sanen Industry Sci-Tech Industrial Company KE4&HEEEE 7 F T H - BR—L)\L
(iR =B TEREE %R A]). The said company was primarily  FEERZMEERELRZEE . N -_TTT
involved in research and development of industrial technologies. FHEF FEt @R Sl 2 85 L& mEe
Between October 1984 and April 2004, the business of refractory i e T— W A \REEZ— L AUER  EhX4HE
materials factory, a factory principally involved in production and SR flg S ERCREIEN © B IE % (@ 5 B B 2F
management of refractory materials, was contracted out to and Fiki#5 - BINE AEEBEEF T2 E & 8 B
managed by Mr. Dong. He was both the plant manager and the S [ EF kL€ | - H )2k
sole legal representative of the refractory materials factory from AU AX/KOIEBE ST —F BB ER|FHIT
1984 to 2004. He has also served as a part-time associate BE@ 7 HEHEZSRELE R_SFTNE
professor in the field of economics at Wuhan University of Science R IEA M ERFLBEE [ 2 EELHE A D
and Technology since 2002. He graduated from the Metallurgy 24815 | o 4N IR _EE=FELZ T BES
Department of Wuhan Iron and Steel College in 1989. He received N/ it @k B R EREZ BEIN P EGE2 2
his Trade and Economics Degree from Graduate School of the BEZEe@KERKERE R _ZZTPU4E -

Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in 2000 too. During the HEZFTAEMNHE+_FEA KK - BELE
years from 1985 to 1994, he has been honoured many times by R-_ZEERFENAEDTR TEKIEEEZHE A
various PRC government authorities for his outstanding #EFEBASETE @B EPH TERLERH
achievement in advancement of technology. He has also been EEgH AYE - EXLENTMR T —FN—
awarded the “Award for Achievement in Development of the Z-E - FHXBHEEHR TCIKRENE % — B
World Patented Technologies” for his outstanding contribution to #4775 % H 7K ) ) S RS 1481 (B Bl i B 4% g s Al )
the area of patented technologies. In addition, he won a gold  FANZEZ4E -

medal from Hong Kong Organising Committee of the International
Patent Technology Expo for his project of condenser type
bicomponent nozzle in 2001, and was named “The World’s
Outstanding Chinese Entrepreneur” by the World Chinese
Entrepreneur Association in 2004. Moreover, he was appointed
as a member of Zhengzhou Overseas Exchange Association, and
was elected as a joint-committee member as well as the member
representative of Zhengzhou Enterprises Association in 2003. In
2004, he was appointed as a representative of the Zhengzhou’s
Twelfth National People’s Congress. Mr. Dong was awarded one
of the Hundred Outstanding People of the Year in Industrial
Economics by the People of the Year in China’s Industrial
Economics Award’s Organising Committee in April 2005. Mr.
Dong also published two books, (AL E R & % — 1B E %
7K ) (What's behind the New Economy — The Emergence of
Spiritual Economy) in 2001 and { 15 4 (& {8 &2 /b B 48 5 8 7Y )
(Spiritual Value and the Transformation of the Chinese Economy)
in 2002.
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Mr. Dong is the father of Mr. Dong Chengzhe, an Executive
Director of the Company. He is also the sole shareholder and sole
director of Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”),
and the substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Dong Chengzhe, aged 35, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 March 2007 and was also
appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He
graduated from Wuhan University of Science and Technology with
a Diploma in International Trade. He also obtained a Bachelor
Degree in Accountancy from Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology and a Master Degree of International Finance from
Deakin University in Australia. He joined the Group in 2007 and
was responsible the finance and international trading activities of
Yongtong Special Steel, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. He was the general manager of Yongtong Special
Steel, and also the director and general manager of CNR Group
Holdings Pte. Ltd., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Prior to joining the Group, he was an owner of an
international trading company in Australia. He is the son of Mr.
Dong Shutong, Executive Director, Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and the substantial and controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Mr. Song Wenzhou, aged 46, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005 and is responsible for
the Group’s administrative, marketing and staff development
matters. Prior to joining the Group in July 1995, he had been a
teacher at the Zhengzhou Institute of Technology. He graduated
from Beijing Open University in 1987 with a Bachelor Degree in
Linguistics and Phonetics. He also received his Bachelor Degree
in Chinese Language and Literature from Henan Normal University
in 1992 and Bachelor Degree in Legal Studies from Central
Broadcast and Television University in 2003. Since joining the
Group in 1995 until February 2004, Mr. Song was also
responsible for the administrative matters at the refractory
materials factory.

Mr. Yang Fei, aged 37, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 30 August 2010 and was also appointed as
Authorised Representative of the Company on 1 August 2011. He
has joined the Company as the assistant to the Chairman of the
Company since 2006 and was also appointed as the Company
Secretary and Authorised Representative of the wholly owned
subsidiary, Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. Mr. Yang
was the manager of the Information Technology Department
(October 2002 to August 2003) and the general manager of the
Market Development Department (August 2003 to August 2006)
of China Life — CMG Life Assurance Company Limited. Prior to
joining China Life — CMG Life Assurance Company Limited, Mr.
Yang was the assistant manager of the International Business
Department of Guangdong Branch, China Life Insurance
Company Limited from August 1998 to June 2001. Mr. Yang
graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Beijing
University in June 1998 and a Master of Science Degree in
Economics from London School of Economics and Political
Science in June 2002.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Tianjun, aged 71, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He joined the Group in
2005. Mr. Yang worked in Ministry of Metallurgy Forty Company
()8 % EBPUZ 2 A]) and then in Angang Steelwork (4 8l 15 5 8 )
for a total of 14 years as a technician and then an engineer. He
was the Principal of University of Beijing Science and Technology
for the period from 1993 to July 2004, and is currently a professor
and mentor of doctorate students of the Metallurgy Department of
University of Beijing Science and Technology. Since 1989, he was
honoured with nine first-grade, second-grade or third-grade State
Scientific and Technological Progress Awards in both national and
provincial levels for his outstanding contributions to the State by
conducting scientific researches in metallurgical projects. He was
the Chairman of Sino-German Co-operative Research Project
studying the multi-purpose uses of niobium. He was invited by the
Research Institute of Industrial Science and Technology of Korea
to lead the research in air-refined coal spray in blast furnace, and
participated in a research with the Metallurgical Research Institute
in coal spray in blast furnace and the mathematical model. He
published over 70 academic papers locally or overseas and six
books specialised in metallurgy. He was appointed as the vice
chairman of Chinese Society of Metals in 2001 and a member of
the Fifth Graduate Committee of the State Council (B 7Pt (7 &
%) in 2003.

Mr. Yang graduated in 1965 from the Metallurgical Department of
Beijing Iron and Steel College. He completed his postgraduate
study in 1981 and obtained a Master Degree in Metallurgy from
the Beijing Iron and Steel Institute. In 1985, he was granted
scholarship from Humboldt-University zu Berlin and conducted a
joint research with the RWTH-Aachen University in Germany, and
was awarded a Doctorate Degree in 1986.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua, aged 73, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. He has almost 46
years’ experience in the metallurgy. He worked as an engineer, a
manager and then the general manager of China Metallurgical
Products’ Import & Export Company (FF Bl)&a € 3# 1 O A 7)), a
company primarily involved in the trading of metals. He was also
appointed as the general manager of China International Steel
Investment Company (7 % i 1 1% & A 7)), a company
primarily involved in promotion of foreign investment in the steel
industry in the People’s Republic of China. In addition, he was the
general manager, the vice chairman and the legal representative
of China Iron and Steel Industry and Trade Group Corporation, a
company primarily involved in production and trade of steel. He
graduated from the Metal Pressure Processing Department at
Beijing Iron and Steel College in 1965.

28 TEKRERZERAERAT  —E-=ZFFERE

FHITES

BRBEE 7T15H RZETRAFHRAZ-AE
ZERRRRIERITEE - W _TZRAFM
AREE - BEEFERNASIBNERT RE
SRR BRI B R TR A HLE14F o &
H—hAN=FBRE-_TTNF+ AEEILRE
BRAEBRE - BAIRILERBRKRE ¢ 2K
RETHEZR - B — A N\NFR - 5REET
ZaeBE R TFEBERELEETR - &
ESNEXBEREARN 2 —F& R =HRH
REBRMEL R - AT ESIEHREZ AR
FEBZEIE CRERBHEEZNEHARKR
(Research Institute of Industrial Science and
Technology) Z B R EmEEAEK 2 -
7 & 22 B2 M Metallurgical Research Institute #F
MRz DBEEERBBER - FRERINEER
HB70OREMANX  HRASAB@ B2 2HE
Z -BR_ZZ—FREZERTECELEE
FREENR_ZEZ=FRZTRFLERAKRS

fNEZBEXE -

BRER—NAANEFEILAHEER A RE
¥ — AN —FERARAEZRELEE 7R
HEPASBEITEMN - BR— L\ BEFEMBMK
MR K B2 8 8 4 7 B 1= B RWTH-Aachen
University #7 TS 3T - W — L\ N FEE
T2 o

BYEHITES

AHTELRE 7B W _TTAFOA_BE
RERARRBBEUIFNITES - WIFZARA
EZZBe FHMEZESLERZEEKE -
MART6FRAEXER  BEPELEE
HARB(ZARTIESEEH) W ITZM &
R BAEIE o M B RER R BB ER
BRA(ZAREBREREINBEIRENPE
ARLMBIE R 2 THE) 2 AR © sk - 1
RRERATEMHATENESEE QA (XA A
TRMMEERES) 2RKE IIESREIA
EREK - BN —NAREFEERNI R E B0
TBMBREER -



Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee

EE S EEEREREES

Mr. Huang Changhuai, aged 79, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May
2005. He is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He worked for a printing and dyeing mill as
production supervisor, a political director and then deputy
director. He was appointed the deputy director of the Municipal
Economic System Reform Committee of Zhengzhou Municipal
Government, and as the director of the Municipal Industrial and
Communication Development Committee at the Third Session of
the Eighth People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City in 1985. He was
then appointed at the Twelfth Session of the Eighth People’s
Congress of Zhengzhou City as the director of the city’s Economic
Committee in 1986. He was also appointed the deputy director of
the Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of Zhengzhou
City. He graduated in September 1958 from Zhengzhou Textile
School.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, FCCA, FCPA, ACMA, ACIS, aged 59, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 2 May 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He joined the Company
in May 2005. Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a
Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and CPA Australia. He is also an Associate Member of both the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. Mr. Wong was
an executive director, the deputy general manager, group financial
controller and company secretary of Guangzhou Investment
Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu Property Company
Limited) for over ten years. Mr. Wong has over 37 years of
experience in finance, accounting and management.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited,
Asia Standard International Group Limited, Century City
International Holdings Limited, China Ting Group Holdings
Limited, ENM Holdings Limited, Golden Eagle Retail Group
Limited, Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited, Paliburg Holdings
Limited, Regal Hotels International Holdings Limited, TPV
Technology Limited and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company
Limited, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He was formerly an independent non-executive
director of First Natural Foods Holdings Limited (up to 21
November 2011), FU JI Food and Catering Services Holdings
Limited (up to 24 June 2011) and PacMOS Technologies Holdings
Limited (up to 30 June 2014).
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Mr. Fahmi Idris, aged 71, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2010. Mr.
Idris graduated with a Degree in Law from University of
Padjadjaran in 2010 and a Degree in Economics from University
of Indonesia in 1969. He is currently the Commissioner of
Maskapai Asuransi Parolamas (an insurance company), PT.
Parama Bina Tani (an agrochemical company), PT. Kodel
Invesindo Nusa (a trading and investment company), PT. Krama
Yudha (an automotive company) and the President Commissioner
of PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa Nusantara (a hotel and tourism
company), PT. Permadani Propertindo Development (a property
company), PT. Tamarindo Nusa Hotel, PT. Permadani
Khatulistiwa Dewata (a hotel and tourism company) and PT. Kodel
(a trade and investment company). From 1981 to 1987, he was
the President Commissioner of PT. Encontrade Pratama Indonesia
(an engineering and construction of electrical and mechanical
installation company). From 1984 to 1987, he was the Vice
President Commissioner of PT. Wahana Muda Indonesia (a
construction and engineering firm). From 1986 to 1992, he was
the Commissioner of Bank Susila Bhakti. From 1987 to 1990, he
was the President of PT. Permadani Teleconsult Pratama. From
1987 to 2004, he was the President Director of PT. Niigata
Santana (a diesel engine and injection and moulding machine
manufacturing company). From 1991 to 2003, he was the
President Commissioner of PT. Bintara Tani Nusantara (a
company engages in the plantation of palm oil and cocoa). From
1991 to 1994, he was the Commissioner of PT. Java Indonusa
Motors and from 2000 to 2003, he was the President
Commissioner of PT. Kodel Margahayu Telindo.

Mr. Idris is currently a member of the Board of Fund Supporters
of Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatera. From 1967 to
1968, he was Member of People’s Consultative Assembly of the
Republic of Indonesia. From 1987 to 2004, he was a member of
Parliament of the Republic of Indonesia. From 1967 to 1968, he
was the Treasurer of the Indonesian Chambers of Commerce and
Industry. From 1994 to 1998, he was the Vice Chairman of the
Supervisory Council Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and
Industry. Mr. Idris was the Minister of Manpower of the Republic
of Indonesia from 1998 to 1999 and from 2004 to 2005, he was
also the Ministry of Industry of the Republic of Indonesia from
2005 to 2009.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, has been appointed as the
financial controller and the company secretary of the Company
with effect from 3 June 2014. Mr. Choi, aged 47, is a qualified
accountant and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in
financial and auditing field, and has experience in the position of
the financial controller and the company secretary in Hong Kong
listed company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review the financial reporting process
and internal control procedures of the Group. The audit committee
consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai.
Mr. Wong Chi Keung was elected chairman of the audit
committee.

The audit committee’s specific terms of reference were posted on
the Company’s website.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding
and trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the trading
of ore and the manufacture and sale of special steel products in
the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December
2013 were primarily derived from the sale of ore and manufacture
and sale of special steel products to customers. Accordingly, no
segmental analysis by business is presented for the year ended
31 December 2013. Geographical information analysis is set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 67.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years is disclosed on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in Note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share
options, warrants and convertible bonds during the year are set
out in Notes 31, 35 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2013.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves, including the
share premium account, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Law (2007
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
HK$2,516,572,000.

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account and contributed surplus are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the
PRC can legally be distributed by way of a dividend is determined
by reference to their profits as reflected in the PRC statutory
financial statements which are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC. These
profits differ from those that are reflected in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers and to the largest customer accounted for 68% and
53% of the total sales for the year respectively. Purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers and from the largest supplier
accounted for 80% and 75% of the total purchases for the year
respectively.

Apart from the information as disclosed in the paragraphs headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” and “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS” in the directors’ report, none of the Directors or
any of their associates or any shareholders of the Company
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and as at the date of the report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 January 2014)

Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 June 2014)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Pursuant to article 87 of the Company’s article of association, Mr.
Dong Chengzhe, Mr. Song Wenzhou and Mr. Wong Chi Keung
will retire as Directors by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. All retiring Directors, being
eligible for re-election, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr.
Huang Changhuai, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris and
considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are
set out on pages 26 to 30 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board with
reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

On 5 March 2007, SEAM, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an exclusive offtake agreement with
Yiwan (the “Exclusive Offtake Agreement”), a limited company
incorporated in Indonesia, which is substantially owned by Mr.
Soen Bin Kuan, who at 31 December 2013 and the date of this
report holds more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company. Pursuant to the Exclusive Offtake Agreement, Yiwan
agreed to exclusively sell and SEAM agreed to buy the iron ores
produced by Yiwan at a fixed price of US$16 per dry tonne, for a
minimum 40 million dry tonnes of iron ores throughout a period of
approximately 14 years expiring on 24 January 2021, which has
subsequently been extended by a supplemental agreement to 24
January 2036. Pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by
the Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister
of Commerce which granted the export approval to Yiwan, the
export price of iron ore was changed to US$23.5 commencing
from 1 July 2012. By virtue of the convertible bonds issued by
Yiwan to S.E.A. Mining Limited and S.E.A. Mining Resources
Limited which are indirectly substantially owned by Mr. Dong
Shutong, Executive Director and Chairman of the Board, Mr.
Dong has an indirect interest in the Exclusive Offtake Agreement.
Further details of the transaction undertaken in connection
therewith are included in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” as set out on pages 40 to 41 of
this annual report, no Director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party during the year.

ESCBRBEEN

BREERRBFAGEE L EFEARRNAIM
BRIV ARBE—FANTEDTRECEE
FRERRSN) BIBR TR IE 2 RIFE A ©

ESMHE

EErMemEFERE2EEERE &
ERRBURKREB 2 XEMET °

EERNENER

RZTZTLE=AFH AQXTEEL2ENEB
N RIEFEE A Yiwan (RENEsFMAK S 2 B R
NE TBERTRELERE ER T —=
FH+_ A=+ —HEAREBHEZEARAARD
TR ABIBES%) 5] BRRE E ([ERIE
Bzl BEBRREWZE  YivanR 258
REEMBFEERZREE Yivan £ E 2 5B
A T ZETERAESRAMI6ETL K=
T - —F— A+ WHER 2 EEL 14 FHH
JARE B & 40,000,0005 AMESHIE A © H1% -
BRIRBEBREH NBELERZ —T=/~F
—A=-+WA - BEEBEEIEN T ——F
SNAZ+ T B AR Yiwan £ O &8 SRR
RBELOEBEXG  EBAMNEOES-Z
—ZF+A-BHEEHRAE235FET AR
Yiwan TR R E5 TR FEEER AR X
MARESRAERAR  MPATESHREES
FHREEEBRELAEMR A ZEEREE -
B ELERBERREBEHEEEERZ B
BIFTETTR 5 2 R IR #Nir 6 M R I
16 °

B EXRERAFEREFIOREFEL4 A [
BRP| —BAREEI  REARBESRR
AN A S E AR P B A I P AT S B AN S 5
BREAFEZENTERKRAREREKRE

N3
= o
I

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited - Annual Report 2013 35



Report of the Directors

EEERES

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

() Long positions in the shares of the Company as at
31 December 2013:

EERRG - HEROREEE 2#ES
5879

>

RZE—Z=F+_A=+—H EFRK’
KEAREOEE (EERES LB G ([
KRG RG] ]) EXVER) 2 By - #RRE Ity K &
T HE @REEZ LB RGIE XV EDE
7 N3 8 ) BR BRI E AR B N B S BT 2 R mm MOk
B (BREREEZ PSR 2B BIRXES
WEERRIERA 2R NOKR) © K(D)IRIE
& 5 M R 1501 5 352 AR TE A DI AR AR B P
Bz s MOAR - () RE LT RAIM
BA0ME 2 LM BETAESETESR SR
Esp R (MRS R ARG AR MR T2
RS ORI

D

a
%

i

i) R=FB—=F+=A=+—BREAT
R ziFRE
Approximate

percentage to
the issued

Capacity in which interest Number of share capital
Name of Directors are held shares of the Company
HARQT]
ERITREAZ
EENE BEEZZHH RHEE BABED
Dong Shutong Held by controlled corporations (note) 1,5605,930,705 58.99%
5E8 B EEERAE (M)
Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.06%
Bl BB A
Note: As at the Latest Practicable Date, 1,481,074,705 Shares and ML B & & 7] 77 B Hj - Easyman & Sino Regent

24,856,000 Shares were held by Easyman and Sino Regent
Worldwide Limited (“Sino Regent”), respectively. As the entire
issued share capital of each of Easyman and Sino Regent is held by
Mr. Dong, Mr. Dong is deemed to be beneficial interested in such
Shares by virtue of the SFO.

36 TEKERZERAERAT —E-=ZFFERE

Worldwide Limited ([ Sino Regent]) % B # &
1,481,074,705 % K 24,856,000% B 13 ° & »
Easyman % Sino Regent & B )& 3 B 31T A1
HELEMFHE  RESHFREEEG B4
WAR AR Z SR A Bl -



Report of the Directors

EEERES

(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of the i) R=ZBE—=F+=-A=+—HBRZEAQHF
Company as at 31 December 2013: HERPZHE :

Approximate
percentage to

Number of the issued
Capacity in which interest share options share capital
Name of Directors are held (note) of the Company
LA AT
ERITREAZ
EEpA BEERZEH BREHE () BABRDE
Dong Shutong Benefioial owner 5,000,000 0.20%
£EM E=mEBA
Held by spouse 1,700,000 0.07%
HEBIFE
Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 2,775,000 0.11%
R EmEEA
Song Wenzhou Beneficial owner 2,520,000 0.10%
RSN EnEBA
Yang Fei Beneficial owner 2,775,000 0.11%
B E=xEBA
Note:  The share options are unlisted equity-settled options granted Misk : ZEBEREABBEARAN-_ZSTAFHA=A
pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 2 Fz BT ERE 2 E AR N2 B
May 2005. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with ARHE - IRIBZ BT BIF TR B ARE 1R - AT AT
such share option scheme. Shares are issuable to the option AN BIRERE AT’ -

holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTSAND FERENAATRHL RABBERKR D+
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND ZHERRRE
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2013, shareholders (other than the interest WR-_ZE—=F+_-A=+—08 BWE ("8 L
disclosed above in respect of the Director who is also a XWERBAKRAGTERR ZEEFER)
substantial shareholder of the Company) who had interests and ~ RAR BN MABBEA DT - A RIEES KL
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the HIS{EHIEXVIHE2 N FEIN I 2 FE D B A
Company which have been disclosed to the Company under the A& FE S SR AR RIRIEE F & E 1K
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which 1% 336 1§18 F/EF & 2 Bt 2 #E s Mok
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company BT :

under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2013:

R-EBE-—=F+=-A=+—8BREQXTARH

REBROZEFR

Approximate
percentage to

Number of Shares/ the issued

Capacity in which underlying share capital
Name of Shareholders interest are held shares of the Company
LR NN
1, ERITREZ
RR®E BFEERZSH HERAEE BABRDE
Easyman Beneficial owner 1,481,074,705 58.01%
EnEBA
Soen Bin Kuan Beneficial owner 182,734,104 7.16%
TRE EnfBA
Sun Qiaodian (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,700,000 (note 2) 0.07%
I % (FsE1) EnfEBA (FFE2)
Held by spouse 1,5610,930,705 59.18%
HEBRE
Notes: Bt sE
1. Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong Shutong, whose interest 1. RO R+ NESREE RS  EXEmiEs
was disclosed in previous section. BT — B R EE -
2. The share option are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant 2. ZEBRERARBEARNRAR-_STRFRA-A

to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005.
Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with such share
option scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who
exercise(s) the rights.

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the
Directors, there was no other person who, as at 31
December 2013, had an interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company; or were, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any member of the Group.

38 FTEKERZERAERAT  —E-=ZFFERE

R BBRERT BIIRE Z 3 E MRS N 2 B8
P HE o AR IR AL MR AR AT BIFT (R BB ARAE 1R - M AITT
A RN MBI A ABTRD -

B EXFrIEEI  RBEFLZSMA - R
“T-=F+_A=+—H " #HEEMA

ITRARAZBHBERO T - HER
RS MR RO EXVEE2 K35 H#
BHEARNR 2B IOKE » KEZKLMHE
BERARFDEITRAPHERS%HIA L
MESED  NERKEREEHNEEE
{AER TRAE BRI 8 AR H IR
A& ERSRER R Tl BB A E E 10%
sl PA B



Report of the Directors

EEERES

SHARE OPTION SCHEME BEIRREETE
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 May 2005, the RIER " EZFFRA _B@B 2 L@ LS
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option 2 NA G EE4N — BB 2 ([ B AR s
Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company to recruit and 2| |) - MEAR AT RE LI BB REE K&
retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are HBEBEZERSI ARNER » WFEKAFIELNZ
valuable to the Group and to provide the Company with a means  f& 5 = #EE) - 525 - 12 5B - #E & I8
of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating {tg#| ¥ ANEE/ELE B E skt AN EE A K
and/or providing benefits to such persons who contribute or may Rz 2 B A+ o ZEIEA B BN 2 B
bring benefit to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain #st+ERNEN TR —_ZE—HERLA—H
in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of such scheme  [&Ejm °
and will expire on 2 May 2015.
The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have an  RIEEEAREZI 21650 - RIEERETEF L
exercise period of 10 years from the date of acceptance of the ZEEPS#E Z1T(FHiIRENERE S Bt A8
options, which is in compliance with the terms of the Share + 4 - '\&%’jﬁi%% RERERTE - B &
Option Scheme, subject to a vesting schedule of 5 years whereby  20% 7 B & 0] A4 agﬁxﬁg% BH12{@ B %17
only 20% of the options is exercisable 12 months after the date of  {# - AR AR EEE 2 —F17FFEIN20%
acceptance of the options and an additional 20% of the options  B& % #E - Eﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂgj’é& WHEBRAFE &
shall be exercisable by the grantee in each subsequent year until & — B 75 AJ 178 2 Bl fE Ac i - F A AR AIRE AR
the last day of the 5-year period after the date of acceptance of #Z E#FEIEWN T -
the options when 100% of the options become exercisable.
Details of movements in the Company’s share options during the
year are as follows:
No. of share options
BRESE
Price of
Outstanding Outstanding Company’s
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Exercise shares at
1 January during the during the during the 31 December price of  exercise date
2013 period period period 2013 share options of options
(note 1) (note 2)
R-%-=% R=%-Z§ RARRH
-A-H TZA=1-H BRE RERE
HATE  RERRE RERTE  REREN AT TRE fERNRE
(HE1) (Fr&t2)
HK$ HK$
B B
Directors Bz
Mr. Dong Shutong - Sibied 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 107 NATER
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena* REELLT 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 0.63 N/ATER
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Efmik 1,275,000 - - - 1,275,000 1.91 NAMER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 063 N/ATER
Mr. Song Wenzhou RIMEE 1,020,000 - - - 1,020,000 107 NATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NAZTER
Mr. Yang Fei BRLE 1,275,000 - - - 1,275,000 1.91 N/ATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,600,000 0.63 N/AER
Sub-total for number of RTEZ BRE
share options 1o Directors 25/t 21,070,000 - - - 21,070,000 - -
Other employees HttfES 11,900,000 - - - 11900000 107 NATER
10,635,000 - - (24300000 8,205,000 245 NATER
34,900,000 - - (2,800,000) 32,100,000 0.63 NATER
Sub-total for number of share BRYEtESY
options to other employess BREHE 5 57,435,000 - - (52300000 52,205,000
Total s 78,505,000 - - (5,280,000 73,275,000

* Resigned on 1 January 2014

RoT—mF—A—ARHE
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Notes:

1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

2. The price of the shares of the Company as at the date of exercise of the

share options is the Stock Exchange’s closing price on the trading date
immediately prior to the date on which the share options were exercised.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme as set out in Note
35 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2013 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meetings of the Company
held on 28 January 2010 and 22 June 2012, the Company’s
independent shareholders approved the continuing connected
transactions in relation to the exclusive ores purchase from Yiwan.
According to the Exclusive Offtake Agreement and supplemental
agreements entered into between Yiwan and SEAM in connection
with the purchasing of ore, Yiwan agreed to supply ore to the
Group until 24 January 2036. According to the Exclusive Offtake
Agreement and supplemental agreements, the prices for these
continuing connected transactions would be US$16 per dry tonne
and subsequently adjusted to the new export price (“New Export
Price”) pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by the
Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce of Indonesia. Pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive
Offtake Agreement, SEAM and Yiwan may agree to alter the
purchase price if being directed by the relevant governmental
authorities. Since the New Export Price is a price directed by the
relevant governmental authorities of Indonesia, SEAM and Yiwan
have agreed to adopt the New Export Price as the ore purchase
price commencing from 1 July 2012 under the Exclusive Offtake
Agreement. These transactions will be entered into in usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group and the annual cap for
these transactions for the years ending 31 December 2012, 2013
and 2014 will not exceed HK$998.4 million, HK$1,248 million and
HK$1,248 million, respectively. During the year, the Group
purchased US$76.1 million (approximately HK$590.1 million)
(2012: US$46.4 million (approximately HK$359.5 million)) ore from
Yiwan. The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the requirements set out in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance to which
the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or associated
companies was a party subsisted at any time during the year or at
the end of the year.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions in 2013 and confirm that the
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties;

(8) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Group as a whole; and

(4)  have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount capped
in accordance to the waiver previously granted by the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the
Chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2013.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 10 April 2006 in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing rules (“CG Code”).

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung,
Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong —
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Huang Changhuai is the
chairman of the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 30 December 2011 in
compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Dong Shutong is the chairman of
the nomination committee.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees
and Executive Directors is based on their performance,
qualifications, competence displayed, market comparable and the
performance of the Group. Remuneration packages typically
comprise salary, housing allowances, discretionary bonus, other
fringe benefits and the Group’s contribution to retirement benefits
schemes. The remuneration of Executive Directors and senior
management are determined by the Remuneration Committee
which will review them regularly. To provide incentive to the
relevant participants, including the Directors and eligible
employees, the Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme,
details of which are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young (“E&Y”) had been the auditor of the Company for
over 8 years. For the purpose of maintaining good corporate
governance, the Board considered that it was an appropriate time
to change the auditor of the Company in 2013. The Board
therefore proposed to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”)
as new auditor of the Company after E&Y retired at the
Company’s annual general meeting on 19 June 2013 (“2013
AGM”). A resolution was passed in the 2013 AGM to appoint
PwC as the Company’s auditor for the year ended 31 December
2013.
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The financial statements have been audited by PwC who ZAEBHEALHE SR KEEZ - B ERKE
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re- ¥R{T WA EKRAFEETIRET o
appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD REESE

Dong Shutong FERAEE
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer EEB

7 October 2014 —E-NE+AEH
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Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving
high corporate governance standards to enhance corporate
performance, transparency and accountability, earning the
confidence of shareholders and the public. The Board strives to
adhere to the principles of corporate governance and adopt
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and
commercial standards by focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2013 except for code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and
A.4.1, details of which are disclosed below. Save for deviation
from code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, in the opinion of the
Board, the Company has been in compliance with the CG Code
in all material respects.

(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is
vested in the Board. The Board takes responsibility to
oversee all major matters of the Company, including the
formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall
strategies, internal control and risk management systems,
and monitoring of the performance of the senior
management. The Directors make decisions objectively in
the interests of the Company. Currently, the Board
comprises 9 Directors, including 4 Executive Directors, 1
Non-executive Director and 4 Independent Non-executive
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 1 January 2014)

Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 1 June 2014)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Their biographical details and relationships (some of the
Directors are related to each other) are set out in the section
entitled “Directors, Senior Management and Audit
Committee” in the annual report.
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The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies
and management of the Group’s businesses to the
Executive Directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

Composition and Appointment

As at 31 December 2013, the Board comprises eleven
Directors, including six Executive Directors, one Non-
executive Director and four Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules of having three Independent Non-executive
Directors and one of the Independent Non-executive
Directors possesses the requisite appropriate professional
qualifications. The Board confirmed that the independence
and eligibility of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are in compliance with the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules.

Save that Mr. Dong Shutong and Mr. Dong Chengzhe are
father and son, the Directors confirmed that there was no
connection amongst the Directors that should be disclosed
relating to finance, business, relation or other significant
events or relevant matters.

The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the
activities of the Company and the decisions were made in
the best interests of the Company. During the year, the
Board convened a total of ten meetings, performing its
duties in considering, inter alia, discloseable transactions
and financial and other matters under the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company. If a Director has a
conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to
be considered by the Board, the individual is required to
declare such interest and to abstain from voting. The matter
is considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who
have no material interest in the transaction.
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During the year, ten Board meetings, two of which were
regular meetings, were held and the attendance of each

Director is set out as follows:

Times of attendance/
No. of meetings held during

FR EZRAFRTREE  HPRAR
flg SEFHFEHIBERHINWT

Name of Directors the tenure of directorship  Title
HERE THRESHH
EEpA EEPN Bt
Dong Shutong 10/10 Chairman, Executive Director, Chief Executive
EEMm Officer
FEBITES - A

Ng See Wai Rowena*  8/10 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer

REE" WITES - BlEH
Chiang Shyh-yi# 6/10 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
BtrE’ WITES - BlEH
Dong Chengzhe 6/10 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
R WITES - BlEH
Song Wenzhou 3/10 Executive Director
AR WiTES
Yang Fei 10/10 Executive Director
B WiTES
Yang Tianjun 3/10 Non-executive Director
PN FEMITES
Bai Baohua 4/10 Independent Non-executive Director
BRE BUIERITES
Huang Changhuai 3/10 Independent Non-executive Director
mEE BUIERITES
Wong Chi Keung 6/10 Independent Non-executive Director
P B IEITES
Fahmi Idris 1/10 Independent Non-executive Director
7PN BUIENTES
* Resigned on 1 January 2014 RZZE—WF—A—HEE
# Resigned on 1 June 2014 # RZZT—FANA—BFHE
Only two regular Board meetings were held as the Company z]x@ mf BITMAEE2 e  REIZA
does not announce its quarterly results and hence not NEIWEANMESEELSE - it ~EER
consider the holding of quarterly meetings as necessary. ?ER;:‘ETT Be%o WERETSTAHEXY
This constitutes a deviation from Code Provision A.1.1. BATTIE
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Under Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term. Except for Mr. Fahmi Idris,
Independent Non-executive Director, who were appointed
for a term of three years, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Non-executive
Director, and the remaining Independent Non-executive
Directors including Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai
and Mr. Wong Chi Keung were not appointed for a specific
term. This constitutes a deviation from Code Provision A.4.1.
However, according to the articles of association of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
and the Directors to retire by rotation shall be those who
have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practice in this respect is
in line with that provided in the Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Executive Director, Mr. Dong Shutong, served as the
chairman and chief executive of the Company. The chairman
is responsible for overseeing the Company’s operations in
respect of compliance with both internal rules and statutory
requirements, and promoting the corporate governance of
the Company. The Company did not appoint another
individual to act as the chief executive for the year ended 31
December 2013 and up to the date of this report. This
constitutes a deviation from code provision A.2.1. The Board
believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and
the shareholders as a whole since Mr. Dong Shutong is
knowledgeable in the business of the Group and possesses
the essential leadership skills to guide discussions of the
Board.

Important decision-making and the day-to-day management
of the Company are carried out by all of the Executive
Directors. Although the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive of the Company are not segregated, the functions
of the chief executive were carried out by all of the Executive
Directors collectively.

The Board considered that the Group’s prevailing structures
and systems met the code provisions in the CG Code. The
current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role
in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and
their views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision.
In particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of
the Company’s strategy, performance and control. All
Independent Non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their
professional advices to the Board. The Board also considers
that Independent Non-executive Directors can provide
independent advice on the Company’s business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of shareholders
can be taken into account, and the interests of the Company
and its shareholders can be protected.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the existing Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Training and Support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities. Each newly appointed Director would
receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director of a listed company. The Group also provides
briefings and other training to develop and refresh the
Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group continuously
updates Directors on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes
are issued to Directors and senior management where
appropriate, to ensure awareness of best corporate
governance practices.

During the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December
2013, the Directors have attended seminars and/or
conferences and/or forums relating to directors’ duties and/
or read newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
economy, general business or directors’ duties etc.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for
securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific
enquiries, the Company has confirmed that all Directors
have compiled with the requirements set out in the Model
Code.
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Board Committees

The Board has established audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee (collectively “Board
committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board Committees are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung serves as the
chairman of the audit committee. During the year, the audit
committee held three meetings on 27 March 2013, 23 April
2013 and 28 August 2013 respectively and all committee
members attended the meetings.

During the meetings held in 2013, the audit committee had
performed the following work:

(1) reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31
December 2012 and for the six months ended 30 June
2013;

(2) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(8) reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and
engagement letter;

(4) reviewed the management letter from the external
auditor in relation to the audit of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2012;

(5) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board
the 2013 audit scope and fees; and

(6) discussed the retirement of existing external auditor
and appointment of new external auditor.

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) reviewing the financial reporting process, internal
control system and the completeness of financial
reports of the Company;

(2) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditor,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(3) to review the independence of the external auditor;
(4) to discuss with the external auditor on the nature and

scope of audit prior to the commencement of the
auditing procedures;
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to review the interim and annual financial statements.
The audit committee has reviewed the auditing
performance, the internal controls and the audited
financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2013; and

to discuss the retirement of existing external auditor
and appointment/reappointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was
established on 10 April 2006 and comprises one Executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.
The members of the remuneration committee are: Mr. Dong
Shutong, Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr.
Wong Chi Keung. Mr. Huang Changhuai serves as the
chairman of the remuneration committee. During the year,
the remuneration committee held two meetings on 27 March
2013 and 28 August 2013 respectively and all committee
members attended the meeting to review the performance
and incentives of Executive Directors and terms of
employment of the management staff within the Group in
2013.

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:

(1)

to make recommendation to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing policy on such remuneration;

to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
specific remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee
should consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration;

to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

to review and approve the compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their office
or appointment;
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(5) to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; and

(6) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his
own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 30 December
2011 and is chaired by Mr. Dong Shutong, an Executive
Director. Other members of the Committee are Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung,
who are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The nomination committee is responsible for formulating
policy and making recommendations to the Board on
nominations, appointment of Directors and Board
succession. The committee develops selection procedures
for candidates, and will consider different criteria including
appropriate professional knowledge and industry
experience, as well as consult external recruitment
professionals when required. The committee also reviews
the size, structure and composition of the Board and
assesses the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two
meetings on 27 March 2013 and 28 August 2013
respectively and all committee members attended the
meeting to review the structure and composition of the
Board and independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Yee Lok, the Company Secretary of the Company,
is a full time employee of the Group and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During financial year,
the Company Secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Chan resigned as Company Secretary on
26 April 2014.

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic was appointed as Company
Secretary on 3 June 2014. The biographical details of Mr.
Choi is set out on in the section entitles “Directors, Senior
Management and Audit Committee” in the annual report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of
internal controls and its effectiveness. Such a system is
designed to manage the Company’s risks within an
acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve the policies and business objectives of the
Company. Accordingly, it can only provide reasonable
assurance but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement of management and financial information and
records or against financial losses or fraud. The Board has
established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks faced by the Company
and this process includes updating the system of internal
controls when there are changes to business environment.
During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Company and its principal subsidiaries with no material
issues noted. The Board is of the view that the system of
internal controls in place for the year under review and up to
the date of issuance of this annual report and the
consolidated financial statements is sound and is sufficient
to safeguard the interests of shareholders, creditors and
employees, and the Company’s assets. The management
assists the Board in the implementation of the Board’s
policies and procedures on risk and control by identifying
and assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design,
operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls to
mitigate and control these risks.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key
areas of the Group’s internal control systems are reasonably
implemented and the Group has substantially complied with
the code provisions of the Former Code and the New Code
(where applicable) regarding internal control systems.

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities For the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.
The statement of the external auditor about the reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to
66 of this annual report.
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() Going Concern and Mitigation Measures () BELERNEEE
During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group He—_Z—=F+-_A=+—81
incurred a loss of approximately HK$1,365.5 million FEE ER WIS E KA N K E B
and had a net operating cash outflow of approximately BRARRKEEMEERIEAENE
HK$100.0 million due to the market downturn and B AEEBRSEELN1365588
significant change in operating and regulatory BT WHLEIREF MR 100.0
environment of the Group’s subsidiaries. As at 31 BEEBA T - RN_T—=F+_A
December 2013, the Company and the Group had net =t+—H  ARARIERAEENRD
current liabilities of HK$420.3 million and HK$1,243.2 BEFEYANALI003EBESBE TN
million, respectively. The Group’s total borrowings 124328 &8 L AEBRN —-F
amounted to HK$2,210.8 million, out of which —ZH+ A=+ BZHEEEA
HK$1,201.4 million will be due within 12 months as at 22108EB& BT HF1201.488
31 December 2013. The current borrowings mainly BITEBR T ZEARNEE - BNERE
included the current portion of the 39,099 10% EFZe#39,000 52 10 EBEL
coupon senior bonds (the “10% Coupon Senior BEE (10 BBELES]) 2 BIEREE
Bonds”) of HK$422.7 million and certain bank and D427 EBETLEAETRITER R
other borrowings of HK$778.6 million. The cash and HEMEET7786EE BT - AEBR
cash equivalents of the Group amounted to HK$54.0 —E-—=—F+ZA=+—HZzRe

million as at 31 December 2013. In addition, the MR EBEYMARS40EEBT - It
Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to Gy RRRIREAETHB AR SR
various litigations as detailed in Note 36 to the ZIELRREEH GFBIHNGZEE Y
consolidated financial statements. Bz MIFE36) ©

These conditions together with others described in JH; kR E R 47 A B 1% R & M 5
Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements, 1( )ﬁﬁLE’Jﬁ%%ﬁ?@ﬁ/_\ﬁﬁék
have indicated the existence of material uncertainties THHEH A& 2SR EFBFEL
which might cast significant doubt on the Group’s EHRENELEERSE  BHASE
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it SEETAEEBBEPKEE
might not be able to realise its assets and discharge its EZRRERAAE-

liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Board had given careful consideration to the future EEeAARAEEES R M

liquidity and performance of the Group and its available BERBERLE DFEZELAE

sources of financing in assessing whether the Group BARRRESERIBANLEATT

would have sufficient financial resources to continue as ZENERIR o REBEE RREUE T

a going concern. Certain measures had been taken to FELABE B & & 0B W S E E

mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its AR - BEETRAATSIE

financial position which include, but not limited to, the

following:

(1) to finalise the proposed disposal of up to 30% (1) A& ZE?%W’&EEE'E/HJ;E%E—
equity interest SEAM. On 21 January 2013, the % R30% MR - RNZ
Group entered into a non-binding framework F—A=+—8" K’Eléﬁiib
agreement with Beijing Wincapital Management RIERAIZERERR AR (L
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to the RERIVEEHEREE
disposal of a 30% equity interest in SEAM, a 2 EM B A R FTESE30% 1%
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The mAELRDIEEGZE - B
aggregate disposal consideration is expected to &R BT B A D A R 900
be approximately RMB900 million (approximately BET(HI1EBT) - HEAR
HK$1.1 billion). The proposed transaction is at RERH BEXSMERT
the finalisation stage and no formal sales and TRPEER - MARFI S AEMERXE
purchase agreement has been entered into up to BEE o BIERBRESE
the date of this report. Longer than expected Eﬂﬁﬁ\ﬁ FREENKE RREIR
time has been spent on negotiation of the Sp=v - Eﬁ(lﬁt?ﬁuﬂl%ﬁ\&ﬂﬂ-’?
detailed terms and conditions because of the Zﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ MRESRK - E&
rapid change in operating and regulatory X%ﬁuj(¢aai'§§$’$@mmﬁ’\
environment of SEAM since the framework TAEREOB RN

agreement was signed. The proposed
transaction can significantly strengthen the cash
flow position of the Group as a whole in the near
future;
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on 13 June 2014, the Group completed the
restructuring of the senior bonds and the
convertible bonds of the Group, mainly including
(i) the extension of the principal repayment
schedule under the terms of the convertible
bonds and the maturity date from March 2015 to
March 2018 in relation to the convertible bonds;
and (i) the extension of the principal repayment
schedule under the terms of the senior bonds
and the final maturity date from March 2015 to
December 2018 in relation to the senior bonds;

the Group has been actively negotiating with the
lenders for the renewal of its borrowings as
necessary when those borrowings fall due in
2014. Based on the past experience, the Group
did not encounter any significant difficulties in
renewing the borrowings and the directors are
confident that all necessary borrowings can be
renewed when necessary. Subsequent to year
end and up to the date of this report, bank
borrowings with aggregate principal amounts of
HK$152.6 million were successfully renewed for
another twelve months from their respective
original due dates;

the Group is also negotiating with various
financial institutions and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working capital
and commitments in the foreseeable future;

on 8 July 2014, the Group obtained support from
its controlling shareholder, Easyman to charge
over 1,307,786,705 ordinary shares in the par
value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the
Company held by Easyman to a third party,
representing approximately 51.22% of the issued
share capital of the Company for an additional
financing of RMB49.2 million;

the Group is maximising its sales effort, including
speeding up of sales of its existing inventories
and seeking new orders from overseas markets
(including Taiwan) on developed new products,
and implementing more stringent cost control
measures with a view to improving operating
cash flows; and

the Group is also actively identifying to dispose of
its non-core assets, which is estimated to be
about HK$40 million. Agents have been
appointed to assist in the disposal of some of
these assets.
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(i) Delay in Publication of the 2013 Annual Results (i) EEHR_-Z=—=F2FFERK_
and 2014 Interim Results and Further Delay in ZFE—M&EHh E,q ¥EBELURNE—SIEE
2013 Annual Report and 2014 Interim Report IR -_BE-—=ZFEEERENR_-Z

—OERHRHRE
(a)  Reason for Delay (a) FLEFE

Under Rules 13.46(2)(a) and 13.49(1) of the BEEm %ﬁu Bl 25 13.46(2)(@) &
Listing Rules, the Company is required to publish 13.49(M)1& + AR ﬂ APNER
the announcement in relation to its preliminary AARRFEREE=MA
annual results for the year ended 31 December (BPR=—ZFE—mE=H=+—H
2013 (the “2013 Annual Results”) on a date not AR HEEEEE T —=
later than three months after the end of the F+A=+—HIEFEZHF
financial year of the Company, i.e. on or before EVFEE([ T —=F2F
31 March 2014; and despatch its annual report ¥E DL REATERAR

for the year ended 31 December 2013 (the “2013 a8 K F;* 1% {8 B (8D

Annual Report”) on a date not more than four R-E— Ei@ﬂ =+H=MN
months after the end of the financial year of the Al BEEARNREZ -ZE—=
Company, i.e. on or before 30 April 2014; and F+-_A=Z+—HIEFEZF
under Rules 13.48(1) and 13.49(6) of the Listing ERETZETE—=FFER
Rules, publish the announcement in relation to its H): RBRE E™HAE
preliminary interim results for the six months 13. 48(1)&13.49( )ﬂ;‘é? TER
ended 30 June 2014 (the “2014 Interim Results”) ARNBM BB EEWEA
on a date not later than two months after the end (MR =—ZE—mFENA=+—H
of the period of the Company, i.e. on or before S CARD) T EEEBE_—Z—MN
31 August 2014; and despatch its interim report FEXRA=Z+TBHIENEARAZFH
for the six months ended 30 June 2014 (the UFFEBE( T — @EE?JHE%
“2014 Interim Report”) on a date not more than Bl AE D RATERARDR]
three months after the end of the financial period B 1B 5P F'ﬁ iR = A (BIR
of the Company, i.e. on or before 30 September ZE-MFAA=THZHAH])
2014. The delay in publication of the results and BERARNAEHZE T —OEN
reports had constituted a non-compliance with A=+tHItBREzPBH®E
Rules 13.46(2)(a), 13.48(1) and 13.49(1) and ((ZE—FEHREHFHR]) - T
13.49(6) of the Listing Rules. BT EEEEERRECHEK

IF5E EmHRIZE13.46(2)(@)
13.48(1) ~ 13.49(1) & 13.49(6)

fig
As set out in the announcements of the Company AR AR B H 7%:55 —OF =
dated 27 March 2014, 14 May 2014, 15 August A-++H - —Z—WFHA
2014 and 23 September 2014, additional time is +EE =T E FNANATH
required by the Company to gather further ARZFE—MFAA=T=AR
information to enable its auditors, PwC, to ZRERM  AARIREES
perform and complete their audit procedures. R EE—TER - AR
Such information included, among others, the B EAN 2 R KBS LAETT
following: R HEFIEF c ZFEH
BEETRARUATEIE
(1) legal opinions (the “Legal Opinions”) in (1) BTESAEEZFHE
connection with certain disputes and ENEE J)*ﬁ?@ﬁzﬁ@ﬁ
litigation involving the Group (the REEERD
“Disputes”); and
(2)  additional financial information of the Group @ REINHAEBEGHER
(the “Financial Information”), including the (MBEER]) - BEARE
cashflow projection of the Group and the BReR=ETEAEARD
cashflow projections of various overseas BEEIEEIVGE )= PN
and PRC subsidiaries of the Company. AlzREeRETEA -
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(1) Legal Opinions

For the purposes of ascertaining the
provisions to be made in the financial
statements of the Group in connection with
the Disputes, the Company obtained the
Legal Opinions in connection with (i) the
statutory demands issued by Rock
Resource Limited (“RR”) and United Mineral
Limited (“UM”) (collectively referred to as
the “Buyers”) and (i) the winding-up petition
instigated by TORM A/S (“TORM”).

()  Statutory Demands

On 20 March 2014, the Company, in
its capacity as the guarantor of the
seller (CNR Group Holdings Pte Ltd, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group)
to the relevant agreements, received
the statutory demands (the “Statutory
Demands”) from RR and UM in
demand for (i) an amount of US$10.3
million (equivalent to approximately
HK$80.2 million); and (i) an amount of
RMB70.3 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$89.4 million).

Upon receipt of the Statutory
Demands, the Company engaged its
legal advisers on 2 April 2014 to,
among others, defend against the
Statutory Demands and had been
actively defending against the
Statutory Demands. The Company
will make further announcement(s) as
appropriate on the developments of
the litigation involving the Statutory
Demands.

As the Company was involved in
lengthy negotiations to settle the
disputes with RR and UM, the
finalisation of the Legal Opinions was
delayed.

No provision had been made in
connection with the Statutory
Demands as the directors, after
obtaining legal advice, considered
that it is not probable that this
litigation would result in any material
outflow of economic benefits from the
Group.
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Winding up petition

The Company, as charterers, entered
into Contracts of Affreightment and
Addendum (“COA”) with a marine
vessel owner, TORM. Pursuant to the
COA, the Company had committed to
hire a nominated vessel for the
carriage of a certain minimum number
of cargoes per calendar month for
shipment in connection with the
export of iron ores from Indonesia. As
a result of the Export Ban, the
Company was unable to fulfil the
committed shipment of cargoes as
stipulated in the COA.

From 28 January 2014 onwards, the
Group received various legal letters
from TORM in demand for (i) an
outstanding freight charges payable
by the Group to TORM of
approximately US$1.8 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$14.3
million) (“Outstanding Freight
Charges”); and (i) losses suffered by
TORM as a result of the Company’s
failure to comply with its obligation
under the COA, namely, the shipment
of approximately 51 cargoes (“Other
Losses”), which was estimated by
TORM to be in the amount of
approximately US$11.8 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$91.7
million) up to 27 March 2014.

Upon receipt of the above legal
letters, the Board commenced liaison
with TORM and involved several
discussions with its management and
representatives in order to
compromise an acceptable solution.
However, the result of lengthy
discussion was not satisfactory. The
Board appointed an overseas legal
advisor to handle the disputes,
performing fact-finding process,
meeting with TORM management,
understanding the background
information and obtained the
preliminary legal advice. Then the
Group commenced to re-negotiate
again with TORM management
representative. The negotiation might
have certain positive feedback at the
beginning. However following the
Export Ban not uplifted, on 15 May
2014, TORM filed a winding up
petition against the Company to the
High Court.
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The Outstanding Freight Charges
payable by the Group to TORM up to
31 December 2013 had been fully
accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2013
and the Outstanding Freight Charges
were fully settled by the Group in June
2014 and the winding up petition was
withdrawn by TORM on 24 June
2014,

In connection with the claims on Other
Losses, the Group has engaged legal
advisors to commence arbitration
procedures with TORM in February
2014. The said arbitration procedures
are still in progress as at the date of
this report. The Company will make
further announcement(s) as
appropriate on the development of
the arbitration procedures in due
course.

As the Company was involved in
lengthy negotiations to settle the
disputes with TORM, the finalisation
of the Legal Opinions was delayed.

(2)  Financial Information
Subsequent to the withdrawal of the
winding-up petition and the approval of the
Holders to amend certain terms of the
Bonds on 13 June 2014, PwC re-started
audit works in July 2014 in connection with
the 2013 Annual Results. However, the
Disputes and the Export Ban casted
significant doubts on the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows position and in
light of the current market situation of steel
industry in the PRC, additional audit work
was required from PwC, including, among
others, the following:
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Obtaining the Legal Opinions in
connection with the Disputes for the
purposes of assessing whether
provisions in respect of the Disputes
are required to be made in the 2013
Annual Results;
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—  Obtaining the updated working capital
projections of the Group from the
management together with the
underlying assumptions for the
purposes of assessing the Group’s
ability to operates as a going concern;
and

— conducting review on impairment
assessment on the recoverable
amounts on certain assets and the
amounts of impairment provisions in
relation to, among others, the
Exclusive Offtake Agreement and
certain operating property, plant and
equipment of the Group.

The Company had provided, among others,
all the available information to enable PwC
to conduct the above procedures before
this report.

In addition, the preparation of the Financial
information and management accounts of
the Group was delayed due to the time
lapse between the resignation and the
appointment of the Company’s financial
controller and company secretary on 25
April 2014 and 3 June 2014, respectively.

Consequently, the preparation of the
Financial Information was delayed.

(b)  Mitigation measures

(1)

&

Legal Opinions

In order to avoid delay in obtaining the legal
opinions, the Board plans to actively involve
its external legal advisers in the discussions
and negotiations to expedite the process
and to hold regular meetings with its
external legal advisers to facilitate the
communication flow.

Financial Information

In order to avoid delay in the compilation
and provision of information in connection
with the Group’s Financial Information, the
Board plans to implement the following
measures:

° enhance the documentation system
to strengthen the information retrieval
process;
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° involve additional personnel in the
preparation of the Group’s management
accounts and financial projections to
avoid delay; and

° hold more regular meetings with its
auditors to facilitate the
communication flow and to update
the auditors of the Group’s financial
position regularly.

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the total fees paid/
payable to PwC, auditor of the Company, in respect of audit
and non-audit services are set out below:
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For the year ended
31 December 2013

BE=-=E—=f
+=—BA=+—H
IHFEE
HK$’000
BET T
Audit services ERE

Annual audit and audit related services FEEZNEZBBARSE 3,800

Non-audit services FEFXRE
Tax advisory services G E ARG 500
Other services H A R 2,280

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND RERER KRR ZBE

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The management believes that it is essential to maintain effective
communication with the investment community in a timely manner
through various media and channels. The Company holds regular
briefings, attends investor conferences and participates in one-
on-one meetings and conversations with institutional investors
and analysts in Hong Kong, PRC and overseas countries to keep
them abreast of the Company’s business and development.

Communications with Shareholders

As the key principle of corporate governance, the Company has a
set of values and behaviors to ensure transparency and fair
dealing and to protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholder’s
rights. Shareholders are provided with contact details of the
Company, such as telephone hotline, fax number and postal
address, which enable them to engage actively with the Company
and make any query with respect to the Company.
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To promote open, efficient and transparent communications with
shareholders, investors and analysts, the Investor Relations
Department commits to promptly responding to their enquiries
and also providing them with the necessary information in a timely
manner so as to facilitate the investment community to better
understand the Company’s strategy and latest developments.
Shareholders, investors and analysts can also send enquires and
concerns to the Board by addressing them to the Investor
Relations Department of the Company by letter, telephone or fax.
In addition, if shareholders have any enquiries about their shares
and dividends, they can contact Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar
of the Company. The contact details of the Company are stated
in the section entitled “Corporate Information” on page 2 to 3 in
this annual report.

The Board endeavors to provide timely and accurate information
equally to shareholders and investors. The Company’s website
(http://ir.cnrholdings.com) facilitates effective communications
with shareholders, investors and other stakeholders of the
Company by providing up-to-date information relating to the
Company’s latest development, corporate events, press releases,
financial reports and other information on a timely basis. Annual
reports, interim reports and other relevant information, including
announcements in accordance with the Company’s continuous
disclosure obligations are available and also posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for
the public’s review.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Company regards the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) as an
important event as it provides invaluable opportunity for the
Directors to meet and communicate with the shareholders. The
Company ensures that shareholders’ views are extended to the
Board. Chairman of the AGM proposes separate resolutions for
each issue to be considered. Members of the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees and the external auditor also attend
the AGM to answer questions from shareholders.

AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that
the Company follows best corporate governance practices. The
notice of AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear
business days prior to the AGM, and the accompanying circular
also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other
relevant information as required under the Listing Rules. Chairman
of the AGM exercises his power under the articles of association
of the Company to put each proposed resolution to the vote by
way of a poll. The procedures for demanding and conducting a
poll are explained at the beginning of the meeting. Voting results
are posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in a timely manner.
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The 2013 AGM was held on 19 June 2013. Except for Mr. Song
Wenzhou, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Fahmi
Idris, all other members of the Board has attended the 2013
AGM.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of CG Code, Independent Non-
executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors should
attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Mr. Yang Tianjun, a Non-executive
Director and Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Fahmi Idris, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were
unable to attend the 2013 AGM due to other business
commitment.

Under code provision E.1.2 of CG Code, the Chairman of the
Board should invite the Chairman of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee to attend
and answer questions at the AGM. Mr. Huang Changhuai, the
Chairman of the remuneration committee was unable to attend
the 2013 AGM.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company can make a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary
general meeting pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles
of association. The written requisition must state the objects of
the meeting, and must be signed by the relevant shareholder(s)
and deposited at the head office of the Company, which is
presently situated at Room 3501, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Center, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of
association or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding
procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as
director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business
specified in such written requisition.

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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To the shareholders of
China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 67 to 184, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on conducting the audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs,
however, it is not possible to form an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements as we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence, and the potential interaction of the
uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the
consolidated financial statements.

: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Impairment losses of intangible asset and the
Company’s interests in subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of the Group’s
intangible asset amounted to HK$2,387,786,000. As detailed in
Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, such intangible
asset represents an exclusive offtake right secured from PT.
Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan”), a limited company incorporated in
Indonesia, whereby Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic
ores produced by Yiwan to the Group at pre-determined prices
within a specific period of time.

During the year 2012, certain Indonesian governmental authorities
promulgated several new rules and regulations regarding ores
export approval and export tax. During the year ended 31
December 2013, the relevant Indonesian governmental authorities
further promulgated that unprocessed ore export by mining
business licence holders in Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) will be
banned from 12 January 2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders
have carried out processing and refining domestically according
to the relevant regulations regarding implementation of activities of
business of minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining
and smelting in accordance with those relevant laws.
Consequently, the export of unprocessed iron ores from Yiwan to
the Group ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

As further explained in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the recoverable amount of the
intangible asset as at 31 December 2013, the directors of the
Company, amongst other considerations, made reference to the
disposal consideration as stipulated in a non-binding framework
agreement entered into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital
Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”), an independent third
party, on 21 January 2013, pursuant to which the Group
proposed to dispose of a 30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively, “SEAM Group”), which are engaged in
the trading of ores and holding of the intangible asset of the
Group, to Beijing Wincapital. As the proposed disposal
consideration substantially exceeds the attributable carrying
amount of the aforesaid intangible asset, the directors are of the
opinion that there was no impairment of the intangible asset as at
31 December 2013.

However, as there is no formal sales and purchase agreement
entered into for the proposed disposal up to the date of this audit
report and the proposed disposal is yet to complete, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence we consider
necessary to assess the valuation of the intangible asset. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset and whether any impairment charge should be made. Any
adjustment to the amount of the intangible asset found to be
necessary would affect the Group’s net assets as at 31 December
2013, the Group’s loss for the year then ended and the related
note disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.
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In addition, as the intangible asset is held by SEAM Group, any
adjustment on the amount of the intangible asset found to be
necessary would also affect the carrying amount of the
Company’s interests in subsidiaries which amounted to
HK$3,899,048,000 as at 31 December 2013, the Company’s
profit for the year then ended and the related note disclosures to
the consolidated financial statements.

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a loss of HK$1,365,506,000
during the year ended 31 December 2013 and, as of that date, it
had net current liabilities of HK$1,243,238,000. In addition, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to various legal
claims as detailed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. These conditions, along with other matters as
described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking certain
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, and to resolve the major litigations as detailed in Note
36 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures and litigation matters, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to complete
the proposed disposal of the 30% interest in SEAM Group at the
prescribed consideration before the end of year 2014 and be able
to collect the disposal consideration in full immediately upon
completion of the transaction after properly offsetting the relevant
borrowings; (i) the availability of financing from lenders through
successful renewal of the existing current and other borrowings
and availability of additional new financing as and when required;
(i) whether the Group is able to implement its operation plans to
control costs and to generate adequate cash flows from
operations; and (iv) whether the Group is able to resolve the
litigation matters without significant cash outflows in the next
twelve months.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence and the potential interaction of the uncertainties
and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
paragraphs, we do not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS
This report has been prepared for and only for you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility

towards, or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 7 October 2014
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Consolidated Income Statement

meEWmE

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #EZ —Z—=F+_A=+—HILLFE

2013 2012
—E—=F —E—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
(Restated —
Note 2.1(b))
(&S —
BsE2.1(0))
Revenue W= 6 1,635,170 1,810,036
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,664,620) (1,656,057)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8/)/EF (29,450) 153,979
Other gains/(losses), net Hih&@F, (&iE) 558 6 49,477 (100,414)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HERAX (5,196) (19,225)
Administrative expenses TR (284,672) (243,040)
Finance income BhE WA 8 17,735 20,546
Finance costs B & R AN 8 (280,927) (356,547)
Other expenses HEabFEX (67,737) (10,981)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAR Z&F 33 - 675,291
Impairment losses on property, Y - BB RRERESE
plant and equipment 14 (726,185) (151,883)
Share of (loss)/profit of an associate {5 —EE & A=Al (BE), 88 18 (13,508) 851
Loss before income tax BRET1S R B ES 18 7 (1,340,463) (31,423
Income tax expense FR8fif 2 10 (25,043) (248,293)
Loss for the year FREE (1,365,506) (279,716)
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company KATEEE A 11 (1,366,411) (278,301)
Non-controlling interests FEERR 905 (1,415)
(1,365,506) (279,716)
Loss per share attributable to RATIBAET B AR
equity holders of the Company B EE
— Basic (HK dollar) — BEAXCET) 13 (0.54) (0.12)
— Diluted (HK dollar) —BH5(ET) 13 (0.54) (0.12)

The notes on pages 79 to 184 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are
disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

FT79E184 B 2 M ARG A B TRER M — 26

7 e

FERT BB R AR FFRA R Z FE BN AR & B 75

WERMEE12
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #iZ — T —=F+_A=+—HItFE

2013 2012
—E—=F —E—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated —
Note 2.1(b))
(&7 —
B EE2.1(b))
lossfortheyear #EmE (1,365,506) ~  (279,716)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hih2mEkE (EiE)
Items that have been reclassified or BEEF D L[ ER A EFT 5 1E
may be subsequently reclassified to FEmsEH
profit or loss
Exchange differences reclassified to Hj’i B ENGILEEER R S
consolidated income statement on FEWEKRERZRE
disposal of a subsidiary — (5,495)
Exchange differences on translation of BN ERRITEE N =58
foreign operations 69,457 7,998
Other comprehensive income FERBZHEMEEKS
fortheyean netoftax o RN 2508
Total comprehensive loss FEXEBES
for the year (1,296,049) (277,213)
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company ARRAIBRERBA (1,296,964) (275,861)
Non-controlling interests JEIE SRR S 915 (1,352)
(1,296,049) (277,213)

The notes on pages 79 to 184 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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As at 31 December 2013 —E—=%+_A=+—H

As at
As at 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
W+=—HA=+—8 n—A—H
—B-=F —T——-—F ZET——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FH&T T FHTT
(Restated —  (Restated —
Note 2.1 (b)) Note 2.1 (b))
(&Y — (KEY —
fizE2.1 ()  BiEEE2.1 (b))
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 1,928,122 2,574,272 2,601,150
Prepaid land lease payments A LA E IR 15 202,093 221,002 239,478
Intangible asset | EAE 16 2,387,786 2,498,900 2,578,215
Interest in an associate R—EEE AR 2w 18 83,449 89,069 25,899
Pledged time deposits BT EER 24 495,021 - -
Deferred tax assets RIETHIEE B 19 1,932 889 188,166
Other non-current assets HEMIEmBEE 20 3,987 1,233 -
5,102,390 5,385,365 5,632,908
Current assets REBEE
Inventories e 21 474,600 702,024 706,813
Trade and notes receivables FEUER T R RN R 4% 22 108,388 111,188 182,918
Prepayments, deposits and JEfEE - KSR
other receivables H b fE U SR IE 23 213,546 1,019,438 324,425
Pledged time deposits BT TR 24 363,929 464,397 270,878
Cash and cash equivalents BHE&EREEEY 24 54,065 141,610 141,636
1,214,528 2,438,657 1,626,670
Asset of a disposal group DEAFELEZRE
classified as held for sale HERIEE - - 891,490
1,214,528 2,438,657 2,518,160
Total assets HWEE 6,316,918 7,824,022 8,151,068
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As at 31 December 2013 —E—=%+_A=+—H

As at
As at 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
BR+=—A=+—H Rn—H—H
—B-=F —T——-—F ZET——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BI5E FHET T FHTT
(Restated —  (Restated —
Note 2.1 (b)) Note 2.1 (b))
(&Y — (KEY —
fizE2.1 (o) PFiEE2.1 (b))
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves RATREZEA
attributable to equity holders E{5E XK #E
of the Company
Share capital AR 31 255,304 230,606 230,433
Reserves s 32 2,553,223 3,755,085 4,048,871
2,808,527 3,985,691 4,279,304
Non-controlling interests FEERER 9,450 18,905 150,004
Totalequity ~ ~ #=®&®E 00000 2,817,977 4,004,596 4,429,308
LIABILITIES a&
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITERREMEE 28 880,221 473,609 83,602
Convertible bonds A] PR (& & 29 129,182 177,660 -
Derivative financial instruments  $T4 & # T A 27 21,652 101,592 -
Other long term payables H b KBRS FOE 30 8,751 8,115 6,513
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBEE 19 1,369 3,043 2,962
1,041,175 764,019 93,077
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As at 31 December 2013 —E—=%+_A=+—H

As at

As at 31 December 1 January

2013 2012 2012
R+=—B=+—H ®—HA—H

—EB-=F ZE——-F IZE—_F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
PitEE TERT FABT FBT

(Restated —  (Restated —
Note 2.1 (b)) Note 2.1 (b))

(&Y — (KEF —
fizE2.1 (b)) PFiIFE2.1 (0)

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FEISHBR SN 25 184,566 175,949 237,260
Notes payables R % 25 587,614 645,087 494,768
Other payables and accruals HEMERIEREAE 26 445,081 612,407 526,886
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4& 4@ T A - - 10,823
Bank and other borrowings RITERERHEMER 28 1,201,404 1,557,409 496,719
Current portion of AR (E S 2 BV

convertible bonds 29 - - 1,436,314
Tax payable JERTFRIE 39,101 64,555 37,893

2,457,766 3,055,407 3,240,663
Liabilities directly associated with B H 518 A EHER

the assets classified as BEEMBzBE

held for sale - - 388,020
ettt D 2,457,766 3,055,407 3628683
Total liabilites ~~~~~~~ ®&8& = 3,498,941 3819426 3,721,760
Total equity and liabilities ERRkEBEHREE 6,316,918 7,824,022 8,151,068
Net current liabilities REBAEEFEE (1,243,238) 616,750)  (1,110,523)
Total assets less HEERARBER

current liabilities 3,859,152 4,768,615 4,522,385

Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 79 to 184 are an integral part of these £ 79ZF 184 B 7 Mi:tX AARLG 4 B GHE 1 —E
consolidated financial statements. 7o
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Statement of Financial Position

BRI R

As at 31 December 2013 —E—=%+_A=+—H

As at
As at 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
BR+=—A=+—H R—HA—H
—EB-=F ZE——-F IZE—_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BI5E FHET T FHTT
(Restated —  (Restated —
Note 2.1 (b)) Note 2.1 (b))
(g&:5 — (BEF —
fizE2.1 (o) PFiEE2.1 (b))
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% « &= M & E 14 23,494 24,347 23,787
Prepaid land lease payments A LR E IR - - 13,258
Interests in subsidiaries R B AT 2z 17 3,899,048 3,711,266 4,776,218
SR 3,922,542  3,735613 4,813,258
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and AR - HE K
other receivables H b pe U sk I8 23 9,985 11,991 12,907
Pledged time deposits BT TR 24 13,285 115,131 -
Cash and cash equivalents Be MReEEY 24 559 3,297 6,851
e 23,829 180419 19,788
Total assets WEE 3,946,371 3,866,032 4,833,016
Equity R
Share capital &7 31 255,304 230,606 230,433
Reserves F1E 32 2,553,223 2,384,211 2,940,428
Total equity A 2,808,527 2,614,817 3,170,861
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Statement of Financial Position

BRI R

As at 31 December 2013 —E—=%+_A=+—H

As at
As at 31 December 1 January
2013 2012 2012
BR+=ZA=+—H Rn—H—H
—E-=F —ZE——-fF —ZE-——-%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET T FHTT
(Restated —  (Restated —
Note 2.1 (b)) Note 2.1 (b))
(&&E — (&£&EY —
fizE2.1 ()  BiEEE2.1 (b))
LIABILITIES =
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITERREMEER 28 542,872 473,609 -
Convertible bonds Al APSE & 29 129,182 177,660 -
Derivative financial instruments  $74 &/ T A 27 21,652 101,592 -
Deferred tax liabilities BB EE 19 - 1,715 1,715
R 693,706 754,576 1,715
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade payables FETBR X 25 3,850 3,847 1,294
Other payables and accruals HitfEN AN ETEE 26 17,530 4,054 6,776
Derivative financial instruments 744 @I & = - 10,823
Bank and other borrowings RITEREHEMEER 28 422,758 488,738 203,217
Current portion of AR (E 2 2 BIERER &
convertible bonds 29 - - 1,436,314
Tax payable JES R IR - - 2,016
e 44138 496639 1,660,440
Total liabilites ~ #®&&% 1,137,844  1,261.2156 1,662,155
Total equity and liabilities ERREBEHREE 3,946,371 3,866,032 4,833,016
Net current liabilities RBAERE (420,309) (366,220)  (1,640,682)
Total assets less HWEERRBAS
current liabilities 3,502,233 3,369,393 3,172,576
Director Director
2 2

The notes on pages 79 to 184 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 HE —

—=F+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAAREREAEE
Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Capital ~ Statutory option  Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve  reserves reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total
BRE 2R
Bx  RMHEE BEBS ERRE  ERE RE  EXGEE REER it & a3t
Notes HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
i L T T T T T TiEn Tt Tt T L
(note31)  (noted2)  (ote32  (note32)  (note 32)
(akst)  (WeEs2)  (Wise)  (W#3)  (W&32)
For the year ended BEoE--f
31 December 2012 TZA=+-HLEE
At1 January 2012, as restated RZB-Z%-F-H
(Note 2.1 (b)) (BE5) (521 () 230433 30608390 47514 115807 76128 28792 380890 340101 4279304 150004 4,429,308
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (218301 (278301) (1415 (279716)
Other comprehensive income FREMEZENE :
for the year:
Exchange differences reclassified to TABEGANER
consolidated income statement u“j’ﬁ FHBAAZ
on disposal of a subsidiary EXER - - - - - - (5,495) - (5,495) - (5,495)
Exchange differences on translation of  FIMIERRAEEL 28
foreign operations - - - - - - 793 - 793 63 7998
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  £R2EUE/ (F8) &
for the year - - - - - - 2440 (U830 Q758N (1350 Q721
Establishment of a subsidiary BU-FHEBAR - - - - - - - - - 7,582 7,582
Disposal of a subsidlary HE-FHBLRA 3 - - - - - - - - - (19739 (197,329
Equity-settied share option DA 2 B R
arrangements 3% - - - - - 5,620 - - 5,620 - 5,620
Forfeited share option reserve BRMz BRERE % - - - - - (845) - - (845) - (845)
Conversion of convertible bonds RNBRER 2 173 343 - - - - - - 516 - 516
2012 interim dividend “B-EhERE - (B - - - - - - 30 - )
Transfers S - - - - 13,646 - - (13646) - - -
Total transaction with owners HEEAZRSAR 173 @270 - - 13646 4775 - (13646) (17750 (129747)  (147499)
At 31 December 2012 RZB-ZF+ZA=+-B 230606 3,036,939 47514 115807 89,774 33567 383330 48164 3,985,691 18906 4,004,596
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #EZ —Z—=F+_A=+—HILLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ENARERE AR
Retained
Share profits/ Non-
Share Share Contributed Capital ~ Statutory option  Exchange (Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve  reserves reserve reserve loss)  Sub-total interests Total
BhRE REEd/ FER

Bx  RGEE ERBRS ERHE  LERR BE EiRE (RiEE) gt ’E ozt
Notes HKS'000 ~ HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$0O00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
sk ThL Tin Tin TR TR TR TR TiEr TR T ThL
(note31)  (ote32)  (ote32)  (note32)  (note 32)
(zrst)  (Makse)  (WsEs2)  (Mks2)  (Ws)

For the year ended BE-®-=%

31 December 2013 TZAZT-HLEE
At1 January 2013, as restated W-E-Z£-f-B

(Note 2.1 (b)) (8871 (Ksk21 (b)) 230,606 3,036,939 47,514 115,807 89,774 33,567 383,330 48,154 3,985,691 18,905 4,004,596
Loss for the year FRER - - - = = = - (1,366411) (1,366411) 905 (1,365,506)
Other comprehensive income ERAMRENE

for the year:
Bxchange diferences on translation ~ SEAMIERRFEE 28

of foreign operations - - - - - - 69,447 - 69,447 10 69,457

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  £R2ERE / (F8) 4%

for the year - - - - - - 69,447  (1,366,411) (1,206,964) 915 (1,206,049)
Equity-settied share-based BERARAZ MR

compensation expense 3 - - - - - 3,084 - - 3,084 - 3,084
Conversion of convertible bonds EahRES 29 24,698 88,006 - - - - - - 12704 - 112704
Acquisttion of addiional interest WE-FMELR 2B

in 2 subsidiary 8 = = - - - s - a2 4012 (10370 (6359)
Total transaction with owners BEEAZRSEE 2698 83006 5 5 - a0 - 4012 119800 (f0370) 109430
At 31 December 2013 RZE-ZF+-A=t-R 255,304 3,124,945 47,514 115,807 89,774 36,651 452,777 (1,314,245) 2,808,527 9450 2,817,977

The notes on pages 79 to 184 are an integral part of these £ 79ZF 184 B 2 Mi:T AARLG S B GHE 1 — &
consolidated financial statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # 2 —Z—=F+_A=+—HILFE

76 +EKEFZERERATA  —B-=FFEHE

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FHET FET
(Restated —
Note 2.1 (b))
(l=&5) —
KizE2.1 (b))
Cash flows from RETHZHERE
operating activities
Loss before income tax BRAT1STLATEE (1,340,463) (31,423)
Adjustments for: TP EIEFHE
Finance costs BE R 8 280,927 356,547
Finance income BE WA 8 (17,735) (20,546)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWE  WEREEZ
plant and equipment, net &8/ (&F) 38 6 5,723 (70)
Changes in fair value of PTEEBMIARAREE
derivative financial instruments 5 6 (46,688) 21,703
Loss on restructure of AMRESFEHEER
convertible bonds, net FER 6 - 354
Depreciation E 7,14 133,836 122,023
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TR Aot A8 & SR IR 8
payments 7,15 5,374 5,169
Amortisation of intangible asset B E 16 111,114 79,315
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment M BR SR B B,
of trade receivables, net (#[E) 55 7 16,298 (1,293)
Provision for impairment of TR RRIE K E At R U RRIE
prepayments and other receivables, BER T
net 7 11,592 -
Provision for impairment of property, W% - WE R&ERE
plant and equipment B 7,14 726,185 151,883
Provision for impairment of B A EFIERE
prepaid land lease payments B 7,15 20,713 -
Impairment losses of inventories FEERERE 7,21 88,765 19,077
Share of loss/(profit) of an associate fEfh—FEB A RER
OaF) 18 13,508 (851)
Equity-settled share-based AR EEE RIARD 2
compensation expense &5 sz 35 3,084 4,775
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWB QR Z&F 33 - (675,291)
Loss on cancellation of warrants HIHRRIERE 2 BB 6 - 77,832
12,233 109,204



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #EZ —Z—=F+_A=+—HILLFE

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FHET FET
(Restated —
Note 2.1 (b))
(l=&5) —
KizE2.1 (b))
Operating profit before HEEREHH 2 LE
working capital changes: ping NI
Decrease in inventories FERL 137,058 15,969
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JRE 5 B 3R K FE LU R 9
notes receivables (gm), (13,944) 72,995
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments, TENFRIE - e MEAEIR
deposits and other receivables IR A,/ (HE) 28,887 (5,206)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and R R ENRIE
notes payables CRA), /48 (48,856) 89,149
(Decrease)/increase in HMERNRIERETAE
other payables and accruals CR),/ 18N (162,833) 25,966
Increase in other long term payables H th = B FE AT SRIEIE AN 636 1,603
Cash (used in)/generated REES (A EEZ
from operations e (46,819) 309,680
Income tax paid EATFER (53,214) (34,599)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated EEE (TR EEZ
from operating activities Hene F5 (100,033) 275,081
Cash flows from REZBZ2HERE
investing activities
Interest received FIBFT1SFIR 3,263 9,208
Purchase of property, BEYE  BEMERE
plant and equipment (157,932) (122,198)
Increase in pledged time deposits £ 1R TE B TF 2O AN (394,553) (193,519)
Payment for non-current assets SIIERENEE (2,754) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BER&E
plant and equipment FTiS5/IR 1,508 4,949
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & —K B A a5 ZIE 33 775,970 303,334
Net cash flows generated from BREZBEL 2R FHE
investing activities 225,502 1,774
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #iZ — T —=F+_A=+—HItFE

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Likz3 FERT TAT
(Restated —
Note 2.1 (b))
(gg&:% —
KizE2.1 (b))
Cash flows from BMETH2RERE
financing activities
Transaction costs paid for AR ESERAD SN2
restructure of convertible bonds TH5HE )ﬂ - (21,681)
Addition of bank loans and BRERTEREEMEE
other borrowings 1,598,601 1,015,936
Repayment of bank loans and BERITERREMBEE
other borrowings (1,552,562) (832,032)
Repayment of convertible bonds BRI ES - (110,324)
Dividends paid BN S = (23,167)
Interest paid BRFE (254,446) (232,207)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests I FEF p i 25 (6,358) (1,233)
Cancellation of warrants IR - (85,006)
Contribution from non-controlling e LENGIE R 2 e
shareholder of a subsidiary AE - 7,596
Net cash flows used in BMEEAECES
financing activities R (214,765) (282,118)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBELEENZED
cash equivalents R (89,296) (5,263)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYI 7R RIRESEEY
beginning of year 141,610 141,636
Effect of foreign exchange EREEHTEFE
rate changes, net 1,751 5,237
Cash and cash equivalents ERzBEEREEE
at end of year =L 54,065 141,610
Analysis of balances of cash and ReERBSESENEER
cash equivalents o
Cash and bank balances e RIBTES 24 54,065 141,610

The notes on pages 79 to 184 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 11 March 2004
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) is located at No. 7, Block F, Runhua
Business Garden, No. 24, Jinshui Road, Jinshui District,
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), 450012. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at Room 3501, China Merchants
Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holdings and the trading of ore. The Group is principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of iron and steel
products in the PRC and the trading of ore. The Company’s
Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), Easyman Assets Management Limited
(“Easyman”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”) and wholly owned by Mr. Dong Shutong (“Mr.
Dong”), is the ultimate holding company of the Group. Mr.
Dong is regarded as ultimate controlling party.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated, and
have been approved for issue by the board of Directors on
7 October 2014.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except that certain
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) are measured at fair value, as
appropriate.

—REH

AARRZZETMFE=A+—HRERE
HERAVEE2E(—NWA—FFE =%
Bl - &ira RIER]) EHR S B ST ML
RERRERAT - ARElaMrEEA
A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands ° AR B R EWEB AT (47
BIAEE ) FT2LEMBUNPEAR
FANE ([ ER ) Ja] m & B8N T B 7K & & 7K
BE245% B 2 g 15 1t BFETHR( B AR
450012) ° NA B E B & E BN E B
THBEF 168-2005% EEF L HEEBEAE
3501 % °

RARR 2 FBXBREEEREBEALE
5 AEBTENPRNEMERRLIE
MIHERBEAEZER - KRR R
HFEMAERXHMARAR (B R
Ere

BBEARBEE([EF)2ER  REB
BREHS((RBEXZES ) MK IR
EEMIA LD EHAB 2 Easyman Assets
Management Limited ([ Easyman ) # 1% &
REB 2 HIEERAT]

ZEEAMBHRERIAET(ET ) HIFR (B
EREHR) IELHEFEE_T
—E+ A BT -

TERETHRME

B BERPEIN  RELE VB HREATEA
MEZSHBRERFIBEERFEERK
A BEEmT e

21 RFEBEEE
RNRBEGE P RER TR HER At
AR ([ BHREER )
RE -BETEREERARE(RRE
PTESRIA)RAABETE(M
BRI BRGRA M ERERGRA
FEERATERAE -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

(a)

Going concern

During the year ended 31 December 2013,
the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$1,365,506,000 and had a net operating
cash outflow of approximately
HK$100,033,000 due to the market downturn
and significant change in operating and
regulatory environment of the Group’s
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2013, the
Company and the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$420,309,000 and
HK$1,243,238,000, respectively. The Group’s
total borrowings amounted to HK$2,210,807,000,
out of which HK$1,201,404,000 will be due within
twelve months as at 31 December 2013. The
current borrowings mainly included the current
portion of the 39,099 10% coupon senior bonds
(the “10% Coupon Senior Bonds”) of
HK$422,758,000 and certain bank and other
borrowings of HK$778,646,000. The cash and
cash equivalents of the Group amounted to
HK$54,065,000 as at 31 December 2013. In
addition, the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries are parties to various legal claims
as detailed in Note 36 to the financial
statements.

These conditions indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern such that it may not be able to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

“E-C-HFFERS

2
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2.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTBERME (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)
(@) Going concern (continued) a) FHELE (&)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of ERNZERN ARARIESEHE

the Company have given careful consideration to AN EBE RSB I EHIE

the future liquidity and performance of the Group BREBEREE  ODEBEZE

and its available sources of financing in assessing REBRKREES LFKIFIA

whether the Group will have sufficient financial MEA{TRE KRR - KAEED

resources to continue as a going concern. EEE THEEARE RS E S

Certain measures have been taken to mitigate MBENDIW R ZEEPBAN B

the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial FEETRNIATSIA

position which include, but not limited to, the

following:

(1) On 21 January 2013, the Group entered 1 RZBE—=F—H=_+—
into a non-binding framework agreement H R B 8 5 E Al
with Beijing Wincapital Management Co., ZWEBRE AR ([ E
Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to the wIIVERBLEEREE
disposal of a 30% equity interest in S.E.A. 2EWBARIEFREES
Mineral Limited (“SEAM”), a wholly-owned BT ([FEEEE])30%
subsidiary of the Group. The aggregate EROELHER NDIELZRYE
disposal consideration is expected to be Z o MHERBIEFNA
approximately RMB900 million AR®I00E & 7t (4711
(approximately HK$1.1 billion). The BATT) - BEHLEUTH
proposed transaction is at the finalisation HERIEBH > 2R 5
stage and no formal sales and purchase TMBER TR - WARE]
agreement has been entered into up to the SAEMEREE W 8
date of approval of the consolidated ERMHERER  BRME
financial statements. Longer than expected HRENKEENRERE
time was spent on negotiation of the SomEEE B R R IR K
detailed terms and conditions because of NG 40 &7 P R B R B T8
the rapid change in operating and HE -pEastesmEm
regulatory environment of SEAM since the s HET—=F+—
framework agreement was signed. In A=+—8 IkrERLS
connection with the proposed disposal, AEFBLZHEZREAR
Beijing Wincapital arranged a loan finance 200 B BT (HEERD
to the Group in the amount of RMB200 254 BEAB L) (FIERH
million (equivalent to approximately HK$254 o8 iEEE) c AREEE
million) as at 31 December 2013, details of BHMEE —_ T —HF—
which have been disclosed in Note 28(d). AlF - nEZENESES
Such borrowing has a term of two years to PATERK - B E R AR EE
January 2015 and can be settled by EREFTRNEER - FF
offsetting against the disposal consideration % A RERE—FEN
should the proposed disposal be ERLTHERBESHA
completed. Subsequent to the year end, R#5008 BT(HER
Beijing Wincapital arranged further loan #1636 8 &8 T) * Ak
finance to the Group totaling RMB500 BREZZLESHEEINUT
million (equivalent to approximately HK$636 K EERAREEER
million) which can also be settled by BHNEE - ARES500
offsetting against the disposal consideration BELEEAEIER %
should the proposed disposal be BEKIAERBEZIE
completed. These RMB 500 million A== XEARNE
borrowings are unsecured, bearing interest Ee BRI BIEEBEHA
at commercial terms and will be due for R NFEAEEZ
repayment within three to six months from BHERX S ME
the respective drawdown dates. Currently, o MAEBRNERE LS
management expects that all the details EIFTRKE BRI IRENA
and terms of the proposed disposal can be ZEEREWPEERLE
finalised before the end of year 2014; and RBZHEE - EEEE%
the Group will be able to offset all these & 1SR A 2R AR D
borrowings and collect the remaining BMAEBNEBEER SRS
disposal consideration in full immediately AR o

upon completion of the disposal. The
directors believe that the disposal can
significantly strengthen the cash flow position
of the Group as a whole in the near future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern (continued)

(a)

@

In June 2014, the Group completed the
restructuring of its 10% Coupon Senior
Bonds and the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds with carrying amounts of
HK$477,769,000 and HK$150,834,000
respectively at 31 December 2013 as
detailed in Note 41. Pursuant to the said
restructuring, the maturity of these bonds
will be extended for three years with the
repayment of principal being deferred to
2017 and thereafter. The Group is obliged
to repay the related interest obligations on
a quarterly basis before the relevant
maturity date. The current portion of these
liabilities included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as at 31
December 2013 amounted to
HK$422,758,000 in the aggregate, which
have been reclassified as non-current
liabilities upon completion of the
restructuring.

Apart from the liabilities mentioned in points
(1) and (2) above, the Group had total bank
and other borrowings of HK$1,349,478,000
as at 31 December 2013, out of which
approximately HK$524,268,000 will be due
for repayment in the coming twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. The
Group has been actively negotiating with
the lenders for the renewal of these
borrowings as necessary when those
borrowings fall due in 2014. Based on the
past experience, the Group did not
encounter any significant difficulties in
renewing the borrowings and the directors
are confident that all necessary borrowings
can be renewed when necessary.
Subsequent to year end, bank borrowings
with aggregate principal amounts of
HK$152,627,000 were successfully
renewed for another twelve months from
their respective original due dates.

The Group is also negotiating with various
financial institutions and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable
future.

The Group is also maximizing its sales
effort, including speeding up of sales of its
existing inventories and seeking new orders
from overseas markets (including Taiwan)
on developed new products, and
implementing more stringent cost control
measures with a view to improving
operating cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Going concern (continued)

(6) The Group has engaged legal advisors to
handle all major litigation matters as
detailed in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements. In preparing these
financial statements, the directors have also
obtained advice from legal advisors on
these matters and, based upon which, are
of the view that the Group will be able to
resolve these matters with no significant
cash outflows in the next twelve months.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by management. The
cash flow projections cover a period of not less
than twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. They are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant
uncertainties exist as to whether management of
the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the
Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depend upon the Group’s ability
to generate adequate financing and operating
cash flows through:

(1)  successful completion of the proposed
disposal of the 30% interest in SEAM
before the end of year 2014 at a disposal
consideration of RMB900 million and be
able to collect the remaining disposal
consideration of approximately RMB200
million in full immediately upon completion
of the transaction after properly offsetting
the remaining consideration of RMB700
million in aggregate against the
abovementioned borrowings;

(2)  successful negotiation with the lenders for
the renewal of all the existing current and
other borrowings upon their maturity or
obtaining additional new financing as and
when required;

2

TR BERE (&)

21 mBEE(FE)
(a) #HELE (HE)

6) AEBEIEEFEAERERM
BREMAXFERNLEH
(FERERE MKW T
36) o TE H 7 4w il B 75 4
=< MR EBREEES
FEERERNER B

%uu\/’%$§§k@ﬂ%%gﬁ¢;&
EAEE  EARKT_E
iK@EEEKWﬁ@ﬁ

EXCEHAEEERBINA
SERLRERN - RERE
BARZEARSHRENDR
TfER - RS ZEZ
LAt RS - AKERKE
RRNZEESERNMEHR
AR+ _EAEEMFENE
EARBEITEI RO B EL -
FHit - ERRERSELEE
BRHEEMHEREBRE

BEWL - ARRIEREERS
E Bt 8 MR F A E
ATHARARE R - AEE T
BREBRTAREERED K
FE}EEE’ME,%&Z‘“%EEHM
B AR

(1) RZZE—OFFEAKYN
LAWE&EAE%%%OE
ELEKER N SRR
¥ 730% 'jﬂﬁﬁ;a
Wt FifE B A £
)\Eﬁ%‘?ooﬁ?%ﬂtﬁm
%ET§ \/\ EZ%TDBZHT
2HUWE L ENRERTEL
ARB00BETT

@ MRIWENEABR AR
HAE AT 308 RNV Je B4
{EESEMARIN ZFT R E
(WFR)

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited - Annual Report 2013 83



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2

84 +TERKREFRZERAERAA -

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

(b)

Going concern (continued)

(8)  successful implementation of its operation
plans described above to control costs and
generate adequate operating cash flows;
and

(4) successful resolution of the litigation
matters without significant cash outflows in
the next twelve months.

Should the Group be unable to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Change in presentation currency

In prior years, the Group’s consolidated financial
statements have been presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”). As a result of the Group’s expanded
operations outside the PRC and the increased
level to financing and other activities determined
based upon currencies other than RMB, the
directors considered that HK$ is a more
appropriate presentation currency of the Group’s
financial statements, which also aligned with the
Company’s functional currency.

The change in presentation currency of the
Group has been applied retrospectively and the
comparative figures in the consolidated financial
statements have been translated from RMB to
HK$ using the closing rates at the end of the
relevant reporting periods for the items in the
consolidated statement of financial position,
average rate for the relevant period for
consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of cash flows items and
historical rates for the items in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. The change in
presentation currency has no significant impact
on the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2013, 31 December 2012 and 1
January 2012, or the results and cash flows for
the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TESTTBERBIE (E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 EBEEE(E)
(c) Effect of adopting new standards, (c) HMHFTER - BEERNE
amendments and interpretation to existing TR RENEE
standards
The following new standards, amendments and LA $raT 2RI~ IR BRI E
interpretation to standards are mandatory for AhkREEeE_ZE—=F—H
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 —Hak &R ERAE
January 2013. The adoption of these new A2 o BRNZEHE]EA -

standards, amendments and interpretation to
standards does not have any significant impact
to the result and financial position of the Group.

REERNER] R BHAE
@5’5%?&%7%#%%%&@

IFRSs (amendment)

IFRS 1 (amendment)

IFRS 7 (amendment)

IFRS 10

IFRS 11

IFRS 12

IFRS 13

IFRS 10, IFRS 11,
IFRS 12
(amendment)

IAS 1 (amendment)

IAS 19 (2011)

IAS 27 (2011)

IAS 28 (2011)

IFRIC Int 20

Improvements to IFRSs 2011
Government loans

Disclosures — offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities
Consolidated financial statements

Joint arrangements

Disclosure of interests in other
entities

Fair value measurements

Consolidated financial statements,
joint arrangements and disclosure
of interests in other entities:
transition guidance

Presentation of financial statements
Employee benefits
Separate financial statements
Investments in associates and

joint ventures

Stripping costs in the production
phrase of a surface mine
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TESTTBERBIE (E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 EBEEE(E)
(d) New standards, amendments and (d) CEMEMRERZIHEL
interpretation to standards that have been ERH BT REZE
issued but are not effective
The following new standards, amendments and REBBHKIEERNATEM
interpretation to standards have been issued but HER_ZTE—=F—H—HFH
are not effective for the financial year beginning B2 BBFEERARER 2 FTE
on 1 January 2013 and have not been early Al - R Z(EFT R
adopted by the Group:
IFRS 9 (2014) Financial instruments © BARYBREENEIR  EBIEY
(ZZ-m§)
IFRS 11 (amendment)  Accounting for acquisitions of EEMERSENE 11 HEARGLhERNEHEES
interests in Joint Operations © (B3TE)
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and  Investment entities ERMBRSEAEI0S . REERY
IAS 27 (2011) BRI HREEAE 125
(amendment) REBEHENZ 275
(ZE5——%)(BT%)
IFRS 14 Regulatory deferred accounts “ AR BREENE 4% ETEEEFY
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BRERSEAE 15 RREPANMMAY
Customers
IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of acceptable methods BRe e Z 165K HARROMENSE LR
(amendment) of depreciation and amortisation © F38% (BiTE)
IAS 19 (amendment)  Defined benefit plans: employee B e ERE 195 THETEE  ERAZE
contribution © (B3TK)
IAS 27 (amendment)  Equity method in separate financial AR ERZ 7% BEMEER 2SR
statements @ (BATE)
IAS 32 (amendment)  Offsetting financial assets and LR 30 5 BHepEERSBARY
financial liabilities (BETK)
IAS 36 (amendment)  Recoverable amount disclosures for GiftS=Hor ER T FEREERBEZINESED
non-financial assets " (BFTE)
IAS 39 (amendment)  Financial instruments: recognition IR ER| 395 SHTE BARFEY
and measurement (fB3R)
IFRIC Int 21 Levies 1 ARIEnEAEZES AR
REENH
IFRSs (amendment)  Improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 B g )| “E-ZEE-T-CERESR
cycle and 2011-2013 cycle @ (BATE) “E—EE-F-ZHEY
BRI B RS AR SED
IFRSs (amendment)  Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 EillSp st “E-CFE-T-EEH
cycle ¥ (B3T%) il sl B
M Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 0] AEER-_T—NE—-F—AHAZEEHMA
January 2014 ik
@ Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 ) AEBR-_ZE—RE— A - BAHBZFEERMLE
January 2015 B3
@ Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 €] AEER T NF-AF—BHAZEEHMA
January 2016 B3
“ Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 @ AREBR -—ZE—+F— B —HBEBEEHRE
January 2017 by
© Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 © AEER T \F—-F—BHAZEEHME
January 2018 B3
The directors are in the process of assessing the EERR AN S ER X
impact of the adoption of these new standards, BRI ZETI LB AREBRRES
amendments and interpretation to standards on R &R a2 o

the results and financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
is involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially
at their fair value at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

Business combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to
fair value at the acquisition date; any gains
or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to
be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the income
statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

()

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners of the
subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Associates 2.3 EENT
An associate is an entity over which the Group has H’P%/& AEREBRUAEFEARE

significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition. The Group’s investment in an associate
includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to ‘share of loss of an associate’ in the income
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of the associate have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in an
associate are recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operations decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company who make strategic
decisions.

2.5

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the income statement within ‘finance
income’ or ‘finance cost’. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement within ‘other gains/(losses),
net’.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the end of the
reporting period;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TR BERE (&)

25 SMNE]RE (R)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal (continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does not
result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that
is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest
in an associate that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence) the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other
property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 26 ¥ WMERRZEGE)

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest
becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation
on leasehold land classified as finance lease and
depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimate useful lives, as
follows:

— Freehold land Not depreciated
— Buildings 15-25 years
— Plant and machinery 8-15 years
— Office equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles and other 5-25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within ‘Other gains/(losses), net’ in the
income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant
and machinery under construction and pending
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes the costs of
construction of buildings, the costs of plant and
machinery and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and ready for intended use.
When the assets concerned are brought to use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated above.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBREHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.7 Prepaid land lease payments 27 EftTEAERE

2.8

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost represents consideration paid
for the rights to use the land on which various plants
and buildings are situated for a period of 20 to 50
years. Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of
leases.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial reporting date.

(a) Exclusive offtake right
The exclusive offtake right represents the
exclusive right to purchase iron ore by the Group
from an iron ore supplier for a period of 29 years
ending 24 January 2036. The exclusive offtake
right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The
exclusive offtake right is amortised based on the
unit of purchase method.

(b) Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income
statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when
the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention
to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet
these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

29

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example,
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use — are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation/
depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units).

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to
the extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

2.10 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-

for-sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sales transaction rather
than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Financial assets
2.11.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-
sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

(@

(b)

()

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if
expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-
current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12
months after the end of the reporting
period. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group’s loans and receivables
comprise trade and notes receivables,
deposits and other receivables, pledged
time deposits and cash and cash
equivalents.

Available-for sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to dispose
of it within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

211 EREE (H)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)
2112 AR E

2.11.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in
the income statement. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss category are presented in the
income statement within ‘Other gains/(losses),
net’ in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the income
statement as part of other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available for sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in
the income statement as gains and losses from
investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised
in the income statement as part of other income.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the income statement as part
of other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)
2.11.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.12 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the income statement. If a loan or
held- to-maturity investment has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract. As a
practical expedient, the Group may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. For debt securities, the Group uses the
criteria referred to in (a) above. In the case of
equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of the security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses recognised in the income
statement on equity instruments are not reversed
through the income statement. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt
instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed through the income
statement.

2.13 Financial liabilities
2.13.1 Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of financial liabilities carried
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial liabilities (continued)
2.13.1 Recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade,
notes and other payables, derivative financial
instruments, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and convertible bonds.

The subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities depends on their classification as
follows:

(@)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39.
Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the
income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the income statement
does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or
loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39
are satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial liabilities (continued)
2.13.1 Recognition and measurement (continued)

(b)

()

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing
financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group are those contracts that require a
payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at
its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial liabilities (continued)
2132 Derecognition of financial liabilities

213 cREE (H&)
2132 RILEREREE

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.

2.13.3 Convertible bonds

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is
an equity instrument, the host of convertible
bonds is recognised as a financial liability in the
statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair
value of the host liability component is
determined using a market rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried
as a financial liability on the amortised cost basis
until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
conversion option that is recognised and
included in shareholders’ equity, net of
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on
the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
equity components when the instruments are
initially recognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

213 cREE (H&)
2133 AR ES ()

2.13 Financial liabilities (continued)
2.13.3 Convertible bonds (continued)

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is
not an equity component, it is bifurcated from the
host liability component and separately
accounted for as a derivative. Redemption rights
are also embedded derivatives and accounted
for together with conversion option as a single
derivative. On initial recognition, the derivative
component of the convertible bonds is measured
at fair value and presented as part of derivative
financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the host
liability component. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the host liability and
derivative components of the convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the host
liability and derivative components when the
instruments are initially recognised. The portion
of the transaction costs relating to the host
liability component is recognised initially as part
of the liability. The portion relating to the
derivative component is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

When the convertible bonds with an equity
component are extinguished before maturity
through an early redemption or repurchase by
the issuer in which the original conversion
privileges are unchanged, the consideration and
transaction costs paid for the redemption or
repurchase is allocated to the liability and equity
components of the instrument at the date of the
transaction. The method used in allocating the
consideration paid and transaction costs to the
separate components is consistent with that
used in the original allocation to the separate
components of the proceeds received when the
convertible instrument was issued. The difference
between the carrying amount of the liability
component and the liability component from the
allocation of consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is
recognised in profit or loss, whereas the
difference between the carrying amount of the
equity component and the equity component
from the allocation of consideration and
transaction costs paid for the redemption or
repurchase is recognised in equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.14 Derivative financial instruments 214 fTEE€@MT A
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the PTAETARIT VAT AGL A
date a derivative contract is entered into and are BARBEVISER  EBEHEAQ
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. REEENTE -
(a) Initial recognition and subsequent (a) VHRBERAREBETE
measurement
The derivative financial instruments of the Group REBZTES T AR
represent the conversion option and redemption BRESFEFEHNROBE 8B
option bifurcated from the host contract of MENELOE ZETESH
convertible bonds. These derivative financial TEURIVTAEEHNARZA
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on REEETIRER  HEE%
the date on which a derivative contract is entered ARBEEHFE - HAAE
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair BEREER  EREEARK:
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the HARBEABER 1ERA
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair BetE o
value is negative.
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair FETETRAZ AR EBEEZE
value of derivatives are taken directly to the FREA TR RBEE T AR
income statement. M ©
(b) Current versus non-current classification (b) REBEFRB2ZDE
Derivative financial instruments that are not ERHREMNEIRIE 2 T
designated as effective hedging instruments are (BIEEEINRERE) &
classified as current or non-current or separated RWIEERBREHRTAREZIT
into current and non-current portions based on e T AS D RREBBIER
an assessment of the facts and circumstances B NEB ORI
(i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows). TENEL S ©
Embedded derivatives that are not closely related HEAEOETI@EE 2 RmRAR
to the host contract are classified consistently PTEmMBRBREFENHESN —
with the cash flows of the host contract. Bz ARntE -
2.15 Inventories 215 78
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net FERKANEAISEFEMER 2
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted UK B AR o BCANIZ INAE T8
average method. The cost of finished goods and work o REmEERIREZKABIE
in progress comprises direct materials, direct labour, BEEDE  BEESIRHEMBEZERK
other direct costs and related production overheads N ARBEEEREZ (UIEEEE
(based on normal operating capacity). It excludes EREAEE) c HABIFBMBEIHKA -
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated AERFEAREHREBBEYZ
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less HETHEE - RERNESHHEER
applicable variable selling expenses. X o
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TR BERE (&)

2.16 Trade and other receivables 2.16 EWERA R E Mt FEUWFRIE

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, and are
not restricted as to use.

2.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the lax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
places where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwiill, the deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable
to control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates. Only where there is an agreement
in place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference not
recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate only
to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 EEER
2211 BIRERIFHE

2.21 Employee benefits
2.21.1 Retirement benefit schemes

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of
contributions under defined contribution
retirement schemes administered by local
government agencies are charged to the income
statement as incurred.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Company participate
in defined contribution retirement plans. All
employees of these companies are entitled to an
annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of the
average basic salary amount within the
geographical area. The subsidiaries are required
to make contributions to the local social security
bureau at rates ranging from 20% to 21% of the
previous year's average basic salaries within the
geographical area where the employees are
under employment. The Group has no obligations
for the payment of pension benefits beyond the
annual contributions as set out above. The
contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all employees of the companies in Hong Kong
who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed to the MPF
Scheme.

As stipulated by the Indonesia State regulations,
the Indonesian subsidiaries of the Company
participate in a defined contribution retirement
plan namely the Day Old Assurance Program (the
“DOA Program”) for all employees in Indonesia
who are eligible to participate in the DOA
Program. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the DOA Program.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 BEEEF (&)
2211 RARBRIEHE (&)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)
2.21.1 Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

As stipulated by the Singapore State regulations,
the Singaporean subsidiaries of the Company
participate in a defined contribution retirement
plan namely the Central Provident Fund (the “CPF
Scheme”) for all employees in Singapore who are
eligible to participate in the CPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the CPF Scheme.

2.21.2 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37
and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits
are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period are discounted to their
present value.

2.21.3 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)
2.21.4 Share-based payments

(@)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Company operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan, under
which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Company. The
fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

° including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

° excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

o including the impact of any non-
vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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e MR MR

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)
2.21.4 Share-based payments (continued)

(@)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

In addition, in some circumstances
employees may provide services in advance
of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes
of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement
period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in the income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the
Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over
its equity instruments to the employees of
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is
treated as a capital contribution, The fair
value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investments in
subsidiaries undertakings, with a
corresponding credit to equity in the
Company’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TR BERE (&)

2.22 Borrowing costs 2.22 B A

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.23 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor), are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.24 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to “Other long-term payables” and is released
to the income statement over the expected useful life
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the income statement by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBREHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.25 Provisions 2.25 &
Provision for environmental restoration, restructuring WASBREEBREEHMEER

costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring
provisions comprise lease termination penalties and
employee termination payments. Provision are not
recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations
as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.26 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more future
events not wholly within the control of the Group.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TR BERE (&)

2.27 Revenue and income recognition 2.27 W= & WA TR

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below. The Group bases its
estimates of return on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when
the risk and reward of the goods has been
transferred to the customer, which is usually at
the date when a group entity has delivered
products to the customer, the customer has
accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligations that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.

(b) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, using the effective interest method.

2.28 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or board of directors, as appropriate.

2.29 Exceptional items

Exceptional items are disclosed and described
separately in the financial statements where it is
necessary to do so to provide further understanding of
the financial performance of the Group. They are
material items of income or expense that have been
shown separately due to the significance of their nature
or amount.
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e MR MR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SRERER

3.1 SRARER

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash
flow and fair value interest-rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance, the
directors review and agree policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

(@) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly engaged in the international
trade of ores, sale of iron and special steel
products with its operating entities mainly located
in Hong Kong, PRC and Singapore with most of
the transactions settled in HK$, RMB, and US
dollars (“US$”).

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised financial
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group is exposed foreign exchange risk from
various currencies, primarily with respect to RMB.

At 31 December 2013, if Hong Kong dollar/US$
had weakened/strengthened by 2% against
RMB, with all other variables held constant, there
would be no significant impact on the results of
the Group.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and
US$, it is not foreseen that the Group will be
exposed to significant exchange rate risk for the
transactions conducted in US$.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in
relation to its products which is largely dependent
on market price of the relevant commodity. The
Group closely monitors the price of its products
in order to determine its pricing strategies.

The Group is also exposed to price risk in fair
value of conversion rights of its 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds. A rise of the stock price will
be accompanied by an increase in the fair value
of the conversion rights which will increase the
liabilities of the Group.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate
risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings obtained
at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk while borrowings obtained at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk.

At 31 December 2013, if interest rates had been
100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$2,810,000
(2012: HK$3,565,000) higher/lower, mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense on floating
rate borrowings. The Group has not used any
interest rate swaps for speculative purpose.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d)

(e)

118 FERERERERAT -

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables, deposits, pledged time deposits,
and bank balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

For trade and other receivables, the Group has
put in place policies to ensure that sales of
products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. The Group performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers and
takes appropriate follow-up actions to recover
overdue debts. As at 31 December 2013
receivable from a customer represented around
43% of the Group’s trade receivable balance.
Trade deposits have been received from the
customer to mitigate credit risk exposure.

The Group’s historical experience in collection of
trade and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the directors are of the
opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible
trade receivables has been made in the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, substantially
all bank deposits and balances are placed with
major financial institutions located in Hong Kong,
PRC and Singapore which management believes
are of high credit quality. Management does not
expect any losses arising from non-performance
by these counterparties.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s primary cash requirements have
been for the payments for purchases and
operating expenses. The Group finances its
working capital requirements mainly through
funds generated from operations, and external
bank and other borrowings. As at 31 December
2013, the Company and the Group had net
current liabilities of HK$420,309,000 and
HK$1,243,238,000, respectively. The Group’s
policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents to meet its working capital
requirements. It has also taken certain measures
to mitigate the liquidity pressure as detailed in
Note 2.1(a).

“E-C-HFFERS

3 TEEAREEE)
3.1 TEEREE(E)

(d)

(e)

ERER
Fiqiﬂimkliiiﬁﬁﬂgqi RIE 1R
il E1$RT$XEHH¥¥mAZifETT£*
HRZEEEATNEEMASR
éﬁﬁﬁun E’]E’j(}—w“ °

%%W%%&E@%W%ﬁﬁ
5 AKBE IR BUERERE
Eﬁ EEEELNEPHE

Eme AREHHERFETE
HEERE - WIEHEE RE

TBAMEBIAMAER R _F
—=f+ZA=+—H -m—
HEP RGN EEE
WER A& #RA043% - AEE D
RAZEEPRBE SRS - A
BEEERR -

7N 5= 1B 38 1 Ui 3] A 7 LA AR 3R
HAh EUCGRIAR N O aHe B
ZEERN EFZRR BERER
B EImERARAREE E F iR
RETIR B S o

|
[
|
o

—E——F
— B BRIEHIE
EREITFERREE
ﬁmiyﬁﬁ%
REZSSRmEE
\%Eﬁ¥° s I8 ETE
 FEREZEYTESAELD
ﬁ?i&ﬁ%ﬁo

REBESRAR
AEBNEEREFTXRDAX
NEREREERSY - NEEFE
ZERLEEENE S RN
RITRHEMEESHELE
BeFKR - RZE—=F+=
A=+ —H' A2aAREX
%E’J/ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁr%ﬁ
5 Bl A&420,309,000/% T &
1,243,238,0005%7? o AREER
BEARRERENRe NAS
LEY NENEEEES Y
mRk e REBNMEKNETE
E@/@@n /m@é{irﬂ p$ﬁ|§ﬁ
F2.1@)

¢ o g
st X 1]
@§ﬁ+

H

=SR]

B,
[S2

il
D g

ﬁgﬁ%$+%
* i
ks



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 < RiEMREIE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eREREZE (&)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) () REBELEM(H)
All of the Group’s financial liabilities are BRIRBI R EHI R E S 42 H
contractually due for settlement within 12 months HEFE S EE S AEE 2 E 48
except for its borrowings which is analysed BIRE RN REBEFRE SR
below into relevant maturity groupings based on BENAEYLORI2E R RNGEE o
the remaining period at the end of the financial RELB A NIRRT ENS B
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. N
The amounts disclosed below are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
Group
x&EE
Between Between
On Lessthan 1and2 2and5
demand 1 year years years Total
BE LPME 1Z2F 2E5F @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEr THEx THT THT TER
As at 31 December 2013 R-B-=&
+-A=+-H
Convertible bonds ik ES - 10,895 184,299 - 195,194
Bank and other borrowings FOREMEE - 1,261,284 882,090 64,514 2,207,888
Trade payables BRI 184,566 - - - 184,566
Notes payables ENZR - 587,614 - - 587,614
Financial liabilities included in FTARMERNTIER
other payables and accruals ENBENSRBER 153,493 139,330 - - 292,823
338,059 1,999,123 1,066,389 64,514 3,468,085
As at 31 December 2012 R-E-Z-F
+ZA=+-H
Convertible bonds AR B - 24362 14617 329,721 368,700
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE - 1,697,050 427,734 129,301 2,254,085
Trade payables FERTR 175,949 - - - 175,949
Notes payables EREE - 645,087 - - 645,087
Financial liabilties included in FTAEMENTER
other payables and accruals ENEENSREAE 153284 132,005 - - 285,289
329,233 2,498,504 442,351 459,022 3,729,110
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 < RiEMREIE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eREREZE (&)
(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) REBESEM (E)
Company
P YN

Between Between

On Lessthan 1and2 2and5
demand 1 year years years Total
BE PME 1Z25 2E5% @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TER TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2013 R-B-=%
+=A=+-AH
Convertible bonds A AR E S - 10,895 184,299 - 195,194
Bank and other borrowings FITREMEE - 440,314 602,302 - 1,042,616
Trade payables FERER 3,850 - - - 3,850
Financial liabilities included in SRR B R
other payables and accruals ENEENSREARE 17,522 - - - 17,522
21,372 451,209 786,601 - 1,259,182
As at 31 December 2012 R-Z—-=&
+ZA=+-H
Convertible bonds AR ES - 24362 14617 329,721 368,700
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE - 570997 425598 129,301 1,125,896
Trade payables [ERBE R 3,847 - - - 3,847
Financial liabilties included in SEARMEMNTIEAR
other payables and accruals ENaENERAE 4,046 - - - 4,046
7,893 595359 440,215 459,022 1,502,489
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXRERE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AREFEEBEEA TEFEARE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going REFeiFEBELE  NEBEARE
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders BHOER WAEMEREA AL
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an KMz REEEREENEEIA
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. KB SN o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BHEE S ERERNERE  KNEEHD
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to B NTFRENRELEE - [
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new MR O E AN « BHITHREG » L
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. EZERVER -

120 FEIRERERERAT - —S—Z5FERS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 < RiEMREIE (&)

3.2 Capital management (continued) 3.2 EXREHE (,";)
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group FE MR 2% — $$@L N
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This B EEA EF? BINH EE o B IR
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. ﬁ{f [;I};z B F AR LA E N 4258
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including HE EEFREAERE(BIESEES
current and non-current ‘bank and other borrowings’ Eﬁi}’%ﬂk,ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁz,,@b&ﬂz”&b rfﬁ
and ‘Convertible bonds’ as shown in the consolidated TERNAEMES | R ATHRES])
statement of financial position) less cash and cash jﬁiiﬁfﬁ&fﬂﬁgﬁmﬁaﬁﬁﬂi
equivalents and pledged time deposits. Total capital is HAfF et E o BB BIREE S K
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated ﬁj{,ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁz H‘“LJ mnEHEEERE
statement of financial position plus net debt. =E
2013 2012
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Bank and other borrowings BT &Etwﬁé 2,081,625 2,031,018
Convertible bonds, the liability component }@HX1§%E’]§L\ 129,182 177,660
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and ‘}JEZ : iﬁ@&ﬁﬁ%fﬁ%
pledged time deposits PAR B K3 E BB TE 3R (913,015) (606,007)
Net debt BIBF5 1,297,792 1,602,671
Total equity RSB 2,817,977 4,004,596
Total capital BB 4,115,769 5,607,267
Gearing ratio AERBELE 32% 29%
The increase in gearing ratio for the year 2013 is mainly RZE—=FFE BARAFER
a result of the decrease in total equity for the year. HPBEROERERNEGELE L -
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 December
2013 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group and
the Company did not have any financial instruments
that are carried at fair value except for the derivative
financial instruments.

At 31 December 2013 and 2012, the conversion rights
of the Company’s and the Group’s 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds, together with redemption rights
(considered as a single derivative), classified as
derivative financial instruments of HK$21,652,000
(2012: HK$101,592,000) was measured under level 3
fair value hierarchy. The fair value was valued by
estimating the value of the whole bond with and
without the embedded derivatives. Changes in level 3
financial instruments for the year ended 31 December
2013 are detailed in Notes 27 and 29.

The most significant inputs in determination of the fair
value of conversion rights of the 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds are market price of the Company,
discount rate, and volatility rate of market price of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Going concern consideration
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimations,
management has prepared the consolidated financial
statements on the assumption that the Group will be
able to operate as a going concern in the coming year,
which is a critical judgement that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making a judgement by
the Directors, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The Directors consider that the
Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that individually or
collectively may cast significant doubt upon the going
concern assumption are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Impairment of an exclusive offtake right

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for its exclusive offtake right at the end
of each reporting period. When an impairment test is
undertaken, management judgement and estimates
are required in determining suitable valuation factors in
the impairment test. The recoverable amount could
change significantly as a result of changes in the key
assumptions adopted in assessing the recoverable
amount including discount rate, estimation of market
prices of nickel and iron, expected export volume from
the supplier and domestic sales volume, and other risk
factors related to the exclusive offtake right.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BIEETHEE R (E)
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Impairment of an exclusive offtake right (b) BREBEZRE(E)

124 7ERERERERAT -

(continued)

In determining the recoverable amount of the exclusive
offtake right, the directors also made reference to
proposed transaction price of the relevant asset.
Outcome of any proposed transaction and the final
consideration may differ from the amount originally

BB B R SR AE PR Ay AT W ol S B
EEN2EHBEENEZRSE
%o EREHERHNER R&ER
EBrREERNREGTHDE - &
B P ERER IR A] B EBUERK

estimated. Completion or non-completion of proposed BEAOTREDSBHREANES
transaction may also result in significant change in 0 fiel B B8 I B e b5t & £ 28 - A
recoverable amount of the exclusive offtake right and HARERZ T8 EE -
therefore impairment charge for the period when such
judgment and estimate have been changed.

(c) Contingent liabilities (c) HAREME
A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible EBRAREELARMT HEGFTEHEST

obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be
confirmed by future events outside the Group’s
control, or when it is not possible to calculate the
amount. Realisation of any contingent liabilities not
currently recognised or disclosed could have a material
impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in
order to assess the need for provisions. Among the
factors considered are the nature of the litigation, legal
processes and potential level of damages, the opinions
and views of the legal counsels and advisors, and the

REAIERNE BTG ARKSE
1¢ﬁ§m HE AR E RS
R AlgBRBERIAEE  EM
Eﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁwu\jﬁﬁﬁm%%a{ﬁ_
T3 i’JTﬁZIK%@E’JEﬂ&Hk/RL
RERTE

AEBEGEHNEANFRFR -

AEELRENRR - Pﬁ%)fiﬂ’]l
%@%.ﬁ‘“ﬂ’]lﬁg ERERFNME
ERENEERE  AFEM MK
AARNE E&E%LA&EEEQE

management’s intentions to respond to the litigations. JEFR A B A o fin ki 5T K H %ﬁ?ﬁi‘f
To the extent the estimates and judgements do not BARTIEN AN AREYE
reflect the actual outcome, this could materially affect HINZEE R BN

the results for the period and the financial position.

(d) Amortisation of an exclusive offtake right (d) #EEEREIERE

Amortisation of the exclusive offtake right is made BREBELZANBERCDKESGE
based on the actual limonitic ore purchased during the BABRNUEHNEANBTERESE
period over the total planned purchase volume during Mo BEHEIRBE G ;+Hﬁ MmE = 2

the contractual period. The estimation of the total
planned purchase volume requires management
judgement and estimates. It could change significantly
as a result of market demand for nickel-based
products, technical innovations, reserve of the mine,
the ability of the miner in meeting the demand and
other relevant factors. Management reviews the total
planned purchase volume at least annually, and
adjusts the amortisation calculation accordingly.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BIESIHLERYE (&)
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
(e) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (e) V¥ BMERZEZAUFEHFH

(f)

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives and actual
residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation expense in the future periods.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and an exclusive offtake right)

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These
calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that the
related asset values may not be recoverable; (ii)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash
flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. If there is a significant adverse change in
the projected performance and resulting future cash
flow projections, it may be necessary to take further
impairment charge to the income statement.

)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BERESTEERHAEH(E)
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
(g) Net realisable value of inventories (90 FEZUEHAFE

(h)

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or
competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and
receivables

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and receivables
is made based on assessment of the recoverability.
The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
management judgement and estimates. Provision is
made when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect the debts. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, the differences will impact the
carrying values of these assets and impairment is
recognised in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in Note 29, the convertible bonds contain
a number of derivative financial instruments that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
Company engaged an independent appraiser to assist
it in determining the fair values of these derivative
financial instruments. The determination was based on
generally accepted valuation procedures and practices
that rely extensively on the input of numerous
assumptions taking into consideration of many
uncertainties, including risk free interest rate, discount
rate, dividend yield and volatility of the Company’s
share price, some of which cannot be easily quantified
or ascertained. Changes in subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BEREIHEERHE (8)

JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

() Current and deferred income tax () BIHIRELEFIBH
The Group is subject to income taxes in various AEBEEBMNZREEEERZHE
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the Mo BENLEERAERE ZFTEN
provision for income taxes in each of these BERTEELAE REBEK
jurisdictions. There are transactions and calculations BEPEETHURERKHIEBELZ
during the ordinary course of business for which the RGRFABEFE - WMZEFEEFEZH&
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final RIS RN a8k 2 AR -
tax outcome of these matters is different from the FHEZEESTYEBIFHAEBARAEZ
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences HARIN 2 PTG TR SR ST PR AST B 4 o
will impact the income tax and deferred income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
Deferred income tax assets relating to certain WEIRERBARKERD & F ] A
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised EH BT EEESHIBFHIET
when management considers it is probable that future TERAK - AjgmREs TERMT
taxable profits will be available against which the ZREB2EEMEHEEE LM
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. IHEE - WIREERR L 2 HE TR -
When the expectation is different from the original FHZEgHAEARELREH 2
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition HAR NIREFF S THIA & BE R X
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in 7 HERE T E -
the period in which such estimate is changed.

(k) Share-based payment transactions (k) UBRBEZF=ZRS

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which
they are granted. Estimating fair value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a
grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on the
terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the
valuation model including the forfeiture rate, the
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions
about them.

REEEESETURENZXR
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 ZSIERE

For management purposes, the Group has one reportable
operating segment: the trading of ore and the manufacturing
and sale of iron and special steel products. Management
monitors the operating results of its business units as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment.

BEEE ) - AEEEG AT 2RCE
DEB : HEAE 5 DA K A 2 AN 8H 5 88 R0 A i
%uu °© Eﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁaﬁ)}ﬁ )&% ;Z
ARER BEREBELZKEEEE
R ERBIHEITER

Geographical information b i3 & B
(a) Revenue from external customers (@ RBEBF=ZFFF2ZWH
2013 2012
—s—= —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET AT
Mainland China B K B 1,437,490 1,207,775
Singapore ¥ 94,735 341,875
Hong Kong &5 102,556 188,008
Others Hib 389 72,288
1,635,170 1,810,036
The revenue information above is based on the N EZWZERTERRF 218
locations of the customers. UE -
(b) Non-current assets (b) FREBEE
2013 2012
—F-—= -5
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHERT FHTT
Mainland China Fh B K e 2,513,768 2,743,410
Indonesia ENfE 2,542,290 2,594,984
Others Hith 44,400 46,082
5,100,458 5,384,476

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax

assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately HK$1,033,787,000 (2012:
HK$905,585,000) was derived from sales to three (2012:
three) major customers.

128 #EIRERERERAT -

“E-C-HFFERS

N EZIERBEEER IERNZSE
BEZWEBMNE  UABFEIELER

REE -
ITREFEH

#71,033,787,0007% 7T ( : =z —
FE =4
HE ©

905,585,000 7T ) 2 7S

——F I ZR)EEREPH

)

=



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

6 REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 6 WXHEKREMER (FHiE) S8

2013 2012
—E-=F —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Revenue Y 25
Sale of goods: HE
Limonitic ores EEnE 1,493,930 1,127,900
Stainless steel base materials =S 19,446 379,096
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot R385 ST 79,517 140,324
Ferro-nickel alloys and others RigE e kHA 42,277 162,716
1,635,170 1,810,036
Other gains/(losses), net HaZBR(FE) B8
Loss on restructure of convertible AR ESEBERFRE
bonds, net = (354)
Loss on cancellation of warrants EHRREREE - (77,832)
Changes in fair value of derivative PTHESBMITAEARBEEZD
financial instruments 46,688 (21,703)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BEREHEZ
plant and equipment, net (B8R, B FE (5,723) 70
Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net ERAF(BER)FE 3,725 (1,639)
Others HAth 4,787 1,044
49,477 (100,414)
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LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 KRETEHAIEE
The Group’s loss before income tax is stated at after REBBAEHRAEBEEDNG, (GEA)T
charging/(crediting) the following: y|&I18 -
2013 2012
—E—-= —EF—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
Costs of inventories sold BEEFERA 1,523,930 1,557,664
Employee benefits expense EERMAX 9 88,140 122,392
Research expenses e 28,262 33,372
Auditors’ remuneration = ET N 3,800 4,851
Provision for impairment of property, ME - BE M ERE
plant and equipment BERHE 14 726,185 151,883
Depreciation e 14 133,836 122,023
Provision for impairment of prepaid TEf A E RIERE
land lease payments* B 15 20,713 -
Amortisation of intangible asset A EHN 16 111,114 79,315
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEF Tt A0 & R IE 5
payments 15 5,374 5,169
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment FEURBR FUR B s,
of trade receivables, net* (¥ M) FE5E~ 22 16,298 (1,293)
Provision for impairment of prepayments T8 15 2 18 1 £ fth & Uk
and other receivables, net* RIERVERME - FREr 28 11,592 -
Impairment losses of inventories FEREESE 21 88,765 19,077
Minimum lease payments under BREEFRREZ
operating leases in respect of wEAE 2 &K
buildings and equipment MERRK 7,818 6,384
* Included in other expenses FTAE MR
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8 FINANCE COSTS, NET AlE S R
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHBT FHEIT
Finance income mE WA
Interest income on time deposits 7 BA7F SRR B A 5,242 20,546
Unwinding of discount on receivables ~ H&—XKE A A
arising from disposal of a subsidiary EERRFIAEZ
PrIREEE 12,493 -
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 17,735 20,546
Finance cost BE KA
Interest on bank and other ANRATREBEEE
borrowings, wholly repayable ZIRITER R EAM
within five years EERe (238,594) (203,578)
Interest on convertible bonds AR EHF B (42,333) (254,110)
(280,927) (457,688)
Less: Interest capitalised B BEAERE 14 - 101,141
(280027 356,547
Finance costs, net &R A FRE (263,192) (336,001)

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EEEABX(EEEZEEHH)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2013 2012

—E—= —E -

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000

B 5T FExT FHBT

Salaries e 76,400 108,927
Retirement benefit scheme RREFFTEI &

contributions and other costs BN 8,656 8,690
Equity-settled share-based VARG R 45 8 R ARR (7

compensation expense SENPA A 35 3,084 4,775

88,140 122,392
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EERAFEXZ(BIEEE=HM)(E)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ remuneration (a) EEME
The remuneration of each of the directors of the HE-_ZE—=%F4+=_/B=+—H1t
Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 is set FE RNABSEENHFMEY 0
out below: T
Salaries, Retirement
allowances  Equity-settled benefit
and benefits  share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense  contributions  remuneration
FeoBE  UAREXfIZ BARER
#e  REVEN  BRERX EHE ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER TR TR THER
Executive Directors: #rEE
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chief executive) & E§k 4
(BR#E) = 3,493 = 15 3,508
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena (Note 1) REERT (1) - 1,625 637 13 2,275
Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Note 2) BrE%E(ME2) = 2,925 - - 2,925
Mr. Dong Chengzhe EHaLE - 1,215 119 - 1,334
Mr. Song Wenzhou R E - 404 119 - 523
Mr. Yang Fe BREE - 846 119 15 980
Non-executive Director: FRTES:
M. Yang Tianjun BASRE 200 - - - 200
Independent Non-executive Directors: By JEH{TES -
Mr. Bai Baohua BRERE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEERE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BrwEE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi ldris EREE 200 - - - 200
1,000 10,508 994 43 12,545
Notes: B3
1. Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena resigned from 1 January 2014. 1. REBLZTE-_T—MF—A—HBEHE -
2. Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi resigned from 1 June 2014. 2. BrEAEB T —FA—HREE -
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

Directors’ remuneration

(a)

(continued)

The remuneration of each of the directors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 is set

9 EERIFAX(BRESHM) &)

(a)

EEME (E)
BHE-_ZT——F+-A=+—H1t
FE ARBEZEEHFEIN

out below: T
Salaries, Retirement
alowances  Equity-settled benefit
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense  contrbutions  remuneration
Feo2H MRESHZ BINEH
we  REMEF  BRERX FE G el
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THEL T ThL THL
Executive Directors: #7EE:
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chief executive) ~ EZ@E4
(BE#H1TE) - 3,462 - 43 3,505
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena (Note 1)~ R+ (HiE1) - 1,950 870 14 2,834
Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Note 2) BrELE(HE2) - 2,267 - - 2,267
Mr. Dong Chengzhe iy e - 1,016 211 - 1,207
Mr. Song Wenzhou RIMEE - 402 163 - 565
Mr. Yang Fei BREE - 840 211 14 1,065
Mr. Mao Yehong EEOAE - 566 - - 566
Non-executive Director; FHTES:
Mr. Yang Tianjun BRHLE 200 - - - 200
Independent Non-executive Directors:  B73EHTEE -
Mr. Bai Baohua ARERE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEERE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BrwiE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi ldris EREAE 200 - - - 200
1,000 10,503 1,455 71 13,029
Notes: MEEE -

1. Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena resigned from 1 January 2014.

2. Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi resigned from 1 June 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, no Director
or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emolument; and no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors or chief executive as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2012: Nil).

1. REBLLTE-FT—MF—HA—BEBHE -
2. BLTHEEER T —MFRNA—RREHE -

B2 Z—=F+-_A=+—H1t
FE O BMEEESHFEHRTENE
S EERETMIMNE - NEEAER
18 h0 A SR AN AR 5 B Bk 1 A B B
HEMBAEBRINAESTHEE
HITEZME (ZE——F |) o
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EERAFEXZ(BIEEE=HM)(E)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid employees (b) EERBEFES
The five highest paid employees during the year REERELZBESH EERHE =-2=
included three directors (2012: three directors), details H(-E——F:=ZEH) 3%
of whose remuneration are set out in note (a) above. EEEHEM B2 HY A XXM
Details of the remuneration paid and payable to the F@ B hENBRTRR(ZE
remaining two (2012: two) highest paid employees ——F WMB)BRIEARRNBEFT I
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the RAFBREHRITENERSHREERH
Company are as follows: e R -
2013 2012
—Eg—= —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #& ~ JEBE N B WEF] 2,795 2,555
Equity-settled share option expense PARR I S 1+ 2 B IR i R =2 398 706
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR 4@ | 5t 24 3% 15 28
3,208 3,289
The emoluments of the aforementioned individuals fell FATEFHIE T EE -
within the following bands:
2013 2012
—E—-= —_=F——
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 B TE
1,500,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 B TE
2,000,0007%8 7T 1 1
No emoluments have been paid to the five highest *E%ﬂf’ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ggﬂkékmgk$%@
paid individuals (including Directors and other %fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁéﬁ f}:%ﬁ%
employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining FATL(BEEEREMEES) 2B
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2012: T (ZF——F: §)-
Nil).
10 INCOME TAX 10 P88t
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on AEBERERBEERELASIRRNAEE
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which the B R R AL & P AE Bl AR R &Y )i F AR
Group’ entities are domiciled and operate. FriSHs -
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands REFRSHENABELHEE([RBELX
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject BE)EREEDN  AEBRHESHEER
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. RBREAESHAMMNERMEN
The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company, RABIRENRBEELECMBARERSE
and its subsidiaries, which operate in Hong Kong, is 16.5% BREBHKE R B165%( T — —F:
(2012: 16.5%). 16.5%) °
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10

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The applicable income tax rate of the Group’s Singaporean
subsidiary, CNR Group Holding Pte Ltd (“CNR Singapore”),
is 17% (2012:17%). Effective 1 July 2013, CNR Singapore
has been granted to a tax concessionary rate of 10% as it
was awarded Global Trader Programme Status by
International Enterprise Singapore for a period of five and a
half years from 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2018.

The subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in Indonesia
are subject to a single income tax rate of 25% (2012: 25%)).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the
applicable income tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
is 25% for the year (2012: 25%).

10

Frigst ()

N & B o W B A 5 CNR Group
Holding Pte Ltd ([ CNR#T 03 |) &3 A Fir
BERRERITR(ZT—ZF :17%) ° B
ZE—=F+tA—Hi& - CNRITIEEH
MEBEBRCEERBE THRIKESHHE
BMAREERE10% W - BRE =T
— =+t A-BRBE_Z-N\F+A
=t+—BIERFF-

ARRBIRENEE PR et AL 2 fY B 2 7]
7RI 25% (ZF——4F : 25%) L BE— 1%
R NS

BIEPBEPEMEEE - AEEAH K
%@ﬂﬁﬁf&‘*zs@}%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%%(:
T4 :05%) o

2013 2012
—Eg—= —E——4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FExT FET

Current income tax: BVERFTIS -
Current — Mainland China BHEA — A 30 K e (145) 11,735
Current — Singapore BUHA — #hnigk 27,875 49,537
Current — Others BIHR — HAtth 44 -
Deferred income tax EIEFTISH 19 (2,731) 187,021
Income tax expense FTiSHiA 25,043 248,293

The tax charge on the Group’s loss before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to results of the group
companies as follows:

A5 BRSBTS B AR R S B AR
BN SR B 2R AN IR R
HISHMIERERE  #IIWT

2013 2012
—E—= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss before income tax bR FT1S B Al BT 18 (1,340,463) (31,423)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory 12 A al@EAEEH K3t E
tax rates of respective companies ZTRIB (328,867) 31,941
Tax effect of: THRIB R E
Effect attributable to an associate FER—EBE AR TR 2,229 (139)
Income not subject to tax BERTUA (12,505) (7,639
Expenses not deductible for tax R 233,349 150,931
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIBREE 130,837 73,099
Income tax expense Frig i 2 25,043 248,293
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INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The applicable income tax rate of the Group was 24.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: -101.6%). The
change is caused by a change in the relative results of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the respective countries.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2013 is dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company to the extent of a profit
of HK$77,922,000 (2012: Loss of HK$538,292,000) (Note
32).

10

11

Fris®i (48)
BE-_ZT—=F+-A=+—HItEE
ztxﬁlaﬁa@ﬁﬁﬁm%mzz% 45% (=%
ZF101.6%) c ZEE VRN AL
KIZEANII%WMTJ%/ NRHABREEEEAT
ARATREFEAENLEE
HE-_ZT—=F+_A=+—HLFE"
KRR REEREBEAEBGERESY ZEF
77,922,000 7% m(:?—_ﬁ & 18

538,292,000 7 7T) B R A A BB IR K A
B3R (F3E32) o

DIVIDENDS 12 RE
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Interim, paid, of HK1 cent per EfFH — BRERAR
ordinary share 173811 - 23,043
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final EETREEAERBEE_T—=F+=A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil). —;F =] JtﬁrZEEHﬂHﬁ S(ZT—ZF:
LOSS PER SHARE 13 BREE
Basic B=9N

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 2,527,602,083 (2012: 2,304,394,577) in issue
during the year.

Diluted

The calculation of the diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2013 is based on the loss for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company, adjusted to
reflect the interest on and change in fair value of the
derivative component of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds
and share options. The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the weighted
average number of the ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
into ordinary shares.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share
for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 because
the impact of dilution of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds
and share options is anti-dilutive.

“E-C-HFFERS

BREREBIRBAQNTRERE AR
EFEEEERFADETERRZ INET
I EREN2,527,602,083 % (=T — — 4 :

2,304,394,577 I8 st &
g
BE-_ET—=F+-_A=+—HIEEZ

A
FRESEEIEDREARDARIERS A AL
HFEEREFE  WIEHLHARARKREE
SABBRESITE T AR D RERE AR
BEZSHE T8 %%Z%%k%%
IR S END BT T B T
B (Rt B RENEBRAEAE) - b
BB P E B HE & AR BT T K
B SR RRRREETART 2 EBR
M%$ﬁ%@°

BEZZ—=—FR_FT-—Z_F+_§
=+ —HIEFE - AR6E B AR ES
AR B LB R MR

SHEBERSENESRENESE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 V¥ BMERRE

Group AEE
Freehold Motor
land and Plant and Office vehicles Construction
buildings machinery equipment and others  in progress Total
KAERE )
THEREF RERESE  HAERE  SEREM HEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHEL FAL FHL THL THL
Cost: BAE :
At 1 January 2012 W-2-—#-f-A 208839 1,201,847 23,564 79104 1693995 3,207,339
Additions NE 10,455 2,615 4197 4,721 217,193 239,181
Transfers i 215,372 222,810 - - (438,182) -
Transfer from prepaid land B HEERE
lease payments [0 13,254 - - - - 13,254
Disposals RE - (9,586) (370) (158) - (10,114)
Exchange realignment EHEE (53) (253) (29) (47) (300) (676)
At 1 January 2013 R-E-=F—f—H 447,867 1,507,433 27,358 83,620 1,472,706 3,538,984
Additions AE 1,034 1,645 1,191 973 150,335 155,178
Transfers i 27,946 98,476 126 - (126,548) -
Disposals RE (11,531) (7,766) (253) (1,556) - (21,106)
Exchange realignment EHEE 28,967 25,792 1,012 2,077 40,218 98,066
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+_A
=T— 494,283 1,625,580 29,434 85,114 1,536,711 3,771,122
Accumulated depreciation:  Z:HfE :
At 1 January 2012 R-E—-%—-H—H 81,004 567,526 10,051 37,608 - 696,189
Depreciation nE 18,146 95,282 3,203 5,392 - 122,023
Disposals RE - (4,706) (370) (158) - (5,234)
Exchange realignment ERZER (16) 111) 4 9 - (140)
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=F—F—H 99,134 657,991 12,880 42,833 - 812,838
Depreciation TE 19,134 105,837 4,104 4,761 - 133,836
Disposals RE (8,791) (4,829) (253) 2 - (13,875)
Exchange realignment EREE 11,715 11,321 886 980 - 24,902
At 31 December 2013 W-Z—=F+-f
=+-8 121,192 770,320 17,617 48572 = 957,701
Accumulated impairment  Z3H{EFE :
losses:
At 1 January 2012 RZE——F—F—H - - - - - -
Charge for the year AEEXH - - - - 151,883 151,883
Exchange realignment ERES - - - - 9 )
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=F—F—H - - - - 151,874 151,874
Charge for the year AEELMN 103,278 15,418 202 338 606,949 726,185
Exchange realignment EXES 1,727 228 3 5 5,277 7,240
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=%+ZA
=1+—H 105,005 15,646 205 343 764,100 885,299
Net carrying amount; REFE
At 31 December 2013 \-E-=%+_R
=1+—H 268,086 839,614 11,612 36,199 772,611 1,928,122
At 31 December 2012 RZE—ZF+=A
=T—H 348,733 849,442 14,478 40,787 1,320,832 2,574,272
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, interest of
HK$101,141,000 was capitalised in construction in progress
at the capitalisation rate ranging from 6.10% to 32.23%
(Note 8).

At 31 December 2013, certain of the Group’s buildings and
plant and machinery with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$43,987,000 (2012: HK$58,151,000) were
pledged to secure a bank loan granted to the Group (Note
28(a)).

As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of the
freehold land located outside Hong Kong is HK$13,252,000
(2012:13,252,000).

Impairment assessment

Zhengzhou plants

During the year, as a result of the continuous unfavourable
operating environment experienced in the industry, the
Group significantly reduced its manufacturing output and
temporarily suspended some of its manufacturing operations
in certain plants since March 2013. As at 31 December
2013, management carried out a review of the recoverable
amount of its assets in the manufacturing plants in
Zhengzhou. The review has resulted in the recognition of
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments of a plant in Zhengzhou of
HK$195,783,000 and HK$15,623,000 (Note 15),
respectively, which has been recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Other than these specific assets, the
recoverable amount of the relevant assets of Zhengzhou
plants is determined based on the value-in-use calculation.
The discount rate used in measuring value-in-use was
17.2%, which is pre-tax and reflects the specific risks
relating to the business. Sensitivity analysis was performed
by management and there will be no further impairment
should the discount rate used is 1% higher or gross profit is
1% lower.

“E-C-HFFERS

14

I - BB KR ()

REE(E)
HE - T——%+_-_A=+—HIFE "
101,141,000 8 T2 FI EE E RN BIL 2

H?E')’ BRI ENTF6.10% & 32.23% (Kt
5£8) °

R-ZE—=F+=-"A=+—8" m%gﬁﬁ
R (EA) 543,987,000/ 7T ( = A
58,151,000 L) 2 & H%%Eﬁiﬁ%m%
HEEMEAEEERRBITER(K T
28(a)) FUE 1R o

RZTE—=F+"A=+—8  UulEH
BBOMNN K A FEAE T BRTEIE A 13,252,000

B (ZE— 4 : 13,252,000/ 7T) °
RAE RS

BB =

FR - ARERNKEERBFERE K
EER -_T—=ZF= Htﬂmﬂw\ﬁé

d WEEETHRENRLEELE - P
“ET-=F+-A=+—H8 EEEEH
%M‘l‘llﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ’\]ﬂ”ﬁl@fﬁ%ﬁ o IRIEEMAY

HER AEEHHBR—KEMNEEHY
% R M R AR DA S B - b AR & R
2 W B & $8195,783,000% T K
15623000/%73(511.&1& EREZEE I

HRNER - BRZEHFEEEIN - BN
EEMEEZ WO & EREREEREE
HAE-HECFEREEMAZMEXRA
17.2% Utk AT Rl B e ik 62 2 15 AR R 2 5
FEREE - BEECEITHREDN - LT
Fﬁﬂﬁfﬁftﬂ%ﬁ%%lﬁﬁﬁ% e
HIRE—LRE °



e MR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

Impairment assessment (continued)

Lianyungang plant

During the year ended 31 December 2013, due to the
significant adverse changes in the nickel related product
market which is the main business engaged by the Group’s
Lianyungang plant, management decided to postpone the
commencement of Lianyungang’s operation by the end of
2013. The Directors of the Company considered it as an
impairment indicator and conducted an impairment
assessment on the property, plant and equipment of
Lianyungang. The review has resulted in the recognition of
an impairment loss of HK$530,402,000, which has been
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

The recoverable amount is determined based on the value-
in-use calculation. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 17.5%, which is pre-tax and reflects the
specific risks relating to the business. Management also
performed sensitivity analysis. As at 31 December 2013, if
the projected sales volume applied to the cash flow
projection had been 5% higher/lower, or the discount rate
used had been 1% lower/higher, impairment charge for the
year would have been approximately HK$69 million lower/
higher and HK$117 million lower/HK$104 million higher,
respectively.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment totalling
HK$726,185,000 are recognised for the year ended 31
December 2013 (2012: HK$151,883,000).

14 Y% - BENRE ()

AL E ()

BLE P ()

BTEEE

BE_T—=F+-A=+—HILFE
PR 46 2 8 P 7 45 1B 8 A R 2
5 MESANERLEAREETEHE
WEHESES ML EEER T =
FERTERRNBEEBHEE - AAT
EE R AU RETR - I EETEN
M3 - BB R TET (G o REE
P # % R A % B T R (8 5 A
530,402,000/ 7T * ERX&EWERIER °

AN E SR IR REEREETE - FE
EREEMB 2B RA17.5% @ It AT
AT RBREEEEIRR IS ERR - BERE
NMEETHREDT R B—=F+=
A=+—8  WR&n=8 AR TE R
HE T T BE5% - SKFTFAMARIR R R
&,/ FF1% - BIERREES B 5 56
LI B E BTN 117 AEE
T/ EMN104 BEETT -

REBE-_ZT—=F+-"A=1+—HBILtFE
WRNYE  BEMRERESESLE
726,185,000%% Jt( — & — — £F:
151,883,000/ 7T) °
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - - BERRXE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Company VNN |
Freehold Motor
land and Office vehicles
buildings equipment and others Total
KAERE
THREFE PRLAERE REKHM Foy

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TETL THET THT

Cost: BAHE :
At 1 January 2012 W-—T——F—F—AH 11,437 1,661 26,106 39,204
Additions NE - 1,072 - 1,072
Transfer from prepaid land MFEN L EERA
lease payments R 13,254 - - 13,254

Disposals BRE - (871) (26,106) (26,477)
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=F—H—H 24,691 2,362 - 27,053
Additions NE - 151 - 151
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+=A
777777777777777777777777777777777777 E -I-—EI 24,691 2,513 - 27,204
Accumulated depreciation: SIIFE
At 1 January 2012 nZE——F—HF—H 1,055 1,215 13,147 15,417
Depreciation nE 459 347 - 806
Disposals BRE - (370) (13,147 (13,517)
At 1 January 2013 R-E—=F—H—H 1,514 1,192 - 2,706
Depreciation e 457 547 - 1,004
At 31 December 2013 R_E—=F1+_A
777777777777777777777777777777777777 E -I'—EI 1,971 1,739 - 3,710
Net carrying amount: BRMEFE -
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=%F+=HA

=+—H 22,720 774 - 23,494
At 31 December 2012 R-ZB——F+=1

=+—H 28,177 1,170 - 24,347
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15 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15 FASLHHEENRIE

Group Company
N3 | b
2013 2012 2013 2012
“E-=f T4 CZE-=f <—T-=F%
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bzt TR FEr TR AT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZzEHRE 226,293 244,769 = 13,253
Transfer to property, plant and BEZYE BE
equipment P& 14 - (13,254) - (13,254)
Amortisation B 7 (5,374) (5,169) - -
Impairment losses recognised FREERRESE
for the year 7 (20,713) - - -
Exchange realignment fERER 6,352 (53) - 1
Carrying amount at 31 December ~ W+ —-F=+—HZ
FEE 206,558 226,293 - -
Less: Current portion included B ATARMEIR
in prepayments, deposits ReREM
and other receivables e IE 7
BN 5 23 (4,465) (5,291) - -
Non-current portion JERNEE D 202,093 221,002 - -
At 31 December 2013, the carrying amounts of the Group’s RZE—=F+"A=+—81  BAKEf
prepaid land lease payments, which are related to land AR B K BE AN ENJE £ 3078 A A B 1~ L 3 7R
situated in Mainland China and Indonesia, amounted to EFRRMEED R4 206,558,000/8 7T (=
HK$206,558,000 (2012: HK$221,206,000) and Nil (2012: T —4F : 221206000/ 7T) R B T(—

HK$5,087,000) respectively. — % : 5087,000/87T) °

At 31 December 2013, the Group’s leasehold land situated RZE—=F+ZA=+—H  K~&E

in Mainland China with a net carrying amount of
HK$206,558,000 (2012: HK$155,158,000) were pledged
for bank loans granted to the Group (Notes 28 and 29(a)).

Impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2013, management carried out a review
of the recoverable amount of its property, plant and
equipment, and prepaid land lease payments. The review
has resulted in the recognition of impairment loss on a piece
of leasehold land in Zhengzhou of HK$15,623,000 (see Note
14).

The Group holds a leasehold land in Indonesia with carrying
amount of HK$5,090,000 as at 31 December 2013 (2012:
HK$5,087,000). During the year ended 31 December 2013,
the Group reconsidered the location and the surrounding
infrastructure of a future plant which is planned to situate on
the leasehold land and decided to relocate such future plant
to another area in Indonesia. As the existing leasehold land
is unlikely to be used by the Group in the foreseeable future
and the saleability of the land is uncertain, an impairment
loss of HK$5,090,000 has been made as at 31 December
2013.

7 AR B K BR T F (B /5 206,558,000 78 7T
(ZZ— % : 155,158,000/ 7T ) I E
T EEAREBERETER(HiE28
.29(a)) HYE 1Y) o

EEF
R-E—=F+_A=+—H EBEE
MEWE BMELRXEANEMTHHEE
H RN E &5 - BIFFFER A&
EREMN—igAE L HERRBEERE
15,623,000;‘%%(%51#%314)

R-ZE—=F+-_A=+—H A£ER
HE#E —igiRm({E A 5,090,000 7T (=
L — — 4 : 5,087,000 7)) T E +i -
@ﬁ_é—:¢+:ﬂz+—5¢$§'
AEBEHEBERTRZEE iy FHzE
HIREMENN B AT EE - WREH
EBEAXRBERRZHNENS —EE -
MR AE B R A B &R KA s FsZIR
EfELH BREBEZTHET
E RN ZE—=F+-_A=+—H1
H R {E E548 5,090,000 7 7T °
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16

INTANGIBLE ASSET 16 BILEE
Group
AEME
2013 2012
—E-=F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FH&TT
Exclusive offtake right BRREE
Carrying amount at 1 January R—RA—BZEAEE 2,498,900 2,678,215
Amortisation By (111,114) (79,315)
Carrying amount at 31 December W+—A=+—BzEaEEE 2,387,786 2,498,900

Amortisation of intangible asset has been included in cost of
sales.

In May 2007, the Group secured an exclusive offtake right
from Yiwan, a limited company incorporated in Indonesia,
whereby Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic ores
produced by Yiwan to the Group at a fixed price of US$16
per dry tonne for a period of approximately 14 years. In
September 2008, the term of the exclusive offtake right was
extended to 29 years expiring on 24 January 2036.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, a number of
Indonesian governmental authorities promulgated several
new rules and regulations regarding ores export approval
and export tax. Yiwan obtained the ore exporter status (“the
Status Approval”) and the ore export approval (the “Export
Approval”) on 13 June 2012 and 27 June 2012, respectively.
The Status Approval is valid for two years while the Export
Approval is valid for a period of three months from the date
of their respective issuance, and Yiwan can re-apply for the
Status Approval and the Export Approval before their
respective expiry dates.

Pursuant to the new export tax regulation promulgated by
the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia (the “MOF”) on 16 May
2012, a 20% export tax (the “Export Tax”) would be
imposed on the limonitic ores exported from Yiwan to the
Company. The Export Tax is calculated based on the base
price published by the MOF periodically. The Export Tax will
be borne by the Group.

According to the recommendation letter issued by the
Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister
of Commerce which granted the Export Approval to Yiwan,
the export price of limonitic ores to be sold by Yiwan to the
Company shall be US$23.5 per dry tonne (excluding the
Export Tax) (the “New Export Price”) instead of US$16 per
dry tonne.
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16

INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

On 10 January 2013, Yiwan issued a letter of undertaking to
the Group. Without any prejudice to the terms of the
exclusive offtake right, Yiwan irrevocably and unconditionally
undertakes that, if at any time during the term of the
exclusive offtake agreement, the Group requests the iron
ores to be delivered to the Group’s subsidiaries located in
South Kalimantan, Indonesia for production, Yiwan will
adjust the purchase price of such iron ores under the
exclusive offtake right to US$10 per tonne.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated
that unprocessed ore export by mining business licence
holders in Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) would be banned from
12 January 2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders have
carried out processing and refining domestically according
to the relevant regulations regarding implementation of
activities of business of minerals and coal mining and have
conducted refining and smelting in accordance with those
relevant laws. Consequently, the export of unprocessed iron
ores from Yiwan to the Group ceased with effect from 12
January 2014.

All of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the exclusive
offtake agreement is pledged in favour of DB Trustees (Hong
Kong) Limited as security trustee for and on behalf of the
bondholders of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 6%
Coupon Convertible Bonds. (Notes 28 and 29)

In determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2013, the Directors, amongst
other considerations, made reference to the disposal
consideration as stipulated in a framework agreement
entered into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital, an
independent third party, on 21 January 2013, pursuant to
which the Group proposed to dispose of 30% equity interest
in SEAM to Beijing Wincapital at a consideration of
approximately RMB900 million as detailed in Note 2.1(a).
SEAM, together with its subsidiaries, are mainly engaged in
the trading of ores and held the aforementioned intangible
asset of the Group. Although no formal sales and purchases
agreement has been entered into up to date, as the disposal
consideration in discussion substantially exceeds the
attributable carrying amount of the intangible asset, the
Directors are of the opinion that there is no impairment of
the intangible asset as at 31 December 2013.

16 |IEEE (&)
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17 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17 R B AT 2=

Company ¥ /N

2013 2012
—E—=F —F—=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&TT
Unlisted investments, at cost FELETIRE » ARKAETE 303,966 303,966
Advances to subsidiaries B AR 28K 4,186,371 3,407,300
Less: provision for impairment B ORI ERE (591,289) -
3,899,048 3,711,266

The amounts advanced to the subsidiaries included in the
investments in subsidiaries above are denominated in HK$,
US$ and the Singapore dollar (“SG$”). These amounts are
unsecured, interest free and are regarded as capital
contributions.

EMEHARMBARRE 2 HHEATZ
BB T + 27T R AL ([ R
LDHE: KESBARER 2R
MIEH

All of the subsidiaries of the Company were incorporated/
established as limited liability companies.

AARFEWE AR R AE
RAF -

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: AATIMB AR ZFHBWT ¢

Name of companies

Place of incorporation
and place of operations

Nominal value
of issued

shares/ Percentage of equity interest

paid-up capital

attributable to the Company Principal activities

BRITRG/ ANREIERAESR
PEE:L: MR R i B BRRAZEE Bk TEXH
Direct Indirect
=8 HE
Infonics International Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$10,001 100 - Investment holding
(“Infonics”) Hong Kong 10,001 %7T REZR
REETES /B
China Yongtong International British Virgin Islands/ USS$1 100 - Dormant
Metallurgy Engineering Technology Hong Kong ES il
Company Limited EBRELHS/BE
HRERERAS TRRIER AT
China Special Steel Holdings Cayman Islands/ US$1 - 100 Dormant
Company Limited Hong Kong 1ET mEX
B AR AR Rems,/ &8
SEAM British Virgin Islands/ US$100 - 100 Trading of ore
RS Hong Kong 100%7T BHES
RBEXES/BE
Group Rise Trading Limited British Virgin Islands/ USS$1 - 100 Dormant
Hong Kong 1E7T mEE
RERIHES /B
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 17 RAMIBAR 2R (&)
Company ¥ /N
Nominal value
of issued
Place of incorporation shares/ Percentage of equity interest
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTRG/ ARREERAES
ARER ARG R S B BRREAZEE BO TEER
Direct Indirect
E# Gk
Fully Lead Global Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
BREREBRAT Hong Kong ES REER
RERENES /BB
CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd Singapore US$400,000 - 100  Trading of mineral ores
g 400,000% 70 and steel products and
investment holding
B HERESR
REAER
Bilchart Maritime Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$2,000,000 - 51 Provision of shipping
s 2,000,000% 7T services
REMERS
PT. Mandan Steel Indonesia IDR131,264,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
gfe Hfed REER
131,264,000,000
PT. Batulicin Steel Indonesia US$36,600,000/Nil - 84 Investment holding
gfe 36,600,000% 7T,/ RAER
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel PRC RMB636,760,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (“Yongtong Special Steel’) AR % 636,760,000 7T special steel products
BMARERARAR (KB WERHEREER
Zhengzhou Yongtong Alloy Metals PRC RMB3,000,000 - 95  Trading of scrap steel
Co., Ltd. (“Yongtong Alloy Metals”) F AR 3,000,0007T BEHE5
BNKESEMEERRA
(x@agl)
Zhengzhou Xiangtong Electricity PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100  Generation and sale of
Co., Ltd. (“Xiangtong Electricity”) F AR#10,000,00075 electricity
BNEREFTERAA(HEEE]) LERHEEN
Zhengzhou Yongtong Fully Lead PRC RMB66,000,000 - 100 Trading of mineral, steel
Trading Co., Ltd. F AR ™ 66,000,000 T and electronic products
BNXBEREHERAA B HREFERE
Henan Yongtong Nickel Co., Ltd. PRC RMB266,000,000 - 100 Under construction
(“Yongtong Nickel”) F AR 266,000,000 7T T
AENEREERDR (KBEE])
Lianyungang East Harvest Minerals PRC US$127,000,000 - 100  Trading of mineral ores
Company Limited F 127,000,000 %75 and steel products and

(“East Harvest Minerals”)
BERRLBEMERAR
([REBER])

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited -

investment holding
BAREERE SR
REER
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17

18

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 17

Company

Place of incorporation

Nominal value
of issued
shares/

RKE AT 2 ()
AT

Percentage of equity interest

Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTRE, ANREERAER
ARER TR R EE BRREAZEE Batt TEXEK
Direct Indirect
=8 HiE

Lianyungang City East Harvest PRC RMB390,000,000 - 100  Trading of iron and
Mining Company Limited H AR 390,000,000 7T steel products
(“East Harvest Mining”) HEEMES

BEEMREBEBRAR
(IREBE])

Lianyungang Hongnie International PRC US$12,860,000/ - 100  Trading of iron ore and
Trading Company Limited F US$4,019,422.5 steel products
(‘Hongnie Trading”) 12,860,0005 71,/ BALHAERE S

BERLREREHBERAT 4,019,4225% 7T
(TREBER])

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18 R—EHE QR z#ER

Group
Ao
2013 2012
—E—-= —=F——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Share of net assets JE(E B EFE 26,474 26,750
Loan to an associate BT —EBE AR 56,975 62,319
83,449 89,069

Loan to an associate is unsecured, interest free and is not

expected to be settled within one year.

Particulars of the associate are as below:

ERT—RHBE AR REER 2B NE
BWreaE—FREE -

ZBENB 2B

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Particulars of Place of attributable to
Name issued shares held incorporation the Group Principal activity
FEEEN
NGRS FREERITROFE SMRLEE FrEfZEI FEEK
Full Harvest Development 15,500 Ordinary shares ~ Republic of Seychelles 47.42%  Investment holding
Limited of US$ 1 each EETRHEM REZER
ERERFRAT 15,500 R &k

1ET 2 L@k
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18

19

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

18 R—EBEQT zEHE (&

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TEREV|AREBRBE N T)ENIE B ESR
information of the Group’s associate extracted from its K7 BERIEE -
financial statements:
2013 2012
—E—-= —_EF——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Assets BE 120,398 153,355
Liabilities BE 92,480 117,165
Revenue g - -
(Loss)/profit (E518), &7 (8,340) 1,795
DEFERRED TAX 19 EEHE

The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities
during the year are as follows:

FREEHBEERAEZBNOT :

Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E—= —_=F——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Unrealised profit on inventories FEZRESERF
At 1 January n—A—H 889 188,166
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the RFRER /\145( SREAS
consolidated income statement during ($0B) Z BIEFLTE
the year (Note 10) (MF5E10) 1,016 (187,253)
Exchange realignment P& =% 27 (24)
At 31 December R+—A=+—82 1,932 889

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31
December 2013, the Group had unrecognised tax losses to
be carried forward against future taxable income amounted to
approximately HK$865,982,000 (2012: HK$336,393,000).
These tax losses have no expiry date except that
approximately HK$825,954,000 (2012: HK$314,721,000)
will expire in the next one to five years.

PAENT KB EMERNELERBEEE
ERNEBE TG =G ] e B BARIKE
AT EROBD - RZE—=F+=
A=+—H ' AEBEWEER A EE LR
HARERIBRUABOREBELD
865,982,000/ T( — & — = F:
336,393,000 70) - ZEMSE B ES
BB BERK—Z2RAFNK 'JHHE’JTRVEE
18 #7825,954,000/% jT( — & — — £ :
314,721,000 7C) KR o
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19 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities

19 EZERIE ()

BEEHEAE
Group
ARE
2013 2012

—B-=f —T-—F

Company
FIN/N|
2013 2012
—EBE-=F —T——-F

20

HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
Accelerated depreciation  NZEITE
At 1 January 3,043 2,962 1,715 1,715
Deferred tax credited to the $ |9q qu)\HﬁZ SR
income statement during EERTE
the year (Note 10) (BM¥5E10) (1,715) (232) (1,715) -
Exchange realignment [ 5 Z5R 4 313 - -
At 31 December Nt+—_A=+—H 1,369 3,043 - 1,715

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The
Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated after 31 December 2007.

As at 31 December 2013, no deferred tax liabilities have
been provided for in these consolidated financial statements
as there was no temporary difference associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2012, deferred income tax liabilities
have not been provided for in these consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to undistributed profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries of
HK$13,646,000 as the Group controls the dividend policy of
these PRC subsidiaries and it is probable that these
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 December 2013, other non-current assets mainly
comprised of prepayment for acquisition of machinery and
equipment.
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21 INVENTORIES 21 FE&
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E—=F —EF—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FATT
Raw materials AR 190,498 268,535
Work in progress paak U 3,643 6,979
Finished goods BIPK G 345,753 408,216
Spare parts and consumables HHRSERD 24,756 37,630
564,650 721,360
Less: provision for impairment losses B OREEERE (90,050) (19,336)
474,600 702,024
The movement of provision for impairment losses is as BEEERENZEEHOT
follows:
2013 2012
—E—= —E—-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAIT
At 1 January n—H—H 19,336 19,509
Utilisation SHEE (19,652) (19,246)
Impairment losses recognised for the year F R R B EE R 88,765 19,077
Exchange realignment X =5 1,601 (4)
At 31 December w+—_A=+—H 90,050 19,336
22 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 22 EUWRRKREWREE
Group
xE
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables JrE U BR 3R 107,440 102,576
Notes receivable R E % 24,262 15,182
131,702 117,758
Less: provision for impairment losses B OREEERE (23,314) (6,570)
108,388 111,188
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22 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and customers of limonitic
ores, where payment in advance is normally required. The
credit period is generally one to two months. During the
year, the Group generated its revenue from sales of ore and
special steel products to other steel producers, thereby
exposing the Group to concentration of credit risk in the
steel industry. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts
of trade and notes receivables approximate their fair values.

An ageing analysis of the trade and notes receivables at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

22 BWERIARERERS (&)

REBREFZ X5 T BAEETAE
8 - RERHEF LBEEE AN
- EEH-RA—EMEAR - FA
AR Bz Wk R 8 A E A S SUE R 35 &
o R R ol 2 R SR [ R 6 6
TEzEESDER -  AEBEYERZE
EHF AT ERRREBERERE - &
WERTETALE - YRR R B B
FREEREAABERS

RBERR - RBEZHHHE 2 RUARR
KRN RIE Z BRI DTN

Group

rEH
2013 2012

—ZE—= —Fg—=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
Within 90 days 0 EHRK 52,801 66,537
91 to 180 days 91%F180H 10,989 30,994
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 37,181 7,725
Over 1 year BiE1F 30,731 12,502
131,702 117,758

The movements in the provision for impairment losses of
trade receivables are as follows:

FEW BRSO BB IR AR eI T

Group

rE
2013 2012

—E—-= —_=F——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
At 1 January n—HA—H 6,570 7,865
Impairment losses recognised for the year F R R B EEIE

(Note 7) (BFEET) 16,298 1,626
Reversal of impairment losses (Note 7) B LR EEE (EE7) — (2,919)
Exchange realignment E W =58 446 )
At 31 December R+-_A=1+—8H 23,314 6,570

At 31 December 2013, trade receivables of HK$23,314,000
(2012: HK$6,570,000) were impaired in full. The amount of
the individually impaired trade receivables mainly relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties. A majority of
these receivables has been past due for over 1 year.
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22 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 22 BWERRKREVRERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
The ageing analysis of trade and notes receivables that are S 5 280 B o) AR {E R RE 2 JEUR BR T 2
either not yet past due or not considered to be impaired is FEWZEYE 7 BREE D ATIAT ¢
as follows:
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E-=F —F—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Not yet past due ) 7K 781 HA 104,562 97,531
Past due but not impaired B EERE
Within 90 days 90BN 263 -
91 to 180 days 91 & 180H 3,454 -
181 to 365 days 1812365 H - 7,725
Over 1 year HBiE1F 109 5,932
108,388 111,188
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate e AR I8 B IR RLE 2 FEMORIE S Ko B A
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there R ZREDEEP °
was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to B8 BB FR(E 2 EURIBS R B E
those independent customers that have good track record P ZSEFRASERERSRI - &
with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors are RBEESR EEREERNEEERTE
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary BRNE - BEAERDRARIREKE -

in respect of these balances as there has not been a WHBAEE BEMRIEL RERE -
significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.
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23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23 FEMEIE - - &R EMEREIE
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
N | KA
2013 2012 2013 2012

—E-=ZF ~—FT--—F CZBE-=ZF —FT——
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

(o THET TET THERT FET
Prepayment to Yiwan 81+ Yiwan 2 208 85,828 124,910 1,349 1,349
Prepayments to other suppliers BT E fo it fERg 2
g 25,237 19,842 - -
Other prepayments HA A FIE 4,813 8,633 1,171 3,081
Deposits and other receivables 124 N H fh fE U FIE 36,287 35,781 7,465 7,561
Receivables arising from disposal  HE&E—RMB A EZ
of a subsidiary (note) FEW A (M 3E) - 752,138 - -
Value-added tax recoverable EPEEEG 56,916 72,843 - -
Current portion of prepaid land ~ JEf LB EIB Y
lease payments BIERE 15 4,465 5,291 - -
213,546 1,019,438 9,985 11,991
The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their Hip e IR ER K S 2 AR BEME
fair values. Ao
Note: As at 31 December 2012, the receivable from disposal of a subsidiary Mizt: RZZE——_F+_A=+—H8 HE-FRWBER
with nominal value of HK$764,630,000 (Note 33) was discounted to A) 2 & U 5k TE T B A 764,630,000 78 7T (M 7£33)
its present value based on estimates of future cash inflow. BIREGEFRRBESHRANRELRE -
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS

24

AERASEEYNEEATEHF
=

ES

Group Company
AEE AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
2= T ZB-ZH§ _—T—_F
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET TET TERT AT
Cash and bank balances B4 NMIRTES 54,065 141,610 559 3,297
Time deposits EHTE 858,950 464,397 13,285 115,131
913,015 606,007 13,844 118,428
Less: Pledged time deposits 5 : BEUGHRITEAN
for issuing bank SR
acceptance notes TR (350,644) (349,266) - -
Pledged time deposits RBRITEEZ
for bank loans BEBTEHTR
(Note 28 (a)) (K5 28(a)) (495,021) - - -
Pledged time deposits for AELESK
senior bonds and ARRES
convertible bonds EERERTHR
(Note 28 (c)) (B 28(c)) (13,285) (115,131) (13,285) (115,131)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEEY 54,065 141,610 559 3,297
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily FRIBTZHESESRBITERNERAE
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for FE M HTH R ESEAR—H i_

varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2013, the weighted average effective
interest rate of the Group’s time deposits was 2.3% (2012:
2.6%) per annum.

The bank balances and pledged time deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and
the pledged time deposits approximate their fair values.

BHANE  QIEAKE KRG H
E jﬂ%ﬁﬂ’éﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ%ﬂ%?ﬂ% °

—

A
=
=

RZZE—=F+-"A=+—H A%H
HF RN A RFFER2.3% (=
—ZF :2.6%) °

RITERMCERERFARFNEE R
BETRARGER 2 IRTT - MERREFH

EYAE K B 32 IR E B A R S
ZRREEEE -
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2013, cash and bank balances and time
deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$16,595,000 (2012: HK$99,492,000) and
HK$845,665,000 (2012: HK$349,266,000) respectively.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

24

BeRRESEENNCEFERE
(&)

RZEBE—=F+-A=+—H K"EEK
AREFENR S RIBTES D RIE
16,595,000/ 70 (—ZZF——4F : 99,492,000
7 7T ) § 845,665,000/ T ( — T — — 4 :
349,266,000 7T) °

ARBEEMEE TR GHBALER - AMR
IR BIRPEINER B IRD - U RAEE - &
ERMEEEMRTE  AEEEEZBER
RICRIVER MEBHIRITIHEARE Lig
REMER o

25 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 25 FENEREIFREAERE
Group Company
N | b /NS

2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=f —ET-—-F —ZB-=ZF —E——-F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
B aE TET FET TR FET
Trade payables FETER X (@) 184,566 175,949 3,850 3,847
Notes payables A2 (b) 587,614 645,087 - -
772,180 821,036 3,850 3,847
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25 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 25 MEMEZRENEE (&)

Note: BffsE -
(@) Trade payables (a) FE{FBRFR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting AREER - REZ A E Z ERNBRR 2 BREE
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: ST ¢
Group Company
rER AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—-= —E -4 —E—= —E——F
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FHET
Within 90 days 90HRW 40,681 55,357 - -
91 to 180 days 91E 180 H 14,931 45,031 3 -
181 to 365 days 181 E 365 H 25,114 10,931 - 2,557
1to 2 years 15224 48,744 52,305 2,557 -
2 to 3 years 2E3F 43,277 8,731 - -
Over 3 years HBIA3F 11,819 3,594 1,290 1,290
184,566 175,949 3,850 3,847
The trade payables are unsecured, interest-free and are normally ERNEZBEER . . 28 —RINEH AR
settled on terms of 60 to 180 days. The carrying amounts of trade 180 H - RIEHIR  BABRRZEEESEER
payables approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting RBEES -
period.
(b) Notes payables (b) EFEE
An ageing analysis of the notes payables of the Group at 31 RZF—=F+ZA=+—H BREERZER
December 2013 is as follows: DT
2013 2012
—E—= —ET——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAExT
Within 90 days 90 HK 419,725 262,600
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H 167,889 382,487
587,614 645,087
At 31 December 2013, notes payables of HK$587,614,000 (2012: RZE—ZF+-_A=Z=+—H BEHEE
HK$645,087,000) were secured by a parcel of leasehold land in 587,614,000 7. ( = T — — 4 : 645,087,000/
Mainland China with net carrying amount of HK$3,548,000 (2012: 7T) VA FR B K B — 18 AR T VFHE /% 3,548,000 & 7T ( =
HK$4,376,000) (Note 15) and time deposits amounting to T— 4 : 4,376,000 7T) (MisE15) MFAE T
HK$350,644,000 (2012: HK$349,266,000) (Note 24). The carrying N TE HA 17 3350,644,00078 w( =T — Z F :
amounts of notes payables approximate their fair values at the end of 349,266,000 7T) (MizE24) fE AR o RREH
the reporting period. K ENZEZEAEREAABERS -
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26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26 HEARERETAE
Group Company
rEE PN
2013 2012 2013 2012

—g-=F " FT-——F =ZEBE-=% —ZFT——
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT FHEx FHEIT

Advances from customers ~ FBUE 147,803 327,110 = -
Payables related to HEEAYIE - BE R
purchases of property, REBEEEBZ
plant and equipment JE 3R TE 139,330 132,005 - -
Accrued interest expense FE R B 15,775 8,582 2,989 -
Payroll payable ER T & 15,975 8,143 2,904 166
Amount due to a director BN —RESHIAE
(Note 39) (F¥3E39) 2,417 2,821 2,417 2,821
Dividend payable FERTAR 2 8 8 8 8
Others Hip 123,773 133,738 9,212 1,059
445,081 612,407 17,530 4,054
As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amounts of other R-E—=%+—-_F=+—8  EMEH
payables and accruals approximate their fair values. nBENEAAGEZEREEE AR BEME
=,
27 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27 THE€RIT A
Group and Company
AEBERAT
2013 2012
—E—-=F —EF—=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FET
Liabilities afE
Conversion option and redemption DBEE 6B B A%
option bifurcated from the host BEFFERZ
contract of the 6% Coupon CLE Y S EIR
Convertible Bonds, non-current JERNEA 29(a) 21,652 101,592
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28 MITERRHEMMES
Group
A5E
2013 2012
—E-=F —E-C-F
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
Note rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000

iz ARFE(%) FHA FET  ARMNE©%) BB TET

Current EnER
Bank loans — unsecured BITER — EER 5.6-10.0 2014 274,930 6.1-8.6 2013 190,911
Bank loans — secured FTER — BEA (8) 6.9-10.0 2014 165,346 6.6-8.6 2013 801,628
Other borrowings — unsecured HiEE — miEM| (b) 8.0-43.2 2014 338,370 0-8.0 2013 76,132
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds 10EBELES (© 10.0 2014 422,758 10.0 2013 488,738
1,201,404 1,557,409
Non-current FENER
Bank loans — unsecured FTER — EEE 72 2016 63,596 - - -
Bank loans — secured RITER — BER (a) 2.3-3.3 2015 466,665 - - -
Other borrowings — unsecured HipfEE — EiEH (b) 8.0 2015 19,375 - - -
Other borrowings — secured HigEE — A (@ 10.0 2015 254,378 - - -
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds 10EBELES () 10.0 2015 55,011 10.0 2015 456,531
The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds & {&3T10E £ 5% © 10.0 2015 21,196 10.0 2015 17,078
880,221 473,609
2,081,625 2,031,018
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28 HBITERREMESE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Company
NS
2013 2012
—E-=F B
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
Note rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
M aRFE %) 3#A TET ARMNE%) 258 THET
Current ki
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds 10ESEEES (© 10.0 2014 422,758 10.0 2013 488,738
Non-current FEEER
Bank loans — secured RITER — BER (a) 2.3-3.3 2015 466,665 - - -
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds 10EEEEE (© 10.0 2015 55,011 10.0 2015 456,531
The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds ~ #&{&:T 102 8 &% © 10.0 2015 21,196 10.0 2015 17,078
542,872 473,609
965,630 962,347
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28 HBITERRHEMEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Analysed into: DT
Group Company
FEE N
2013 2012 2013 2012

—g-=f =-F-—F -—P-=f =P _F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TR TAL  TAR AR

Bank loans repayable: RITEFERE
Within one year —ER 440,276 992,539 - -
In the second year BEF 466,665 - 466,665 -
In the third year F=1F 63,596 - - -

o 970,537 992539 466,665 =

Other borrowings repayable: HiE e
Within one year —FR 338,370 76,132 - -
In the second year FF 273,753 - - -
612,123 76,132 - -

The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds: 10/ BB % &% :
Within one year —ER 422,758 488,738 422,758 488,738
In the second year BEF 55,011 365,224 55,011 365,224
In the third year B=1F - 91,307 - 91,307

477,769 945,269 477,769 945,269

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds: #&{&:T10[E B.(&E% :

In the second year FE_F 21,196 - 21,196 -
In the third year F=F - 17,078 - 17,078
21,196 17,078 21,196 17,078

2,081,625 2,031,018 965,630 962,347
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

160 FEIRERERERAT -

Bank loans — secured

At 31 December 2013, the secured bank loans comprised of: (i) bank
loans of HK$63,595,000 (2012: HK$24,665,000) secured by a
number of leasehold land in Mainland China with net carrying
amounts of HK$161,062,000 (2012: HK$84,205,000); (i) a bank loan
of HK$63,595,000 (2012: HK$61,664,000) secured by a parcel of
leasehold land in Mainland China and buildings and plant and
machinery with net carrying amounts of HK$Nil (2012:
HK$21,258,000) and HK$43,987,000 (2012: HK$58,151,000),
respectively. The loan was also guaranteed by Mr. Dong; and (jii) a
bank loan of HK$38,156,000 (2012: HK$36,998,000) secured by a
parcel of leasehold land in Mainland China with net carrying amounts
of HK$41,948,000 (2012: HK$45,319,000); (iv) three bank loans in a
total of HK$466,665,000 (2012: Nil) secured by bank deposits of
HK$495,021,000 (Note 24). As at 31 December 2012, a bank loan of
HK$678,301,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Dong.

Other borrowings — unsecured

At 31 December 2013, unsecured other borrowings included: (i) a
loan from an independent third party of US$2,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$19,375,000) (2012: HK$19,375,000), which bears interest at a
rate of 8% per annum; (i) loans from the ultimate holding company of
the Company consisting of amounts of SG$1,809,000,
US$2,841,000 and HK$18,899,000 (equivalent to HK$51,940,000 in
aggregate) (2012: HK$17,888,000) which bear interest at 8% per
annum except for an amount of US$2,841,000, which is interest free;
(iii) a loan of RMB173,000,000 (equivalent to HK$220,037,000) (2012:
Nil) from an independent third party, which bears interest at a rate of
12% per annum; (iv) two loans totalling RMB12,200,000 (equivalent
to HK$15,517,000) (2012: Nil) from Mr. Dong’s relatives, which bear
interest at rates of 30% to 46% per annum; and (v) two loans totalling
RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$50,876,000) (2012: Nil) from
independent third parties, which bear interest at a rate of 19% per
annum. As at 31 December 2012, the unsecured other borrowings
also included a loan of RMB89,000 (equivalent to HK$110,000),
which is interest-free and a loan of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$38,759,000), which bear interest at a rate of 8% per annum, from
an independent third party.

The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds

On 12 December 2007, the Company issued 20,000 zero coupon
convertible bonds due 2012 at HK$100,000 each with an aggregate
nominal value of HK$2,000,000,000 (the “Zero Coupon Convertible
Bonds”) which were subsequently traded on the Stock Exchange.

On 10 November 2010, the Company exchanged 97.85% of the
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds with: (1) a cash payment of
HK$20,000 for each HK$100,000 in principal amount of the Zero
Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (2) 13,748 10% coupon convertible
bonds due 2012 at HK$100,000 each with an aggregate nominal
value of HK$1,374,800,000 (the “10% Coupon Convertible Bonds”).

On 12 June 2012, the Company further exchanged 97.87% of the
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds with: (1) 39,099 10% coupon senior
bonds due 2015 at a principal amount of HK$25,000 for the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bond of principal amount of HK$100,000 with
an aggregate nominal amount of HK$977,475,000 (the “10% Coupon
Senior Bonds”); and (2) 13,033 6% coupon convertible bonds due
2015 at a principal amount of HK$25,000 for the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds of principal amount of HK$100,000 with an
aggregate nominal amount of HK$325,825,000 (the “6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds”).

“E-C-HFFERS

28 RITEF

BiRE

(a)

(b)

(c)

R HAfEE ()

RITER — A
RZE—=F+ZA=+—8 GHEFNRTE
HERE(ABELL AP EARE - FEFEA
161,062,000 7T.( =2 — —4F : 84,205,000 7T.)
B & + e R E A HR17 E 763,595,000 7T

ZZT— =4 : 24,665,000 7T) ¢ (i) A —IBAZRA
FEAKE FEEFEAZSEL(ZZ—ZF:
21,258,000 7T) M E L A R BREFE R
43,987,000 7L (=2 — —4F : 58,151,000/4 7T.)
WIEF BMEREMEABREONRTER
63,595,000 7T ( — T — — 4 : 61,664,000/8
T0) o BN E A MIER ¢ R (i) A — IR R
EP Bl oK B - BREFE A41,9480008 (= F

Z4F : 45,319,000/ T ) I & + b {F A 3K R
B 4R 47 & 738,156,000/ 7T( = T — = 4 :
36,998,0003% 7T ) : (iv)) LA 495,021,0005% 7T 9 58
TER(MNFH2)EARBFHN=SRTERE H
466,665,000 8T ( =T —=F : &) c RZT—=
F+ZA=+—8 " RITE 678,301,000/ T
HE SRR -

HifEE — |IEH
R-T—=F+-A=+—8 BEFEHES
B ()fiﬁ%j% 77 & AR E 302,500,000 T

(48 & 19,375,000 L )( = T — = F:
19375000%71) hzﬁﬂfsfﬁ% (i) Wﬁ%

B R RN BB AER - B EIE 1,809,000
T - 2,841,000%71:&18 899,000 7% 7t (48
B R A #£51,940000%8 ) (=T — = F:
17,888,000/57T) « B T B 32,841, ooo%‘ﬁ%ﬁe
BN HAih B FURFFIRGET B ¢ (i) B
=F B AE KA R ¥173,000,000 7T (45 & 7
220,037,000/87C) (ZT——4F : &) HFFIX
12FF B (RAELEFBEANESR - B8
AR#12,200,0007T (AHE 715,517,000 7T) (=
T—_F &) RFFEEIETE RV
RBIE=ZFBAMEER BBEARK
40,000,0007C ( 48 & 750,876,000/ 7t ) (= &
——F ) BEFRI9EABE - R T — =
FE+ZA=+—R8 SEENHEMEETRBRER
—EBBLE=FEABERARS9,0007T (HE
11000048 ) ZERXR AR LS REX
5,000,000 3 7T (4 & 72 88,759,000/ 7t ) + & F
M&gEAE -

10ESEBEES
WZZETEF+_A+= E K’A‘Juﬂ
100,000 7T B 217 20,000 15 7 —Z—F R

ZERABRRES %@E@z,ooo,ooo,ooo;%i
(i?%ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%%n CHBEBREFNERME
= o

RZZ—TF+—F+H  ARRMNATIEER
BT BRRES 2 97.85% : ( ) 100,000 7T
ANEET B AMAREHE S 320,000 7T ¢« &
@ )4@7»11&3100 000 L #1TRI 13,7480 A
—E-—FHHZ10EL AN RRES  #EER
1,374,800,000,%73(“01_éTﬁﬂxﬁ%J) °

n= ZFXA+=ZH AR — LA
%IEMWOJ‘ g ‘Hﬁﬂﬂa%zg?m% C(1)BA
100,000/ 8 T A RE10/E B AT AR EFH - IR
©F25000B TR - E—AFFH 2 10ELE
SefE%  $£39,00017 + 44T (B A 977,475,000 7
TL(MMOEBESESH ) & (2) A 100,000 % T4
SE10E B AHRMRES - RIMASEE 25,0008 7T
RZZ—AFHHHreESABBRMES  H
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HBRES ) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial St

e MR MR

28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28 HBITEFNREMEES (E&)
(CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued) MIsE : (48)
(c) The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds (continued) (c) 10ESBEES (H)

Some of the key terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds are as 10EEBLEELETSTEBRRNT :

follows:

0] Interest rate: 10% per annum, which is payable quarterly in () FEFE 10F - SEELMBTHNF S
arrears;

(ii) Maturity date: 12 March 2015; (ii) RER : —E—RAE=A+=H:

(iii) Repayment: The Company shall redeem the bonds at 100% (i) Hig: ADNRARR{THEE 12
of the principal amounts in 9 specific instalments on the dates 1518212427 30 % 331 A+ o
falling 9, 12, 15, 18, 21, 24, 27, 30 and 33 months after the QHRFETE D HAf SR & %4 100% A S %
issue date;

(iv) Premium: on 12 December 2012, the Company will pay a (iv) HWE RZE——FE+-_A+=H &Y
premium of HK$7,792.50 per HK$25,000 in principal amount FAEEI0EBBLEBELANES LB AEGAR
of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds to each bondholder; 4 825,000 7T X f~17,792.50 7 7T HY) %

B

(V) Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company at their (v) RoTE——F+-_A+-—HR B RES
early redemption amount calculated by using the bond RBNHA B RO - RNQF]RIREBLAR
principal with an interest rate of 10% on a quarterly basis, at SY IR EOEERES 2R EEE
any time on or after 12 December 2012 and prior to the final REAEASBRMNEIOEEEZEE - #
maturity date, providing that early redemption may not be ARATRIE TR A4 R85 30 AR
exercised by the Company within 30 days of the end of a TEIRRERES -
specific close period.

The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds with the embedded redemption VEEEBEEFERANS 2 ERIEREBIRENR

options as a whole, were initially recognised at its fair value and are BEVISER  HEBIERASE - 10EEE

subsequently carried at amortised cost. The fair value of the 10% EEEZARBEDAEETEERARELRD

Coupon Senior Bonds was valued by Greater China Appraisal (1 -

Limited.

The movements of the liability component of the 10% Coupon Senior HE-T—=F+-A=+—HILFE ' 10EE

Bonds for the year ended 31 December 2013 are as follows: BEBF BB D 2EBHWT :

2013 2012

—E—= —E——F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FAT

At 1 January n—A—H 945,269 -
On 12 June 2012 (initially recognised) R=F—=—FA+=H

(AR - 1,209,394

Interest expense FE&A 100,657 89,562

Repayments B (568,157) (353,687)

At 31 December RN+—A=+—81 477,769 945,269

Portion classified as current HIBAREAE (422,758) (488,738)

Non-current portion JEBNHAEE 5 55,011 456,531
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds (continued)

The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds (as detailed in Note 29(a) below) are secured by: (i) the pledge
of the Company’s time deposits of US$1,713,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,285,000) (2012: US$14,852,000 equivalent to
approximately HK$115,131,000); (i) all of the rights, interest, title and
benefits of the exclusive offtake agreement as set out in Note 16; and
(iii) all of the shares held by First Elite Development Limited in S.E.A.
Mining Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability which is the sole legal and beneficial holder of
HK$46,500,000 and US$3,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of
a convertible bonds issued by Yiwan which are convertible into
ordinary shares in Yiwan.

Terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds have been amended after
the financial reporting date, details are disclosed in Note 41.

Other borrowings — secured

As at 31 December 2013, other secured borrowings of
HK$254,378,000 (equivalent to RMB200,000,000) represented a
secured financing (the “Financing”) provided by China Fortune
International Trust Co., Ltd. (“China Fortune Trust”), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and is an independent third
party to the Group, for a term of two years up to January 2015.

In consideration of the Financing provided by China Fortune Trust, (i)
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Company Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has assigned to China
Fortune Trust certain rights and entitlements to all the income
generated or otherwise receivable, if any, from the equity interest of
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Henan Yongtong Nickel Co., Ltd., and (i)
Mr. Dong has provided a personal guarantee in favour of China
Fortune Trust, for such period so long as the Financing remains
outstanding.

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds

According to an extraordinary resolution dated 31 May 2012,
amendments to the terms and conditions governing the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds for the remaining 284 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds with an aggregate nominal amount of HK$28,400,000 (the
“Modified 10% Coupon Bonds”) are as follows:

(i) delete the conversion right attached to the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds and delete the terms in relation to the
adjustment to the conversion price;

(ii) extend the maturity date of the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds from 12 December 2012 to 12 March 2015;

(iii) amend the maturity repayment in respect of each 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds from 131.1699% of the principal
amount to 100% of the principal amount;

(iv) delete the pre-agreed share price ceiling as an event triggering
the redemption option of the Company, and remove the
capital event and the delisting of the Company as a relevant
event triggering the redemption option of the bondholders;

(V) amend the early redemption amount to 100% of the principal
amount together with any unpaid interest accrued thereto on
the redemption date.

The Group determined the fair value of the Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds based on the valuation performed by Great China Appraisal
Limited using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond
without a conversion option.
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28 |TERRHMESR (FH)

Bt - ()

() 10ESELES (E)
1WEEBAESRELETBBRESEBRT
SCHEE29(a)) PA T B S IE(EHLR ¢« () IR A A BE
HA1F 5% 1,718,000 F 7T (£UFH5 74 13,285,000 7T.)

— T — = £ :14,852,000% (4 F R
115,131,000/ 70)) ()M sE 16 FTH B R K& 15
FEHFTEET - - FTAERFIE ¢ KiFirst
Elite Development Limited #5748 &) BT 5 & /& i ffft 5
VAERETLARAREFBREBRABRG - M@
FEEABABR AT AYiwanE T AL BE A
46,500,000 JT % 3,000,000 2 7T &) 7] 32 % 18 %
WE—ZERBESFAA  RETRRESTHE
1 5 Yiwan 59 @A o

10E B ELEBEFEFRNFHIRE ARREERT
AN GETAR

(d HtfgE — GEH\
RZZE—=F+ZA=+—08 HtBEKHBEE
254,378,000 7% 7T (FH5 7 A R #5 200,000,000 7T )
AESBRETERAR([ESET]) (EPEEK
VHBERAR AAKEENBYE=H)REA
HRE(E-_T—AF— B)MAKMARE (5
&) -

EREBERRERRENRE - () BMICRITH
BRAB(KRRANHEZ2ENBERR) CRES
EEEEE2EMNBARITMEBEREGRR
B Y s P E A SR U P B AR THE A %
Mzm(mE)  RHELAEAEEEER/IHEAR
BMEDAREE 2 BREEHEBEARR -

(e) KBIT10ELES
REBHA-ZT——H#RA=1+— B8Rz
22 - #4284 17 44T {E 28,400,000 78 TTH 10[E &
AR ER (BT 10E BEH]) 2GR R G
BEIIAT :

() B 10 B 2 Al SRR (B S MY s ey S 4 - 3
MERA BEFR R LR E Z 1650

(i) HI0EB AT RRERFPABR T —=F
+—At+—BAEE_T-—RFE=ZA+=
(=

(ii) EEH10E SR ES 2 B HERER
KN & F 2131.1609% W & A & 58 2
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(v)  SESLHERNDER EREEEADFR
ELE RSB EDIR - THEAREMF
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29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS 29 TR ES
(@) 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds (a) 6EETRKRES
The movements of the liability and derivative HE-_ZT—=%+_A=+—81
components of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds for FE - EENBEESEZABEBERLT
the year ended 31 December 2013 are as follows: HE S 7 BB ¢
The Group and the Company
TEERAEATF
Liability
component
of convertible
bonds Derivatives Total
ERESZ
=R PTETA HE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
(Note 27)
(FzE27)
At 12 June 2012 W_E—_FXA+=H
(Initial recognised) (V) FHR) 239,683 76,275 315,958
Interest expense FBFRX 50,039 - 50,039
Conversion into ordinary shares B3k & @A (516) - (516)
Changes in fair value NAEEES - 25,317 25,317
Repayments BR (111,546) - (111,546)
At 31 December 2012, N-_TE——F+_A
non-current portion =+—R8  JEREHS 177,660 101,592 279,252
At 1 January 2013 WZZE—=F—HF—H 177,660 101,592 279,252
Interest expense FEMRX 42,333 = 42,333
Conversion into ordinary shares 3% i@ A% (79,452) (33,252) (112,704)
Changes in fair value NREEEE - (46,688) (46,688)
Repayments BX (11,359) - (11,359)
At 31 December 2013, R-ZT—=F+_F#
non-current portion =+—R  EREHS 129,182 21,652 150,834
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29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(a)

6% Coupon Convertible Bonds (continued)

The 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10%
Coupon Senior Bonds (as detailed in Note 28(c) above)
are secured by: () the pledge of the Company’s time
deposits amounting to HK$13,285,000 (2012:
HK$115,131,000); (ii) all of the rights, interest, title and
benefits of the exclusive offtake agreement as set out
in Note 16; and (iii) all of the shares held by First Elite
Development Limited in S.E.A. Mining Limited, a
private company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability which is the sole legal and beneficial
holder of HK$46,500,000 and US$3,000,000 in
aggregate principal amount of a convertible bonds
issued by Yiwan which are convertible into ordinary
shares in Yiwan.

Some of the key terms of the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds are as follows:

(i)  Convertible at the option of the bondholders into
fully paid ordinary shares at any time from 12
June 2012 to 2 March 2015 at a conversion price
of HK$0.7834 per share (the “Initial Conversion
Price”). If on 12 December 2012 (the “Reset
Date”), the volume weighted average price of the
shares for the period of 15 consecutive trading
days on the Stock Exchange immediately prior to
the Reset Date (the “Prevailing Market Price”) is
less than the then prevailing conversion price, the
conversion price shall be adjusted to a price that
is equal to such Prevailing Market Price, provided
always that the conversion price as so adjusted
shall not be less than 75% of the Initial
Conversion Price (the “Floor Price”). In the event
that the Prevailing Market Price is less than the
Floor Price, the conversion price shall be adjusted
to a price equal to the Floor Price. Accordingly,
the initial conversion price of HK$0.7834 was
adjusted to HK$0.5800 with effect from 12
December 2012 (the “Adjustment”). Apart from
the Adjustment, there is no change in terms of
the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds;

164 FERERERERAT - —S—ZF5FERS

29 mWRKREZ (&)

(a)

6EETRKES (&)
EBRMRESRKI10EEELE
(1B R EXHisE28(c) L T FHI&
EEHEE : (VB AR B EHFR
13,285,000 7w( = & — = % :
115,131,0007% 7t ) : (i) I FE16 AT &,
BREBWEOMEER - s
Fr & # & # z: (i) First Elite
Development Limited# & B FT B &
BEMEI AR E TR ARBREF
BEARAAKD FEFBEAR
N A AYiwanE#E TR & 2B A
46,500,000 7% 7T & 3,000,000 3 7T A9
AIRBRESFNE—EZEARERES
A % E AR (E A AT EIR A Yiwan
AR o

6E BRI MAREH o E E RN
T

() EEFAEATEERR_ZT—=
EXA+T—BE-_Z—HE=
A BHHIMBER AL BREER
0.7834F T ([ HIBE ) X
BABHETLER - WHR=F
——F+-_A+-B((EXH
H]) RO EZEEREHpE
E5EZ 5 H B AR ey
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0580087 B - T —
+Z B+t 4ER(TEBE
B -BREBAEI BEER
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29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(a)

6% Coupon Convertible Bonds (continued)

() Redeemable in cash at the option of the
Company at their early redemption amount
calculated by using the bond principal with an
interest rate of 6% on a quarterly basis, at any
time on or after 12 December 2012 and prior to
the final maturity date, providing that early
redemption may not be exercised by the
Company within 30 days of the end of a specific
close period;

@iy Redeemable in cash at the option of the
Company at their early redemption amount
calculated by using the bond principal with an
interest rate of 6% on a quarterly basis, if at any
time after the first anniversary of the issue date
the volume weighted average price of the shares
over period of 30 consecutive trading days on
the Stock Exchange, the last of which occurs not
more than 5 days prior to the date upon which
notice of such redemption is published, is greater
than or equal to 125%. of the then prevailing
conversion price;

(iv)  Premium: on 12 December 2012, the Company
will pay a premium of HK$7,792.50 per
HK$25,000 in principal amount of the 6%
Coupon Convertible Bonds to each bondholder;
and

(v} To be redeemed at 100% of its principal amount
on 12 March 2015. The 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds carry interest at a rate of 6% per annum,
which is payable quarterly in arrears.

The Company determined the fair value of the liability
component of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds
based on the valuation performed by Greater China
Appraisal Limited using an equivalent market interest
rate for a similar bond without the conversion option
and redemption options.

29 mWRKREZ (&)

(a)

(n)

(i)

(iv)

AN/

E R R ES ()
R-FE——F+_A+-He
Z1& MR AR BH B AT B
B ARBAEENR SN
RPBEOEBELGES  RFPE
EIFEREFAE RN KR6E
EZEFE - EARRNEE
P SIRAS R 1R #ERT 30 B A

FRFELES

WERDREITHE R —BF
1% 1 {rT B RS AR BB A2 T3 4B B0 (]
RSB (RE—BETEERD
L%DEI%%MEIW)HHFWJ?&%
ENEFHESHRSEERE
B B 125% » AN A & Af
BENRSY (N IERERREE
&% REELOEZEESFAN
SHENFRCEETETE

iR — —A
+-H ARABAEES
AMBRESFFEALESES
25,0008 7t XX 1+ 5% 18 7,792.50
B &

R-Z—R&E=F+=BEA

ﬂEZmO%%LAH EIRNGIEERS
AR (B % 1 F F = BB -

SEEL (1 HHFLE -

AR BEEEAR QA F

FRRE 7 (I 8 g I i m 1)
ZIREMBN L 2 HEETOE
BrRBREFAESY 2 AEE-
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29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

166 FEIRERERERAT -

29 mWRKREZ (&)

6% Coupon Convertible Bonds (continued) (a) 6EETERES (E)
The Company also recognised a number of derivatives, $ AIMEREIANTAET R - HE
the values of which comprise: ERENTEIE
() The fair value of the option of the bondholders to () BEEHEEARILBEBESR
convert the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds into AR EAE LB AR AR LA
ordinary shares of the Company at the REGEREBENALEER: &k
conversion price; and
(i)  The fair value of the option of the Company to (iy AAFIERGESABEES
redeem the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds. FEREBENATEE -
These options are interdependent as only one of these ZERIEHAOMEE —EHER
options can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able —IEARITE c Bt —F TR E
to be accounted for separately and a single compound BHER > MG BEERAEE —NE
derivative financial instrument was recognised. BT em T A -
The fair values of the derivatives were valued by RNABREZEZETESRE AT
Greater China Appraisal Limited using the trinomial A-EATEERNEE ZHEE T
model. ZrTEemMIAEZAREE-
As at 31 December 2013, the fair value of the liability N=F —_$+ A=+—8" 7
component of the convertible bonds was approximate BIEFEES D AAE TE =30
HK$120,707,000 (2012: HK$234,965,000). 120,707,000 7% 71:( T - F:
234,965,000 % 7T)
Terms of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds have 6E B A MIREFERN I B IwE R
been amended after the financial reporting date, details HAE EAERT © FHIBROMIRE 41 355 o
are disclosed in Note 41.
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds (b) ZETERRES
The movement of the liability component of the Zero HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—H1t
Coupon Convertible Bonds for the year ended 31 FE -ZEEABKRESEZAELRY
December 2012 is as follows: ZQEJJ!ZD—F :
The Group and
the Company
TEER
RAE
HK$’'000
T8
At 1 January 2012 RZE——F—H—H 10,146
Interest expense FBEAX 1,397
Payments of cash coupon TRREHE (11,543)

At 31 December 2012

R—E——F+-_HA=+—H -
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29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 29 ABRES (E)

(c) 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds (c) 10ERETBEKES

The movements of the liability and derivative
components of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
for the year ended 31 December 2012 are as follows:

BE-T__4#+_A=+ AL
FEI0OEEABMEESFZABER
TS 2 EBMT

The Group and the Company

EEEREAT
Liability
component Derivatives Total
=L FTEIAR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FET
(Note 27)
(FfzE27)
At 1 January 2012 R-Z——%&—Hf—A 1,426,168 (812) 1,425,356
Interest expense MERX 202,674 - 202,674
Repayments B (66,585) - (66,585)
Changes in fair value NAEEES - 877 877
Extinguishment Sl (1,562,257) (65) (1,562,322
At 31 December 2012 RZE——F
TZH=1+—8 - - -
On 12 June 2012, the Company exchanged 97.87% RZZE—=—FXA+=H &ARn7A
of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds with the (1) AP EIERIRA0E B AT R (E 5
10% Coupon Senior Bonds (see Note 28(c)); and (2) 297.87% : (N0EEBEESF(R

6% Coupon Convertible Bonds (see Note 29(a)), and MiEE28(c)) : R (QBEB R EH
the terms and conditions governing the remaining (RHMI5E29(@)) « RIEFT10E BRI

>¢

MR AF 75 8 T 2 2.13% 2 AR R R 4%
(R M3 28()) ° 102 B A # & & 5
MRBRETHEFERERAEER
IERERTemEasE -

—a

2.13% of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds were
amended (see Note 28(e)). The exchange of and
amendments to the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
were accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability and the recognition of new
financial liability.

i
5 i

30 OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES 30 HfttRHIEMFIA

Group

rEH
2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Government grants related to assets & EMBEBATHEE

Carrying amount at 1 January R—RA—BZEAEE 8,115 6,513
Additions NE 375 1,602
Exchange realignment MEH ZHE 261 -
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-ZRA=+—RB2KEEE 8,751 8,115
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31

32

168 FEIRERERERAT -

SHARE CAPITAL 31 AR
Company ¥ /N
2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares HK$’000 shares HK$'000
EERE THT LRRE TET
Authorised (HK$0.1 each): EE(BROIET)
At 1 January and 31 December R—H—BE
+=-RA=+—-H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid (HK$0.1 each): 23T R&E (BK01ET) -
At 1 January R—A—H 2,306,057,474 230,606 2,304,333,337 230,433
Conversion of convertible bonds B AR ES 246,982,726 24,698 1,724,137 173
At 31 December “+=-—A=+—H 2,553,040,200 255,304 2,306,057,474 230,606

During the year ended 31 December 2013, convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$143,250,000 were
converted into 246,982,726 new shares of the Company at
HK$0.5800 per share in accordance with the terms of the
convertible bonds.

RESERVES 32
Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 74 to

75 of the financial statements.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company, provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of the
paid-up capital of Infonics acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

“E-C-HFFERS

HE—_Z——=%#+-_RA=+—R1EE"
N4 %8 /5 143,250,000 7 7T 2 Al # % & %
E*ETEHJ@H&E%Z%%EH§0.5800
VBT 2R 5,246,082, 726 A% AN A FIHTAR(D o

fEfE

AEH
AEERFENBEFERHENSELE
BHERERRETABEETSHNGES
RPN -

vy
RERERESRRA(ZZETNFET
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AR - R AR R RN ERE R DK
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32 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

Capital reserve

At 31 December 2013, the balance of capital reserve is non-
distributable and represents the additional contribution by a
shareholder in 2003 amounting to HK$36,047,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB37,147,000), and the
capitalisation of payable to a shareholder amounting to
HK$79,760,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB85,000,000) in respect of which Mr. Dong waived his
rights and benefits to the debts owed to him by Yongtong
Special Steel in 2004.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective Articles of Association of Yongtong Special Steel,
Yongtong Alloy Metals, Xiangtong Electricity, Yongtong
Nickel, East Harvest Minerals, East Harvest Mining and
Hongnie Trading, these companies are each required to
allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with PRC Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“PRC GAAP”), to the statutory surplus reserves
(the “SSR”) until these reserves reach 50% of the registered
capital.

Subsequent to the re-registration of Yongtong Special Steel
as a wholly-foreign-owned company on 10 November 2003,
allocation to the SSR was no longer required. According to
the relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly-foreign-
owned companies, Yongtong Special Steel is required to
allocate a certain portion (not less than 10%) of its profit
after tax in accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory
reserve fund (the “SRF”) until this reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and SRF are non-distributable other than in the
event of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset
accumulated losses or be capitalised as paid-up capital.

Distributable reserves

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC
subsidiaries can legally distribute by way of a dividend is
determined by reference to the distributable profits as
reflected in their PRC statutory financial statements which
are prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP. These profits
differ from those that are reflected in this report which is
prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profits
after tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be distributed as
dividends after the appropriations to the SSR and SRF set
out above.

32 #E(E)

AEE(E)

BARGHE

N—EBE—=F+_A=+—0 " BXREHH
ERTI T IR EE B2 —2RER
T = FI8E 7 36,047,000 7T (494
ENRARBES37147,00070) A —ZE
FEEAREREKBFRAEER 2E
2R N RS - REMRERRIEETE
AAFR REABEEARAAEREZ
79,760,000 7T( 4 H &5 N A R #
85,000,000 7T) °

SEE R \ \
R B A AR RAGBE KB A
S RHBRE KRRE REWER

(T B Bt 22 81 |) 5t 8 2 B B it il 2
10%HREE R ER (DEEATER]) B
%%Z%E%T%ﬁ%”%ﬂ%@ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁz 50%
Lk e

AOBRFHN _—TE=_F+ - A+ HEME
MR BEECRERBAFHTEAE AR
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B2 BgE MRS T (TDR10%)
REZEEBE (DEEEEE])  BEERX
FEEDICRI M E AR Z 50% B1E

BIEREIER  BADEEA AR RETE
BEMTA DK - BRENSTEARE
MFTEL 2 & TR TAREH R EEX
B BRI -

D IR B

ABREME - PEMBARAIGENIKLZ
BEER  D2ERBHESHERRR
Z P BDEE MK AR 2 AT ) R
FMMEE ° A B A iR IR B ER B 75 3R
ERImBL 2z NS PR R 2 E M AER]
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32 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 32 f##E (&)
Company b N/NE|
Share  Contributed Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
Ry EE BHESR BRERE ZitER @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TAT TAT TR

(Note)
(Fit3E)
At 1 January 2012 RZE——F—HF—H 3,059,639 296,966 28,792 (444,969 2,940,428
Total comprehensive loss EE2AEBRAH
for the year - - - (538,292) (538,292)
Conversion of convertible bonds B ARES 343 - - - 343
Equity-settled share option DR 2 R
arrangements (Note 35) (Ff5£35) - - 5,620 - 5,620
Forfeited share option reserve Bl ERERE
(Note 35) (3£ 35) - - (849) - (84)
Interim 2012 dividend T FRHRS (23,043) - - - (23,043)
At 31 December 2012 WZE——F+-F=1—H 3,036,939 296,966 33,567 (983,261) 2,384,211
At 1 January 2013 R-E-=%-f—H 3,036,939 296,966 33,567 (983,261) 2,384,211
Total comprehensive income FEZENAEH
for the year - - - 71,922 71,922
Conversion of convertible bonds BB AT AR E % 88,006 - - - 88,006
Equity-settled share option ARRIE Y 2 B PR L
arrangements (Note 35) (Pfi3135) - - 3,084 - 3,084
At 31 December 2013 NZE-=F+-A=1—H 3,124,945 296,966 36,651 (905,339) 2,553,223
Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference ik« ARBZEBABBRTVEARARE ST FN
between the value of the net assets of the underlying subsidiaries A+ hBSESHEMKBEBHBEARZFE
acquired by the Company pursuant to the Group reorganisation on EBESEAQARMETARZRZBHEEL =
29 April 2006 and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued ' o

in exchange therefor.
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33 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 33 HE—EHEBEAT

On 19 December 2011, the Group entered into a relocation
agreement with the Government of Luoyang City (the
“Relocation Agreement”) in relation to the relocation of
Luoyang Yongan Special Steel Company Limited (“Yongan
Special Steel”). On 20 February 2012, in order to implement
the Relocation Agreement, the Group and the non-
controlling shareholder of Yongan Special Steel entered into
an equity transfer agreement with Luoyang Anhui Trading
Services Center (Limited Liabilities Partnership) (/&[5 % [E &
SR O (AR A ) (“Anhui Center’), a limited liability
partnership nominated by the Government of Luoyang City,
to dispose of the Group’s entire shareholding of a 51%
equity interest in Yongan Special Steel for a total
consideration of RMB1 billion (equivalent to
HK$1,233,274,000). In accordance with IFRS 5, as at 31
December 2011, the Group reclassified the assets and
liabilities of Yongan Special Steel to a disposal group
classified as held for sale in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position. The disposal was completed
on 26 April 2012.

An analysis of the Group’s gain on disposal of a subsidiary
for the year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:

R-T——F+-A+NB KNEBEEK
BB SS Kk ZHFMAR AR ([ KT
Bl D zRERIIWERZ(REDR
HD oM ZE——F-_F=-+8  AB#T
WiB s - NEE MK 2 FEE AR
RERGLZEEGREHL(AREE)
([ZEHRND] EETRAEEZERE
TEB AN REEERE  UHEXR
EEPKZEINEE 2 28 51%E - 2
R (B A A E #1,000,000,000 7T (18 & 7
1,233,274,0007870) o IR BER I WS
ﬁw%5ﬁ R-ZTE——F+_A=+—
C REBERGE T BARR KNG KL
mmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ZE
EHPEERAE  HEFTER T —C
FPMA - +/NAEK e

B Z2——F+_A=+—HIEFE"
AEBHE—FHMBATANDWNT

2012
HK$’000
FHET
Net asset disposed of: EHEFEE
Property, plant and equipment ) % R 5 & 5% 1% 302,922
Prepaid land lease payments A LA ER 227,328
Deferred tax assets EERRIAE B 96,285
Inventories FE 59,932
Trade and notes receivables i3 H&EE R MR 46
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEf IR ~ 28 RE AWK 12,663
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 53
Goodwill kS 72,016
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 24,759
Trade and notes payables FETRRE SR & FE A 22 4% (84,323)
Other payables and accruals HEMENRIENREAE (69,521)
Bank and other borrowings BITERRHEMEE (175,827)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEBE (26,475)
Other long term payables E R ERFES 5RE (7,992)
Non-controlling interest FEIE ISR S (137,329)
094,537
Liabilities assumed by the Group in relation REE R KR T 2 B
to relocation of Yongan Special Steel FrEdEz aE 263,446
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEMEB AR &R 675,291
1,033,074
Satisfied by: A T3 & EER
Cash " 468,644
Other receivables (Note 23) Hh e kI8 (M 5E 23) 764,630

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited -

Annual Report 2013 171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

33

34

35

172 FEIRERERERAT -

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 33 HE—RHBAR (&)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HE—HNBATINERES RIREEEMR
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: A FEDTT -
2012
— E':‘\ o — EE
HK$ 000
T
Cash consideration HERE 468,644
Cash paid for settlement of liabilities in relation MEBKZFHRBREEE
to relocation of Yongan Special Steel mxX~zEE (165,257)
Cash and bank balances disposed of HEZIRG MIRITIER (53)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included 3t AR EEHRSAECHER
in cash flows from investing activities REZEMRNFE 303,334
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 34 FEHFRERS
As set out in Note 28(c), during the year ended 31 SN EE28(C) FTE c MBI ZE —ZE— —4F

December 2012, the Company exchanged 97.87% of the
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds with (1) 39,099 10%
Coupon Senior Bonds with an aggregate nominal amount of
HK$977,475,000; and (2) 13,033 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds with an aggregate nominal amount of
HK$325,825,000.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 2 May 2005, the Company approved a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the
Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to the
Directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for
shares in the Company. The subscription price for shares
under the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the
Directors, which shall be calculated at the time of grant of
the relevant option and shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of a share; (i) the closing price of a share
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a
business day; and (jii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the relevant option.

“E-C-HFFERS
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
and may not exceed in nominal value 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company in issue for a period of 10
consecutive years. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for the period of 10 years commencing on 2 May
2005. No option may be granted to any one person which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of shares
which were already issued and may fall to be issued to him
under all the options previously granted to him pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant, exceeding 1% of the maximum aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and which may
fall to be issued under the Share Option Scheme.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors. In additions, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options. The options will have a
vesting schedule of five years whereby only 20% of the
options shall be exercisable 12 months after the grant date
and an additional 20% may be exercised by the grantee in
each subsequent year until five years later when 100% of
the options may be exercised.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

35 MERHERE (&)

IRIBRBOE ST B R 5 2 BB S fe 2 B
NBERZ TEBARNRREETHRALZ
10% @ A EHEEARAREZTRAHRE
230% ' EETFHR - B EIE -
ZTZRFRA _HBHTFEER - WRE
ERHBB I ER121E A PE2ETE
BERBBREGT IR T —RAL 2B
BB R A E T 2 R BE
BT B AR IR 4 R AR AT 81 2 A8 Mg A) 3R
TZBRMBEER1%  BAFEERL
FRASHE

BRYARAEEZ  ARHTEXTIER
R SEARECBMBEAZBRZEASL
B IEMITESERT o IAN - IR TR
RAEBRRFBIIFATES - HIEM
2 B8 A 2 e I T 12 {8 A 57
B R Efa] I R tH AN 2 B] 2 #1T A0 0.1%
FRERBEARANEL BB 2 RN E
BB AS BT  HAFIBRRNK
RASESEHME -

RERH ZBRENRIEZ AYE28
BRE®R  MARABRINERK1BITL
KEARE o IR 2BBREZ1TEHH
BSEFET KB BREBHPRARGTT
58 - & B 8BS E I e 2 i AE B 1
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It {2 20% i B i AT 0 7 B HR IR 121
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 35 MEPRFESTEI(E)
The following share options were outstanding under the RIS T 2 A TR ENER S AT
Share Option Scheme during the year: f& ¢
2013 2012
—E—-=F —F—=
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
T AT
TEE BREHEB 1B BRERA
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET ) BRET T
At 1 January Rn—A—H 1.02 78,505 1.72 39,105
Granted during the year REREH - - 0.63 50,000
Forfeited during the year RERZ U 1.48 (5,230) 1.76 (10,600)
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—8H 0.99 73,275 1.02 78,505
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share R E AR R TR 2 ERIEITEER
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are {THEEAIT -
as follows:
2013 —E—-=F
Number of options Exercise price'
BRERE TEE"
’000 HK$ per share Exercise period
T4 BRET T
17,920 1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 2015
—EEXREtHA=+HE=ZE-RFtA=-1THhH
2,550 1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017
—EEN\F=ZAXRBE=-Z—tF=HAH
8,205 2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018
“EEhRFE=A=t+HE-ZE-NFE=At+HIH
44,600 0.63 20 Jan 2013 to 19 Jan 2022

—E-=Zf-A=-t+tHE=-B=-=%-—-A+NAH

73,275
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35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

35 MERHERE (&)

2012 —EFE—-—%F
Number of options Exercise price’
B E 1TEE"
’000 HK$ per share Exercise period
F1n BRET 1T EA
17,920 1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 2015
TERFtLtA=+HEZZE—RAFEHAZ-T1H
2,550 1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017
ZEENF=ARNBEZZT—tF=HAH
10,635 2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018
—EEAF=A=-tHZE-Z—/\F=A+ANH
47,400 0.63 20 Jan 2013 to 19 Jan 2022
—E—=F—RAZ+RAEZZT-__F—A+hAH
78,505

! The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

The fair value of share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2012 was HK$14,123,000, which was
estimated on the date of grant using the following
assumptions:

! AR AR BT RN AR B E AR LR A2 B
ZERT - BBRETEEN THAE -

HE_T——%+_-_A=+—HIFE "
RESBIERN AR BEA14,123,000 8
70+ AR B EE A AT Rk (s

Dividend yield (%) % B Uk % R (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) TEHAR 18 (%) 60.19
Historical volatility (%) J_ E}ﬁmm (%) 60.19
Risk-free interest rate (%) B ) 2 (%) 1.39
Expected life (years) %E,Hﬂﬁ,ﬁﬂ (%) 10
Weighted average share price (HK$) n#EFHARE (BT) 0.63
The expected life of the options is based on the historical E%H%E%ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁé?@&:ﬁf—d—i
data over the past two hundred and sixty days and is not B E S B - WA — e A RTT(E
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may B IR o iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ]m Bfﬁj“}ﬁﬁf/}ﬂaﬂ%
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that RRBE 2T MEBETIT—ERE
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which PRAER o

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The Group recognised a net share option expense of AEERBE—_ZT—=%+-_A=+—H
approximately HK$3,084,000 during the year ended 31 LTEERANBERERIFVEAOR
December 2013 (2012: HK$4,775,000). 3,084,000/% 70 ( —Z — — 4 : 4,775,000

BIT) °

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
73,275,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 2.87% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at 31 December 2013.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in
the issue of 73,275,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and an additional share capital of HK$7,327,500
and share premium of HK$64,918,000 (before issue
expenses).

RIEHR » KRBBRIEBRETE - §
73,275,00017 M AT T 2 BERHE - (AR
AN —_E—=%+-A=+—BzB %7
1&1‘2’3287% EXRRBIRITHRAEE

W BB TR MR T R 2 BN }H%
?Azzli AEEYNEE1T 73,275,000 RAR A E 2
WAL ORI AR 7,327,500 7T 0 A K&
IR BT TH AT 2 %17 4 (8 64,918,000 7%
7":0
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36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when contingent liabilities should be recognised, which
requires significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it is
not possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any
contingent liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed
could have a material impact on the Group’s financial
position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in order
to assess the need for provisions. Among the factors
considered are the nature of the litigation, legal processes
and potential level of damages, the opinions and views of
the legal counsels and advisors, and the management’s
intentions to respond to the litigations. To the extent the
estimates and judgements do not reflect the actual
outcome, this could materially affect the results for the
period and the financial position.

(i) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)

and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”)
Subsequent to the financial reporting period in March
2014, the Company received certain legal letters (the
“Letters”) from the Buyers dated 20 March 2014,
which purported to be statutory demands serviced to
the Company pursuant to section 178(1)(a) of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap.32) (“Statutory Demand”).

The Letters concern disputes between the Group and
the Buyers relating to certain primary contracts for the
sale and purchase of Indonesian iron ores, and contain
claims for (i) an amount of US$10,347,698 (equivalent
to approximately HK$80,242,000) which comprises
the demand for return of an advance payment made
by RR to the Group of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,264,000) and interest thereon to
the extent of US$7,347,698 (equivalent to
approximately HK$56,978,000) payable up to 20
March 2014; and (i) an amount of RMB70,355,783
(equivalent to approximately HK$89,485,000) which
comprises the demand for return of an advance
payment made by UM to the Group of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$25,438,000) and interest thereon to the extent of
RMB50,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$64,050,000) payable up to 20 March 2014. The
Company as guarantor to the abovementioned primary
contracts is therefore also a party to these litigations.

176 FEIRERERERAT - —S—Z5FERS
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36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 36 FAREE(E)

(i) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”) () B Rock Resource Limited
and United Mineral Limited (“UM?”) (collectively (T RRJ) & United Mineral Limited
referred to as the “Buyers”) (continued) (UMD (B TEXR]) 2sRF3R (18)
On 4 April 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to the MN-ZZE—MENAMEH » KEEMR
legal representative of the Buyers requesting them to BROERERRER FZEZRHE &
withdraw the Statutory Demand as the Group S PRI EFE B RKEEZ - IBR
considers that it has bona fide defences on substantial EAREEZAERERREENEZE
grounds to the claims asserted from the Buyers, and BEEEBEBELEEMATIE  MAE
the Group also considers it has very substantial BR2EENEBERINABRITERS
counterclaims against the Buyers as a result of their 4 AmBRIEEEFERANINE
non-performance of the relevant contracts. 18 o
On 7 April 2014, the Group received another legal MNZZE—WMEFEMA+LRH KEBE
letter from the legal representative of the Buyers EEREERERS —HEEWE
informing that the Buyers will not present their winding BHAEERER N2 AREELEIX
up petition against the Company without serving a BAEANERT  IEBALNEEER -
3-day notice.

On 11 April 2014, the Company received another NZZE—WNFEWMA+—H  AQF]
statutory demand from the legal representative of UM BEEUMEERRE—BEFTERKR
to claim for certain interest charge (“Interest Charge”) EBEZ(KEHSHAE-_ZT—NENWA+H
on certain loans provided by UM to the Group (the HE—IHEZ@BHEFR) BRE5H
principal of which had been fully repaid before the end UMMIAREBERZEETER (KRR
of the reporting period) calculated up to 11 April 2014 CRBREH R ZEER ) HE-Z
(as supplemented by another legal letter dated 15 April —EPMA+—HIFZATFHMEUW
2014), together with the related penalty, to the extent Bk EREAEHESS
of US$3,839,000 (equivalent to approximately £ 5 & % 53,839,000 T (lHER
HK$29,770,000). The Group has subsequently replied, #929,770,00087T) - NEEFERFE
through its legal representative, that most of the WHEEZFEARREE  BEHAILD
claimed Interest Charge are unenforceable at law but T BU B A2 F AT s 5T
agreed to pay the relevant interest charge (after tax) BRESYNEBEEEANERTEDN
calculated under normal contract terms in the amount HEF B E (B8 )345,000% 7T (48
of US$345,000 (equivalent to approximately ER426750008 L) EEEESEE
HK$2,675,000), which has been provided for in these BT E BTSN RE -
consolidated financial statements.

On 9 May 2014, the Group received another legal —E-NERANA KEHEE
letter from the legal representative of UM informing that UMERERERS —HEFERE - BA
UM will not present its winding up petition against the AREBUM T @EARAEREIRBA
Company without serving a 3-day notice. HIIER T F B3 AN E)58 o
There has been no further correspondence between B NEEAREHE  KEHE
the Group and the Buyers since then and up to the BRWEFMEM@E - EFH L
date of this report. The Directors, after seeking legal MBERBHAEERERE K&
advice on the above claims, consider that the Group MERREENEZEEELEBIEE
has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to the HEHNE - BA() L WazaR
claims asserted from the Buyers such that (i) the PR & H4948,702,0007% 7T B Bl A&
aforementioned advance payments received to the ERAREFER (iil/\ngjéia'\jﬁ%\J 8
extent of approximately HK$48,702,000 in aggregate ARt E B EAA i)
are presently not due for repayment by the Group; (i) MAEFERDREENBWEBBEN
the resulting interest so calculated are therefore 2,675,000 AN - REHBRFRS
miscalculated and grossly inflated; and (jii) other than THEBEE EENRAE EREXR
an amount of HK$2,675,000 relating to the Interest IMABEBITZE R EEE 4
Charge which has already been provided for by the AEBEEENEERNSLERIE
Group, the remaining sums of the claims are without HEEEANRKZELLEYZRE -
merit. The Directors are also of the opinion that the At AREERA Lt FEER
Group has significant ground for very substantial AARAgEE AR ER RHBEEME AN
counterclaims and cross-claims against each of the RN WG EEEER
Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the A SRR AREL B -

relevant contracts as mentioned in the Letters.
Consequently, no provision has been made for these
claims on these consolidated financial statements as
the directors consider that it is not probable that the
above legal claims would result in any material outflow
of economic benefits from the Group.
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36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

178 FEIRERERERAT -

Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAS”)

The Group entered into certain COAs with various
marine vessel owners committing certain minimum
number of cargoes per calendar month for exporting
iron ores from Indonesia. As a result of the
unfavourable economic environment and the various
changes in rules and regulations stipulated by the
Indonesian government authorities since year 2012,
the Group’s ores export was adversely affected and
therefore unable to fulfil the minimum cargoes
commitments as stipulated by some of these COAs.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group received various legal letters from TORM A/S
(“TORM”), a marine vessel owner, to (i) claim for an
outstanding freight charges payable by the Group to
TORM of approximately US$1,834,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,268,000) (“Outstanding Freight
Charges”); and (ii) notify the commencement of
arbitration proceedings pursuant to the terms of the
relevant COAs to claim for loss and damage suffered
by TORM (“Other Losses”) with respect to
approximately 51 unfulfilled cargoes under the terms of
the relevant COAs which is estimated by TORM to be
approximately US$11,828,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$91,721,000) up to 27 March 2014
(the amount stated in the latest claim submissions
from TORM).

The relevant freight charges payable by the Group to
TORM up to 31 December 2013 have been fully
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.
The dispute with TORM in respect of the Outstanding
Freight Charges has been fully settled and discharged
in June 2014.

In connection with the claims on Other Losses, the
Group has engaged legal advisors to commence
arbitration procedures with TORM in February 2014.
The said arbitration procedures are still in progress as
at the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements,
the directors have obtained legal advice in this respect
and, based upon which, consider that as the
arbitration is still at an early stage, they are not
currently in a position to estimate the financial effect (if
any) relating to the arbitration and it may take a
substantial time to complete the arbitration process.
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36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COASs”) (continued)
Accordingly, no provision in respect of such legal
dispute was made in the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2013 and up to the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements,
based on the best knowledge and information of the
directors, there are no further claims in relation to any
COAs that the Group has entered into.

Should the resolution of these legal claims and dispute turn
out to be unfavourable to the Group, the Group may need to
record additional losses in respect of these claims and
disputes in future reporting periods.

36 HAKME(E)

(i) REMEESH(HMEESHY]
B FE ()
NN ARN/NE TN &3 L A e i
REFE IS IMRIEL A -

R-ZE—=F+-"A=+—BK&K#
ERAVBHRRLAEBR  BES
AR ER AEEBESHNMNEET
YEMEBEAMEESHN 2 EME
= o

0 EAUAR B R R F R R G RTAIR
REEE - ARE B A] AL AR K S B B
SZEARNFRIGEINELR -

37 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT 37 REHEZH
As lessee ERAEA

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from two to three years.

At 31 December 2013, the Group and Company had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AREBRELEHELHEAETHAE
Z% RBEZOMEHREFHRNTIME=

NZTE—=F+-A=+—8 K£EK
AN BT 51 & B EA R 2 HAAR 15 1 AT e
REHE 7 AR FER S FR@ENT ¢

Group Company
rEE PN/NE|
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—-= —T-—F ZEB-=F —T—_F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TET THET TET
Within one year —F R 5,770 8,645 4,727 5,347
In the second to fifth years, S£_FF 4
inclusive (BREEEMF) 3,047 7,674 2,485 6,279
Over five years HBilAF 518 - - -
9,335 16,319 7,212 11,626
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38 COMMITMENTS 38 E&IE
Group AEE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in B b CMIEE 37 A sEdl| 2 B TH EAIESN -
Note 37 above, the Group had the following capital RNEFRRERR Z EXFRENT ¢
commitments at the end of the reporting period:
2013 2012
—Eg—= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Contracted, but not provided for: EETAMB KRB -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 62,182 293,364
39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 BEARS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the BRRGEMBHRREAMMAFR IS
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the G REBRFER KRS B B 5 &
following material transactions and outstanding balances TTNINERRG REREB T 2R T &4
with related parties during the year and as at the end of the 5

reporting period:
Transactions with related parties HEBRINRS

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-HA=+—HLEE

2013 2012
—E—=F —EF—=
Names of related parties Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$’000
WAL 2R REME FET FETT
Yiwan Purchase of iron ores, export 590,116 359,455
tax exclusive (note b)
BABREAO - ReTH AT
(Mt3EDb)
Yiwan Sales of machinery (note c) 330 1,333
SHEMM (3t c)
Easyman (note a) Interest expense (note d) 1,095 1,761
(Mf5Ea) MEEA (Mizkd)
Ms. Sun Qiadian (“Ms. Sun”) (note e) Interest expense (note e) 1,143 -
Fogh+ (T HFz+ 1) (fisEe) MEER (Mte)
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 BEAXS (&)
(CONTINUED)
Outstanding balances with related parties BARERE S IR T &5 4588
2013 2012
—=-= —T—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER THBTT
Prepayment to Yiwan 81 Yiwan 2 1A
(Note 23 and note ) (Pt E23 NP FES) 85,828 124,910
Loan to Full Harvest Development Limited B3 T2 EEAR AT
(Note 18) (MtzE18) 56,975 62,320
Amounts due to Easyman (note d) %5 /K Easyman 738 (B3t d) 51,940 17,888
Amount due to Ms. Sun (note e) WERIZL T EE (HfsEe) 12,973 -
Amount due to a Director (note g) HER—ZESHE(MiEg) 2,417 2,821
Notes: B aE
(@) Easyman is a company wholly owned by Mr. Dong. The Directors (@ Easyman i — B HEXRLE 2 EHAZ AT - EF
consider that Mr. Dong through Easyman, as a lender of Yiwan, has R A EE 5t A4 3B 1B Easyman 1 /& Yiwan 2 BUR A 1
an indirect economic interest in Yiwan. A Yiwan A R A F 25 -
(b) The transactions were carried out based on the terms agreed by the (b) ZEZSHRIERBYiwan BAEBR T F
parties under an exclusive offtake agreement and a second amending C AR 2EBREBEREL ST )N\FENAEE]
agreement entered into between Yiwan and the Group in March 2007 2B MER] ek 2 IERGETT ©

and September 2008, respectively.

(© Sales of machinery to Yiwan was conducted at mutually agreed © 1 Yiwan B & # SR IR IR E R S B8 R IEZ0E
prices and terms.

(d) Details of the terms of amounts due to Easyman are disclosed in (d) 4/} Easyman ZUB ISR 2 #E B H B M E 28(0) ©
Note 28(b).

() Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong. Amount due to Ms. Sun © BT+ REREZRE - BRELZLHEL
is unsecured and is repayable by January 2014. Interest is calculated WK RAER_S—NE— ARKES - flaRik
at mutually agreed terms. WMEREESEE -

(f) Prepayment is made to Yiwan for purchases of iron ores. The amount ) FEMYwan 2 REEEEHBELAMEL - Z2%
is unsecured and interest free and will be settled by offsetting the AEKELe 8 WIEIENAEEEmEE -
relevant purchases.

(@  Amount due to a Director is unsecured, interest free and repayable Q) ER—ZEEREAERT @A RNEREE
on demand. i o

(h) Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group (h) AEBMEIBEEE AB Y R BHNELMBER
are included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. EAEE
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40 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

41

At 31 December 2013, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed
Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade
payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in
aggregate of HK$20,182,000 (31 December 2012:
HK$227,350,000). In addition, the Group discounted certain
bills receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Discounted Bills”), to certain banks to finance its operating
cash flow with a carrying amount in aggregate of
HK$575,253,000 (31 December 2012: HK$605,748,000).
The Endorsed Bills and the Discounted Bills have a maturity
from one to six months at the end of the reporting period. In
accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the
PRC and relevant discounting arrangement with certain
banks, the holders of the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted
Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the
accepting banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”).

In the opinion of the directors, the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Endorsed
Bills and the Discounted Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills
and the Discounted Bills. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed
Bills and the Discounted Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Endorsed Bills and Discounted
Bills equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills and the
Discounted Bills are not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or
loss on the date of transfer of the Endorsed Bills and the
Discounted Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from
the continuing involvement, both during the year or
cumulatively.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) Export Ban

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by IUP Holders will be banned
from 12 January 2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders
have carried out processing and refining domestically
according to the relevant regulations regarding
implementation of activities of business of minerals and
coal mining and have conducted refining and smelting
in accordance with those relevant laws. Consequently,
Yiwan ceased to export unprocessed iron ores and the
Group’s iron ores trading business suspended with
effect from 12 January 2014.
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41 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Litigation and claims

Subsequent to the financial reporting period, the
Group received a number of significant legal claims,
details of which have been disclosed in Note 36.

Amendments to the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds
and 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds

On 13 June 2014, a senior bonds extraordinary
resolution and a convertible bonds extraordinary
resolution were duly passed by the holders of the 10%
Coupon Senior Bonds and holders of the 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds, respectively to amend terms and
conditions governing the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds
and 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds.

As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amounts of the
10% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds (including the liability component
and derivative component) were HK$477,769,000 and
HK$150,834,000 respectively.

The major terms and conditions governing the 10%
Coupon Senior Bonds are summarised as follows:

()  Amend the interest rate payable from 10% per
annum to 12% per annum;

(i)  extend the final maturity date of the Modified
10% Coupon Senior Bonds from 12 March 2015
to 12 December 2018;

(i) amend the amortisation schedule to provide for
principal payments to be made to be postponed
until March 2017;

(ivy amend the Reserve Account arrangements to
reduce the Required Minimum Balance from
US10,000,000 to US$1,000; and

(v)  the addition of provisions which will require the
Company to credit to the balance of the Reserve
Account amounts calculated by reference to the
volume of dry tonnes of ore exported to SEAM in
the event that the current restrictions imposed on
the export of ores under the Exclusive Offtake
Agreement are lifted and which will require the
Company to accelerate the amortisation schedule
in such circumstances.
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41 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(c) Amendments to the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds
and 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds (continued)
The major terms and conditions governing the 6%
Coupon Convertible Bonds are summarised as follows:

()  Amend the interest rate payable from 6% per
annum to 8% per annum;

(i) extend the maturity date of the Modified 6%
Coupon Convertible Bonds from 12 March 2015
to 12 March 2018;

(i) amend the conversion price from HK$0.7834 to
HK$0.30 per Share, subject to adjustment in the
manner provided in the relevant Convertible
Bonds Trust Deed;

(ivy amend the Conversion Price reset mechanics to
provide a reduced Floor Price of HK$0.18;

(v) amend the definition of “Relevant Event” to
ensure that the current suspension of trading of
the Company’s share on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange will not constitute a Relevant Event
unless it continues for a period of 120
consecutive calendar days following 12 June
2014;

(v amend the Reserve Account arrangements to
reduce the Required Minimum Balance from
US10,000,000 to US$1,000; and

(vii)  the addition of provisions which will require the
Company to credit to the balance of the Reserve
Account amounts calculated by reference to the
volume of dry tonnes of ore exported to SEAM in
the event that the current restrictions imposed on
the export of ores under the Exclusive Offtake
Agreement are lifted and which will require the
Company to accelerate the amortisation schedule
in such circumstances.

As the amendments to the terms and conditions
governing the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 6%
Coupon Convertible Bonds are regarded as a
substantial modification, the amendments will be
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability at fair value and a potential
gain from the amendments will be recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ending 31
December 2014,
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